
  

 
 

No securities regulatory authority has expressed an opinion about these securities and it is an offence to claim otherwise.This short form prospectus 
constitutes a public offering of these securities only in those jurisdictions where they may be lawfully offered for sale and therein only by persons 
permitted to sell such securities. These securities have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended (the “U.S. Securities Act”) or any state securities laws. Accordingly, these securities may not be offered or sold or delivered within the 
United States of America, except in acquisitions exempt from registration under the U.S. Securities Act and applicable state securities laws. This 
short form prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy any of these securities within the United States of 
America. See “Plan of Distribution”. 

Information has been incorporated by reference in this short form prospectus from documents filed with securities commissions or similar 
authorities in Canada. Copies of the documents incorporated herein by reference may be obtained on request without charge from the Secretary 
of Xebec Adsorption Inc. at 730 boulevard Industriel, Blainville, Québec, Canada, J7C 3V4, telephone: (450) 979-8700, and are also available 
electronically at www.sedar.com. 
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XEBEC ADSORPTION INC. 

$125,001,600 
21,552,000 Subscription Receipts 

each representing the right to receive one Common Share 

This short form prospectus qualifies the distribution (the “Offering”) of 21,552,000 subscription receipts (the 
“Subscription Receipts”) of Xebec Adsorption Inc. (the “Corporation”, “Xebec”, “us”, “we” or “our”) at a price of 
$5.80 per Subscription Receipt (the “Offering Price”). Each Subscription Receipt will entitle the holder thereof to 
receive, without payment of additional consideration or further action, and subject to the terms and conditions of the 
Subscription Receipt Agreement (as defined herein), (i) one common share of Xebec (a “Common Share”) and (ii) 
without duplication, an amount, if any, equal to the amount per Common Share of any dividends for which record 
dates have occurred during the period from the date of the Offering Closing (as defined herein) up to, but not including 
the Acquisition Closing Date (as defined herein), less any applicable withholding taxes (the “Dividend Equivalent 
Payment”). See “Description of the Subscription Receipts” and “Dividend Policy”.  

On December 8, 2020, Xebec Europe B.V., a subsidiary of the Corporation (the “Purchaser”), entered into a share 
purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with SDI Technology Ventures B.V., Ontwikkelingsmaatschappij 
Oost Nederland N.V. and Stichting Administratiekantoor HyGear (collectively, the “Sellers”) in connection with the 
acquisition (the “Acquisition”) by the Purchaser of all of the issued and outstanding shares of Green Vision Holding 
B.V., the parent company of HyGear Technology and Services B.V. (together, “HyGear”), held by the Sellers. The 
purchase price for the Acquisition will be EUR 82,000,000 ($127,346,000) and will be satisfied through (i) payment 
of a cash consideration of EUR 42,000,000 ($65,226,000) and (ii) the issuance of 10,301,824  Common Shares at a 
deemed issuance price of $6.03 per Common Share (collectively, the “Purchase Price”). See “Details of the 
Acquisition”. The Acquisition is expected to be completed (the “Acquisition Closing”, and the date on which the 
Acquisition Closing occurs, the “Acquisition Closing Date”, and the time on the Acquisition Closing Date at which 
the Acquisition Closing occurs, the “Acquisition Closing Time”) on or before December 30, 2020, and is subject to 
the satisfaction of customary closing conditions. Some of the information relating to HyGear and the Sellers in this 
short form prospectus has been based on information made available to Xebec by, as applicable, HyGear and the 
Sellers as part of the due diligence undertaken for the purposes of the Acquisition and upon information made publicly 
available by such parties. While the Corporation, after conducting due diligence that it believes to be a prudent level 
of investigation, believes it to be accurate in all material respect, there can be no assurance regarding the accuracy and 
completeness of such information. See “Risk Factors”. 

http://www.sedar.com/
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The gross proceeds from the sale of the Subscription Receipts, less 50% of the Underwriters’ Fee (as defined herein) 
with respect to the Subscription Receipts (the “Escrowed Funds”), will be held by AST Trust Company (Canada) 
(the “Subscription Receipt Agent”) as agent and bailee on behalf of the holders of Subscription Receipts, and 
deposited or in short-term interest-bearing or discount debt obligations, issued or guaranteed by, the Government of 
Canada, a province of Canada, and other approved investments (interest earned on such investments referred to as 
“Earned Interest”), pending satisfaction or waiver of all conditions to the Acquisition in all material respects in 
accordance with the terms of the Purchase Agreement (other than the payment of the Purchase Price pursuant to the 
Purchase Agreement and such conditions precedent that by their nature are to be satisfied at the Acquisition Closing 
Time), without material amendment or waiver which would result in a material adverse effect to the Corporation, 
unless the consent of the Underwriters (as defined herein) is given to such amendment or waiver, and without the prior 
occurrence of the earliest to occur of any of: (i) the failure to satisfy the Escrow Release Conditions (as defined herein) 
and to deliver an irrevocable notice that the Escrow Release Conditions have been satisfied to the Subscription Receipt 
Agent on or before 5:00 p.m. (Montreal Time) on February 28, 2021 (the “Acquisition Outside Time”); (ii) the 
Corporation delivers to the Underwriters a notice that it will not be proceeding with the Acquisition, (iii) the 
Corporation formally announces to the public by way of press release that it does not intend to proceed with the 
Acquisition; (iv) the Purchase Agreement is terminated in accordance with its terms prior to the Acquisition Outside 
Time for any reason; or (v) a termination event under the subscription receipt agreement entered into in connection 
with the Concurrent Private Placement (as defined herein)), which has not been waived by the Joint Bookrunners, 
occurs ((i) (ii), (iii), (iv) and (v) each respectively a “Termination Event”), all pursuant to the terms of a subscription 
receipt agreement (the “Subscription Receipt Agreement”) to be entered into on the Offering Closing Date (as 
defined herein) among Xebec, Desjardins Securities Inc. (“Desjardins”) and TD Securities Inc. (“TD” and, together 
with Desjardins, the “Joint Bookrunners”) and the Subscription Receipt Agent.  

The Offering is expected to close (the “Offering Closing”) on or about December 30, 2020 (the “Offering Closing 
Date”), but in any event, the Subscription Receipts are to be taken up by the Underwriters, if at all, on or before a date 
not later than 42 days after the date of the receipt for the final short form prospectus. The issuance of the Common 
Shares upon the exchange of the Subscription Receipts is conditional upon the Escrow Release Conditions being 
satisfied or waived (the “Acquisition Closing Time”), which is currently expected to be on or before the Acquisition 
Outside Time. The “Escrow Release Conditions” means that (i) all conditions, undertakings, and other matters to be 
satisfied, completed and otherwise met prior to the completion of the Acquisition in accordance with the Purchase 
Agreement, and without waiver of any material provision thereof, in whole or in part, by any of the parties thereto 
unless the consent of the Joint Bookrunners, is given to such waiver, have been satisfied, completed, or otherwise met, 
other than the payment of the consideration to be paid pursuant to the Acquisition for which the Escrowed Funds are 
required, in whole or in part, (ii) there have been no material amendments of the terms and conditions of the Purchase 
Agreement which have not been approved by the Joint Bookrunners prior to the occurrence of a Termination Event, 
and (iii) the escrow release conditions under the subscription receipt agreement entered into in connection with the 
Concurrent Private Placement having been satisfied or waived; provided that the Escrow Release Conditions may, if 
the foregoing conditions are met, at the election of Xebec, occur up to five business days prior to the Acquisition 
Closing Date. 

Concurrently with the announcement of the Offering, the Corporation entered into a subscription agreement (the 
“Subscription Agreement”) with CDP Investissements Inc., an affiliate of Caisse de dépôt et placement du Québec 
(“CDPQ”) providing for the sale by the Corporation, on a private placement basis, of 9,482,760 subscription receipts 
(the “Placement Subscription Receipts”) at a price of $5.80 per Placement Subscription Receipt, and otherwise on 
substantially similar terms and conditions as the Subscription Receipts (the “Concurrent Private Placement”). 
CDPQ will be entitled to a capital commitment fee equal to 4% of the aggregate purchase price for the Placement 
Subscription Receipts sold under the Concurrent Private Placement (the “Capital Commitment Fee”), such fee to be 
payable by Xebec as to 50% on the closing of the Concurrent Private Placement and as to the remaining 50% on the 
Acquisition Closing Date. Desjardins and TD will act as joint bookrunning agents (“Agents”) on the Concurrent 
Private Placement and the Concurrent Private Placement will be executed on an agency basis. The Corporation will 
pay the Agents an agency fee equal to 2.5% of the aggregate gross proceeds raised in the Concurrent Private Placement 
before deducting the Capital Commitment Fee (the “Agency Fee”). Half of the Agency Fee will be payable on closing 
of the Concurrent Private Placement and half of the Agency Fee will be payable on the Acquisition Closing Date. The 
Agency Fee will be paid 50% to Desjardins and 50% to TD. Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement with CDPQ, 
Xebec has granted CDPQ an option (the “Private Placement Option”), exercisable at the same time as, and pro rata 
to, the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option by the Underwriters, to purchase up to an additional 1,422,414 
Placement Subscription Receipts on the same terms and conditions as the Concurrent Private Placement. The closing 
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of the Concurrent Private Placement is scheduled to occur on the same day as the closing of the Offering, and the 
closing of the Offering and of the Concurrent Private Placement are conditional upon each other. 

This short form prospectus does not qualify the distribution of the Placement Subscription Receipts issuable pursuant 
to the Concurrent Private Placement or the Common Shares issuable upon exchange thereof. The Placement 
Subscription Receipts and the underlying Common Shares will be subject to a statutory hold period in Canada of four 
months and one day after the date of closing of the Concurrent Private Placement. The Offering is conditional upon 
the Concurrent Private Placement closing concurrently with the Offering. However, the Underwriters have the ability 
to waive such condition if the Concurrent Private Placement does not close, in which case, the Offering could close 
without the concurrent closing of the Concurrent Private Placement. See “Concurrent Private Placement” and “Risk 
Factors”. 

The net proceeds from the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement, after deducting the Underwriters’ Fee, the 
Agency Fee, the Capital Commitment Fee and the expenses of the Offering and Concurrent Private Placement, 
respectively, payable by the Corporation (but excluding the Earned Interest, if any, on the Escrowed Funds and interest 
earned, if any, on the funds escrowed under the Concurrent Private Placement and not factoring any Dividend 
Equivalent Payment), will be approximately $170,176,527.48, assuming no exercise of the Over-Allotment Option 
(as defined herein). Upon release of the Escrowed Funds under the Subscription Receipt Agreement and of the funds 
escrowed under the Concurrent Private Placement, the net proceeds of the Offering (less any amounts required to 
satisfy any unpaid Dividend Equivalent Payment and the remainder of the Underwriters’ Fee, but including the Earned 
Interest, if any, on the Escrowed Funds) and of the Concurrent Private Placement (including interest earned, if any, 
on the funds escrowed under the Concurrent Private Placement), will be used by Xebec to finance (i) the cash portion 
of the Purchase Price payable in respect of the Acquisition on the Acquisition Closing Date and costs related to the 
Acquisition, (ii) future potential acquisitions (which may include the Inmatec Acquisition (as defined herein) and the 
LOI Acquisition (as defined herein)) and growth opportunities, (iii) the potential repayment of indebtedness of 
HyGear, and (iv) working capital and general corporate purposes. See “Financing the Acquisition” and “Use of 
Proceeds”.  

Price: $5.80 per Subscription Receipt 

 

 
Price to the 

Public 
Underwriters’ 

Fee (1) 

Net Proceeds to 
the Corporation 

(2)(4) 
Per Subscription Receipt  $5.80 $0.29 $5.51 
Total Offering (3) $125,001,600 $6,250,080 $118,751,520 

 
Notes: 
(1) Xebec has agreed to pay the Underwriters a fee equal to $0.29 per Subscription Receipt, reflecting a 5% commission. The Underwriters’ Fee 

(as defined herein) is payable as follows: 50% upon the Offering Closing Date and 50% on the release of the Escrowed Funds to Xebec. If 
the Acquisition is not completed, the Underwriters’ Fee will consist solely of the amount payable upon the Offering Closing Date.  

(2) After deducting the Underwriters’ Fee but before deducting expenses of the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement, which are 
estimated to be approximately $1,000,000 and excluding the Earned Interest, if any, and not factoring any Dividend Equivalent Payment. 
The expenses of the Offering are payable by Xebec and the Underwriters’ Fee will be deducted from the Escrowed Funds (as defined herein). 

(3) The Underwriters have been granted an over-allotment option, exercisable, in whole or in part, at the sole discretion of the Underwriters, at 
any time prior to the Offering Closing Date or for a period of 30 days from the Offering Closing Date to purchase from the Corporation up to 
3,232,800 additional Subscription Receipts (representing 15% of the Subscription Receipts offered hereunder) on the same terms as set out 
above solely to cover over-allotments, if any, and for market stabilization purposes (the “Over-Allotment Option”). If the Over-Allotment 
Option is exercised in full, the total “Price to the Public”, “Underwriters’ Fee” and “Net Proceeds to Corporation” will be $143,751,840, 
$7,187,592 and $136,564,248, respectively. This short form prospectus qualifies both the grant of the Over-Allotment Option and the 
distribution of the Subscription Receipts upon exercise of the Over-Allotment Option. A purchaser who acquires Subscription Receipts 
forming part of the Underwriters’ over-allocation position acquires those Subscription Receipts under this short form prospectus, regardless 
of whether the over allocation position is ultimately filled through the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option or secondary market purchases. 
See “Plan of Distribution”. 

(4) The total gross proceeds of the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement and the total net proceeds to the Corporation of the Offering 
and the Concurrent Private Placement (before deducting expenses of the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement, which are estimated 
to be approximately $1,000,000 will be $180,001,608 and $170,176,527, respectively. If each of the Over-Allotment Option and the Private 
Placement Option is exercised in full, the total gross proceeds of the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement and the total net proceeds 
to the Corporation of the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement (before deducting expenses of the Offering and the Concurrent 
Private Placement) will be $207,001,849 and $195,703,007, respectively. 
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The following table sets out the number of Subscription Receipts that may be sold by the Corporation to the 
Underwriters pursuant to the Over-Allotment Option: 

Underwriter’s Position 

Maximum Number of 
Subscription Receipts 

Available Exercise Period Exercise Price 
Over-Allotment Option 3,232,800 Up to 30 days following 

the Offering Closing 
Date 

$5.80 per Subscription 
Receipt 

 
There is currently no market through which the Subscription Receipts may be sold. Purchasers may not be 
able to resell Subscription Receipts purchased under this short form prospectus. This may affect the pricing of 
the Subscription Receipts in the secondary market, the transparency and availability of trading prices, the 
liquidity of the Subscription Receipts and the extent of issuer regulation. See “Risk Factors – Risks Related to 
the Offering –Market for Securities.”  

The TSX Venture Exchange (the “TSXV”) has conditionally approved the listing on the TSXV of the Subscription 
Receipts distributed under this short form prospectus, along with the Placement Subscription Receipts and the 
aggregate underlying Common Shares issuable upon exchange of the Subscription Receipts and the Placement 
Subscription Receipts on the TSXV. Such listing will be subject to the Corporation fulfilling all of the requirements 
of the TSXV. The Offering Price of the Subscription Receipts offered hereunder was determined by negotiation 
between Xebec and the Underwriters.  

If the Escrow Release Conditions are satisfied and the Acquisition Closing Time occurs on or prior to the Acquisition 
Outside Time, the Escrowed Funds and the Earned Interest (less applicable withholding taxes, any amounts required 
to satisfy any unpaid Dividend Equivalent Payment and the remaining portion of the Underwriters’ Fee to be paid net 
of applicable withholding taxes, if any), will be released to the Corporation and each holder of a Subscription Receipt 
will receive from or on behalf of the Corporation on the Acquisition Closing Time, without payment of additional 
consideration or further action, one Common Share for each Subscription Receipt held, plus an amount equal to the 
Dividend Equivalent Payment (less any applicable withholding taxes), if any. Such Dividend Equivalent Payment will 
be satisfied (i) first, by way of a pro rata share of interest credited or received on the Escrowed Funds, and (ii) second, 
out of the Escrowed Funds, as a refund of a portion of the subscription price for the Subscription Receipt. If, however, 
the Acquisition Closing Time occurs on or before the Offering Closing Date, the Corporation will deliver Common 
Shares instead of Subscription Receipts to purchasers in the Offering and the distribution of such Common Shares 
will be qualified by this short form prospectus. See “Description of the Subscription Receipts” and “Dividend Policy”. 

In the event a Termination Event occurs, holders of the Subscription Receipts will receive from the Subscription 
Receipt Agent an amount equal to the full purchase price of each Subscription Receipt held, together with their pro 
rata portion of any Earned Interest and Deemed Interest (as defined herein), less applicable withholding taxes. The 
Escrowed Funds will be applied toward payment of such amount and the Corporation will be responsible for payment 
of any portion of such amount not covered by the Escrowed Funds and the Earned Interest. In the event that the gross 
proceeds of the Offering are required to be remitted to purchasers of the Subscription Receipts as aforesaid, Xebec 
has agreed to and undertaken to pay the Subscription Receipt Agent an amount equal to 50% of the Underwriters’ Fee 
(together with any Deemed Interest) with respect to the Subscription Receipts such that 100% of the gross proceeds 
of the Offering and the Earned Interest (together with any Deemed Interest) would be returned to purchasers of 
Subscription Receipts. To the extent that the Escrowed Funds are not sufficient to remit the required amount to holders 
of Subscription Receipts, the Corporation will be required to contribute such amounts as are necessary to satisfy any 
shortfall. See “Risk Factors – Risks Related to the Offering.” 

The issued and outstanding Common Shares are listed on the TSXV under the symbol “XBC”. On December 7, 2020, 
the last trading day prior to the public announcement of the Offering, the closing price of the Common Shares on the 
TSXV was $6.70 per Common Share. On December 18, 2020, the last trading day before the filing of this short form 
prospectus, the closing price of the Common Shares on the TSXV was $7.57 per Common Share.  
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Desjardins, TD, National Bank Financial Inc., Canaccord Genuity Group Inc., Raymond James Ltd., Beacon Securities 
Limited and Stifel Nicolaus Canada Inc. (collectively, the “Underwriters”) conditionally offer the Subscription 
Receipts, subject to prior sale, if, as and when issued by the Corporation and accepted by the Underwriters in 
accordance with the conditions contained in the Underwriting Agreement (as defined herein) referred to under “Plan 
of Distribution” and subject to the approval of certain legal matters on behalf of the Corporation by Osler, Hoskin & 
Harcourt LLP, and on behalf of the Underwriters by Stikeman Elliott LLP (collectively, “Counsel”). 

In accordance with and subject to applicable laws, the Underwriters may, in connection with the Offering, over-allot 
or effect transactions that stabilize or maintain the market price of the Subscription Receipts at levels other than those 
which might otherwise prevail on the open market. Such transactions, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time. 
After the Underwriters have made reasonable efforts to sell the Subscription Receipts at the Offering Price, the 
Underwriters may offer the Subscription Receipts to the public at prices lower than the Offering Price. Any such 
reduction will not affect the proceeds of the Offering to be received by Xebec. See “Plan of Distribution”. 

Subscriptions for the Subscription Receipts will be received subject to rejection or allotment in whole or in part and 
the Underwriters reserve the right to close the subscription books at any time without notice. It is expected that the 
Offering Closing Date will occur on or about December 30, 2020, or such later date before the Acquisition Closing 
Date, as may be agreed upon by the Corporation and the Underwriters, but no later than the date that is 42 days after 
the date of the receipt for the final short form prospectus. The Offering will be conducted under the book-based system. 
Upon a purchase of any Subscription Receipt, the owner will receive only the customary confirmation from the 
Underwriters or the registered dealer from or through whom a beneficial interest in the Subscription Receipts is 
purchased and who is a participant (“CDS Participant”) in the depository service of CDS Clearing and Depository 
Services Inc. (“CDS”). CDS will record the CDS Participants who hold the Subscription Receipts on behalf of owners 
who have purchased or transferred the Subscription Receipts in accordance with the book-based system. See “Book-
Based System”.  

Investing in the Subscription Receipts involves certain risks. See “Risk Factors”. 

Unless otherwise indicated, the disclosure contained in this short form prospectus assumes that the Over-Allotment 
Option has not been exercised. 

Dr. Prabhu Rao and Joseph H. Petrowski are directors of the Corporation and reside outside of Canada. Each of them 
has appointed the Corporation as agent for service of process in Canada. Purchasers are advised that it may not be 
possible for investors to enforce judgments obtained in Canada against any person or company that is incorporated, 
continued or otherwise organized under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction or resides outside of Canada, even if the 
party has appointed an agent for service of process.  

National Bank Financial Inc. is a subsidiary or affiliate of financial institutions that have made credit facilities 
available to the Corporation. Accordingly, Xebec may be considered a “connected issuer” of such Underwriter 
within the meaning of National Instrument 33-105 – Underwriting Conflicts. See “Plan of Distribution – 
Relationship between the Corporation and Certain Underwriters”. 

Xebec’s head and registered office is located at 730 boulevard Industriel, Blainville, Québec, J7C 3V4. See 
“Description of Xebec”. 
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY 

The following is a summary of the principal features of this distribution and should be read together with the 
more detailed information and financial data and statements contained elsewhere, or incorporated by reference, in 
this short form prospectus. 

Description of Xebec 

Xebec is a Canadian provider of gas generation, purification and filtration solutions for the industrial, energy 
and renewables marketplace. Well-positioned in the energy transition space with proprietary technologies that 
transform raw gases into clean sources of renewable energy, Xebec’s 1,500+ customers range from small to multi-
national corporations, governments and municipalities looking to reduce their carbon footprints.. Headquartered on 
the North Shore of Montreal, the Corporation is a global company with two state-of-the-art manufacturing facilities 
in Blainville (Québec) and Shanghai (China), research and development facilities in Blainville (Québec), sales offices 
in Houston, Texas (USA) and Milan, Italy, as well as a sales and distribution network in North America and Asia. See 
“Description of Xebec”. 

Description of the Acquired Business 

HyGear was founded in 2002 in Arnhem, The Netherlands, as a clean-tech company specializing in the on-site 
production and recovery of industrial gases. HyGear is an emerging developer, manufacturer, and supplier of 
technology and products for the production, recovery, purification, and mixing of industrial gases, such as hydrogen 
and nitrogen. HyGear’s technological backbone consists of 14 active patents issued both in EU countries and the 
United States. See “Description of the Acquired Business”. 

The Acquisition 

On December 8, 2020, Xebec Europe B.V., a subsidiary of the Corporation, entered into a share purchase 
agreement in connection with the acquisition of the business knows as HyGear Technology and Services B.V. The 
Purchase Price will be satisfied through (i) payment of a cash consideration of EUR42,000,000 ($65,226,000) and (ii) 
the issuance of 10,301,824  Common Shares at a deemed issuance price of $6.03 per Common Share. See “Details of 
the Acquisition”. The Acquisition is expected to be completed on or before December 30, 2020, and is subject to the 
satisfaction of customary closing conditions. 

Acquisition Rationale 

The Acquisition positions Xebec to execute and accelerate its distributed renewable gas strategy. The 
acquisition of new hydrogen technology, and the access to new markets, will enable Xebec to launch a commercially 
viable green hydrogen product offering. Specifically, the Acquisition is expected to, among other things: 

• provide Xebec with an entry into the industrial hydrogen and emerging hydrogen energy market; 
 

• expand HyGear’s business and products into North America and provide a retrofit opportunity with 
existing compressed natural gas fueling stations; 

 
• expand Xebec’s product offering and allow the Corporation to become a global provider of onsite gas 

generation systems; and 
 

• provide Xebec with stong hydrogen and onsite gas research and development (“R&D”) capabilities. 
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THE OFFERING 

Issuer: Xebec Adsorption Inc. 

Offering Issue and Price: 21,552,000 Subscription Receipts (24,784,800 Subscription Receipts if the 
Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full) at an issue price of $5.80 per 
Subscription Receipt. 

Offering Amount: Gross proceeds of $125,001,600 and $143,751,840 if the Over-Allotment 
Option is exercised in full (in both cases before deducting the Underwriters’ 
Fee). 

Offering Closing Date: The Offering Closing Date is expected to occur on or about December 30, 
2020. 

Completion of the Offering is conditional upon the concurrent closing of the 
Concurrent Private Placement. 

 

CONCURRENT PRIVATE PLACEMENT 

Issuer: Xebec Adsorption Inc. 

Concurrent Private Placement Issue 
and Price: 

9,482,760 Placement Subscription Receipts (10,905,174 Subscription 
Receipts if the Private Placement Option is exercised in full) at a price of 
$5.80 per Placement Subscription Receipt 

Concurrent Private Placement 
Amount: 

Gross proceeds of $55,000,008 and $63,250,009 if the Private Placement 
Option is exercised in full (in both cases before deducting the Agency Fee 
and the Capital Commitment Fee). 

Concurrent Private Placement 
Closing Date: 

The closing of the Concurrent Private Placement is expected to occur on the 
Offering Closing Date and is conditional on the concurrent closing of the 
Offering Closing. 

 

DESCRIPTION OF THE SUBSCRIPTION RECEIPTS 

Automatic Exchange: Each Subscription Receipt will entitle the holder thereof to receive, without 
payment of additional consideration or further action, (i) one common share 
of Xebec and (ii) without duplication, an amount, if any, equal to the amount 
Dividend Equivalent Payment. 

Dividend Equivalent Payment: If a dividend is declared by the Corporation on the Common Shares to 
holders of record on a date during the period from and including the Offering 
Closing Date up to but not including the Acquisition Closing Date, the 
Holders of Subscription Receipts will be entitled to receive the Dividend 
Equivalent Payment. Such Dividend Equivalent Payment will be satisfied (i) 
first, by way of a pro rata share of interest credited or received on the 
Escrowed Funds, and (ii) second, out of the Escrowed Funds, as a refund of 
a portion of the subscription price for the Subscription Receipt, and in any 
case will be paid net of applicable withholding taxes. 
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Escrowed Funds and Use of 
Proceeds: 

The gross proceeds from the sale of the Subscription Receipts, less 50% of 
the Underwriters’ Fee with respect to the Subscription Receipts will be held 
by AST Trust Company (Canada) as agent and bailee on behalf of the holders 
of Subscription Receipts, and deposited or invested in short-term interest-
bearing or discount debt obligations, issued or guaranteed by, the 
Government of Canada, a province of Canada, and other approved 
investments, pending satisfaction or waiver of all conditions to the 
Acquisition in all material respects in accordance with the terms of the 
Purchase Agreement (other than the payment of the Purchase Price pursuant 
to the Purchase Agreement and such conditions precedent that by their nature 
are to be satisfied at the Acquisition Closing Time), without material 
amendment or waiver which would result in a material adverse effect to the 
Corporation, unless the consent of the Underwriters is given to such 
amendment or waiver, and without the prior occurrence of the earliest to 
occur of any Termination Event.  

Upon release of the Escrowed Funds under the Subscription Receipt 
Agreement and of the funds escrowed under the Concurrent Private 
Placement, the net proceeds of the Offering (less any amounts required to 
satisfy any unpaid Dividend Equivalent Payment and the remainder of the 
Underwriters’ Fee, but including the interest earned, if any, on the Escrowed 
Funds) and the Concurrent Private Placement, will be used by Xebec to 
finance (i) the cash portion of the Purchase Price payable in respect of the 
Acquisition on the Acquisition Closing Date and costs related to the 
Acquisition, (ii) future potential acquisitions (which may include the Inmatec 
Acquisition and the LOI Acquisition) and growth opportunities, (iii) the 
potential repayment of indebtedness of HyGear, and (iv) working capital and 
general corporate purposes. See “Financing the Acquisition” and “Use of 
Proceeds”.   
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Termination: In the event of: (i) the failure to satisfy the Escrow Release Conditions and 
to deliver an irrevocable notice that the Escrow Release Conditions have 
been satisfied to the Subscription Receipt Agent on or before the Acquisition 
Outside Time; (ii) the Corporation delivers to the Underwriters a notice that 
it will not be proceeding with the Acquisition, (iii) the Corporation formally 
announces to the public by way of press release that it does not intend to 
proceed with the Acquisition; (iv) the Purchase Agreement is terminated in 
accordance with its terms prior to the Acquisition Outside Time for any 
reason; or (v) a termination event under the subscription receipt agreement 
entered into in connection with the Concurrent Private Placement, which has 
not been waived by the Joint Bookrunners, occurs, holders of the 
Subscription Receipts will receive an amount equal to the full purchase price 
of each Subscription Receipt held, together with their pro rata portion of the 
Earned Interest, if any, and Deemed Interest, less applicable withholding 
taxes.  

The Escrowed Funds will be applied toward payment of such amount and the 
Corporation will be responsible for payment of any portion of such amount 
not covered by the Escrowed Funds and the Earned Interest. In the event that 
the gross proceeds of the Offering are required to be remitted to purchasers 
of the Subscription Receipts, the Corporation has agreed to and undertaken 
to pay the Subscription Receipt Agent an amount equal to 50% of the 
Underwriters’ Fee (together with any Deemed Interest) with respect to the 
Subscription Receipts such that 100% of the gross proceeds of the Offering 
and the Earned Interest (together with any Deemed Interest) would be 
returned to purchasers of Subscription Receipts. To the extent that the 
Escrowed Funds are not sufficient to remit the required amount to holders of 
Subscription Receipts, the Corporation will be required to contribute such 
amounts as are necessary to satisfy any shortfall.  

See “Risk Factors—Risks Related to the Acquisition—Failure to Close the 
Acquisition or Change in the Terms of the Acquisition.” 

 

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 

Tax Considerations: Purchasers should be aware that the purchase of Subscription Receipts may 
have tax consequences. See “Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax 
Considerations” with respect to certain such Canadian consequences. 

Risk Factors: Investment in the Subscription Receipts is subject to a number of risks that 
investors should carefully consider. See “Forward Looking Statements” and 
“Risk Factors”.  
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 

Information has been incorporated by reference into this short form prospectus from documents filed 
with securities commissions or similar authorities in Canada. Copies of the documents incorporated herein by 
reference may be obtained on request without charge from the Secretary of the Corporation at 730 boulevard Industriel, 
Blainville, Québec, Canada, J7C 3V4, telephone: (450) 979-8700, and are also available electronically at 
www.sedar.com. 

The following documents, filed by the Corporation with the various securities commissions or similar 
authorities in each of the provinces of Canada, are specifically incorporated by reference into and form an integral 
part of this short form prospectus: 

(a) the annual information form of the Corporation for the financial year ended December 31, 2019, 
dated May 11, 2020 (the “AIF”); 

(b) the audited financial statements of the Corporation as at and for the years ended December 31, 2019, 
and December 31, 2018, together with the notes thereto and the independent auditor’s report thereon, 
dated April 14, 2020; 

(c) the management’s discussion and analysis of the Corporation as at and for the year ended December 
31, 2019, dated April 14, 2020 (the “Annual MD&A”); 

(d) the interim condensed financial statements of the Corporation as at and for the three-month and 
nine-month periods ended September 30, 2020, together with the notes thereto (the “Interim 
Financial Statements”), which statements were reviewed by the auditors of the Corporation in 
preparation for the filing of this short form prospectus, dated November 10, 2020; 

(e) the management’s discussion and analysis of the Corporation as at and for the three-month and nine-
month periods ended September 30, 2020, dated November 10, 2020, except for the notice therein 
provided under section 4.3(3)(a) of National Instrument 51-102 - Continuous Disclosure 
Obligations (the “Interim MD&A”); 

(f) the management information circular of the Corporation dated May 26, 2020, relating to the annual 
meeting of shareholders of the Corporation held on June 25, 2020; 

(g) the material change report of the Corporation dated June 9, 2020, relating to a bought deal public 
offering conducted by a syndicate of underwriters led by Desjardins, including Beacon Securities 
Limited, Canaccord Genuity Group Inc., TD Securities Inc., Stifel Nicolaus Canada Inc. and 
Raymond James Ltd (the “June Offering”); 

(h) the material change report of the Corporation dated June 26, 2020, relating to the closing of the June 
Offering;  

(i) the material change report of the Corporation dated December 14, 2020, relating to the Acquisition, 
the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement; 

(j) the term sheet of the Corporation dated December 8, 2020 relating to the Offering and the 
Concurrent Private Placement (the “Term Sheet”);  

(k) the upsized term sheet of the Corporation  dated December 9, 2020 relating to the upsize of the 
Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement (the “Upsized Term Sheet”); and 

(l) the investor presentation of the Corporation dated December 8, 2020 relating to the Offering and 
the Concurrent Private Placement (the “Investor Presentation”, and together with the Term Sheet 
and the Upsized Term Sheet, the “Marketing Materials”). 

http://www.sedar.com./
http://www.sedar.com./
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Any document of the type required by National Instrument 44–101 - Short Form Prospectus Distributions to 
be incorporated by reference into a short form prospectus, including any annual information forms, material change 
reports (except confidential material change reports), business acquisition reports, interim financial statements, annual 
financial statements (in each case, including any applicable exhibits containing updated earnings coverage 
information) and the independent auditor’s report thereon, management’s discussion and analysis and information 
circulars of the Corporation filed by the Corporation with securities commissions or similar authorities in Canada after 
the date of this short form prospectus and prior to the completion or withdrawal of any offering under this short form 
prospectus shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference into this short form prospectus.  

Any statement contained in this short form prospectus or in a document incorporated or deemed to be 
incorporated by reference in this short form prospectus will be deemed to be modified or superseded for 
purposes of this short form prospectus to the extent that a statement contained in this short form prospectus 
or in any other subsequently filed document which also is, or is deemed to be, incorporated by reference into 
this short form prospectus modifies or supersedes that statement. The modifying or superseding statement need 
not state that it has modified or superseded a prior statement or include any other information set forth in the 
document that it modifies or supersedes. The making of a modifying or superseding statement shall not be 
deemed an admission for any purposes that the modified or superseded statement when made, constituted a 
misrepresentation, an untrue statement of a material fact or an omission to state a material fact that is required 
to be stated or that is necessary to prevent a statement that is made from being false or misleading in the 
circumstances in which it was made. Any statement so modified or superseded shall not be deemed, except as 
so modified or superseded, to constitute part of this short form prospectus. 

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

The financial statements of the Corporation included in this short form prospectus are reported in Canadian 
dollars and have been prepared in accordance with IFRS. 

The HyGear annual financial statements included in this short form prospectus are reported in Euros and 
have been prepared in accordance with IFRS. See the notes to the Xebec Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Financial 
Statements for more information.  

The Corporation’s last fiscal year ended on December 31, 2019. The fiscal year end of HyGear occurs on 
December 31 of each calendar year. 

This short form prospectus contains pro forma consolidated financial information and other disclosure 
relating to the Corporation, assuming, and after giving effect to, the Offering, the Concurrent Private Placement and 
the Acquisition. 

Certain figures presented in tables containing financial information in this short form prospectus may not add 
up due to rounding. 

MARKET AND INDUSTRY DATA 

The Corporation has obtained the market and industry data and other statistical information presented in this 
short form prospectus from a combination of internal company surveys, third party information and estimates of the 
management of Xebec (“Management”). Such third party publications and reports generally state that the information 
contained therein has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable. Although the Corporation believes these 
publications and reports to be reliable, it has not independently verified any of the data or other statistical information 
contained therein, nor has it ascertained the underlying economic or other assumptions relied upon by these sources 
and cannot and does not provide any representation or assurance as to the accuracy or completeness of the information 
or data, or the appropriateness of the information or data for any particular analytic purpose and, accordingly, disclaims 
any liability in relation to such information and data. The Corporation has no intention and undertakes no obligation 
to update or revise any such information or data, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, 
except as required by law. 
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MARKETING MATERIALS 

A “template version” (as such term is defined in National Instrument 41–101 – General Prospectus 
Requirements) of each of the Marketing Materials were filed with the securities commission or similar regulatory 
authority in each of the provinces of Canada. The template version of each of such Marketing Materials is incorporated 
by reference into this final short form prospectus, but is not part of this final short form prospectus to the extent that 
its contents have been modified or superseded by a statement contained in this short form prospectus. 

In addition, any “template version” of any other “marketing materials” (as such terms are defined in National 
Instrument 41–101 – General Prospectus Requirements) filed by the Corporation with the securities commission or 
similar regulatory authority in each of the provinces of Canada after the date of this final short form prospectus and 
before the termination of the distribution under the Offering will be deemed to be incorporated into the final short 
form prospectus. 

CURRENCY AND EXCHANGE RATE INFORMATION 

In this short form prospectus, all dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars (“$”), unless otherwise 
indicated. For purposes of the conversion of Euros to Canadian dollars throughout this short form prospectus, and 
unless otherwise stated, an exchange rate of EUR 1.0000 = $1.5530 was used on the basis of the Bank of Canada 
closing spot rate on December 7, 2020, being the day immediately before the announcement of the Acquisition.  

The following table reflects the low, high and average rates of exchange for one Euro (“€”), expressed in 
Canadian dollars, for the periods noted, based on the Bank of Canada daily rate of exchange.  

 

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2019 

Nine-Months 
Ended 

September 30, 
2020 

Low ...............................................................................................  1.4438 1.4282 
High ..............................................................................................  1.5441 1.5851 
Average ........................................................................................  1.4856 1.5220 

 
On December 18, 2020, the last complete day before the filing of this short form prospectus, the Bank of 

Canada daily rate of exchange was EUR 1 = $1.5638. 

ELIGIBILITY FOR INVESTMENT 

In the opinion of Counsel, based on the provisions of the Income Tax Act (Canada) and the regulations 
thereunder, as amended (the “Tax Act”) in force on the date hereof, the Subscription Receipts and the Common Shares 
(collectively, the “Securities”) will be qualified investments at the time of acquisition by trusts governed by registered 
retirement savings plans (“RRSPs”), registered retirement income funds (“RRIFs”), deferred profit sharing plans, 
registered education savings plans (“RESPs”), registered disability savings plans (“RDSPs”), or tax-free savings 
accounts (“TFSAs”), each as defined in the Tax Act (collectively, the “Deferred Plans”), provided that, at the time 
of the acquisition by the relevant Deferred Plan, (i) in the case of the Subscription Receipts, either the Subscription 
Receipts are listed on a “designated stock exchange” as defined in the Tax Act (which includes the TSXV), or the 
following conditions are met: (a) the Common Shares are listed on a “designated stock exchange” at the time of the 
acquisition by the relevant Deferred Plan, and they remain so listed until the time at which the Common Shares are 
issued pursuant to the Subscription Receipt Agreement, (b) neither the Corporation nor any person with whom the 
Corporation does not deal at arm’s length for the purposes of the Tax Act, is an annuitant, a beneficiary, an employer 
or a subscriber under, or a holder of, the particular Deferred Plan and (c) the Escrowed Funds are invested in qualified 
investments for the Deferred Plans, and (ii) in the case of the Common Shares, such shares are listed on a “designated 
stock exchange” as defined in the Tax Act (which includes the TSXV) or the Corporation is a “public corporation” as 
defined in the Tax Act. 

Notwithstanding that Subscription Receipts and the Common Shares may be qualified investments for the 
Deferred Plans, the holder of a TFSA or an RDSP, the annuitant of an RRSP or RRIF, or the subscriber of an RESP, 
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as the case may be, will be subject to a penalty tax if the Subscription Receipts, or the Common Shares, as the case 
may be, are a “prohibited investment” within the meaning of the Tax Act. The Subscription Receipts and the Common 
Shares will not be a prohibited investment for a TFSA, RRSP, RDSP, RESP or RRIF, provided the holder of a TFSA 
or an RDSP, the annuitant of an RRSP or RRIF, or the subscriber of an RESP, as the case may be, (i) deals at arm’s 
length with the Corporation, for purposes of the Tax Act, and (ii) does not have a “significant interest” (as defined in 
the Tax Act) in the Corporation. 

Prospective investors who intend to hold Subscription Receipts or Common Shares issuable pursuant thereto 
in their Deferred Plans are urged to consult their own tax advisors regarding their particular circumstances.  

NON-IFRS MEASURES 

This short form prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference herein contain references to certain 
non-IFRS measures that are used by the Corporation as indicators of financial performance measures which are not 
recognized under IFRS and may differ from similar computations as reported by other similar entities and, 
accordingly, may not be comparable, such as earnings (loss) before amortization, financial expenses, other items and 
income taxes (EBITDA). The Corporation uses EBITDA because this measure enables Management to assess the 
Corporation’s operational performance. This measure is a widely accepted financial indicator of a company’s ability 
to repay and assume its debt. Investors should not regard it as an alternative to operating revenues or cash flows, or as 
a measure of liquidity. The Corporation believes these measures are useful supplemental information that may assist 
investors in assessing their investment in the Subscription Receipts. 

Investors are cautioned that these measures have limitations as analytical tools as they may be influenced by, 
among other things, judgment and changes in circumstances. Accordingly, these non-IFRS measures should not be 
considered in isolation, or as a substitute for, analysis of the Corporation’s results as reported under IFRS. For a 
reconciliation of non-IFRS measures used by the Corporation, see “Reconciliation of Non-IFRS Measures” in the 
Interim MD&A.  

The following non-IFRS measures are used by the Corporation in this short form prospectus: EBITDA and 
EBITDA margin of HyGear. Please find below the definitions of such non-IFRS measures: 

“EBITDA” means the earnings before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization, where interest is defined 
as net finance costs as per the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

“EBITDA margin” means EBITDA as a percentage of revenues. 

DISCLOSURE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This short form prospectus or documents incorporated by reference herein may contain “forward-looking 
statements” and “forward-looking information” (collectively, “Forward-Looking Statements”) within the meaning 
of applicable securities laws. These Forward-Looking Statements relate to future events or the Corporation’s future 
performance. All statements other than statements of historical fact are Forward-Looking Statements. Forward 
Looking Statements are often, but not always, identified by the use of words such as “may”, “will”, “should”, “expect”, 
“plan”, “anticipate”, “contemplate”, “believe”, “estimate”, “predict”, “potential”, “targeting”, “intend”, “could”, 
“might”, “continue”, or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology. These statements are only 
predictions. These factors are not intended to represent a complete list of the general or specific factors that could 
affect us. Undue reliance should not be placed on these Forward-Looking Statements, as there can be no assurance 
that the plans, intentions or expectations upon which they are based will occur. By its nature, forward looking 
information involves numerous assumptions, known and unknown risks and uncertainties, both general and specific, 
that contribute to the possibility that the predictions, forecasts, projections and other Forward-Looking Statements 
will not occur and may cause actual results or events to differ materially from those anticipated in such Forward-
Looking Statements. Forward-Looking Statements in this short form prospectus speak only as of the date of this short 
form prospectus or as of the date specified in the documents incorporated by reference herein. Specifically, this short 
form prospectus contains Forward-Looking Statements that include, but are not limited to, statements with respect to: 

• use of the net proceeds of the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement;  
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• completion of the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement;  

• completion of the Acquisition and anticipated benefits of the Acquisition, including the expected acceleration 
of Xebec’s hydrogen generation market entry and attractiveness of the Acquisition from a financial 
perspective through a variety of financial metrics;  

• Xebec’s ability to successfully integrate HyGear’s business; 

• Xebec and HyGear’s expected financial performance;  

• the realization and timing of any potential cost synergies and economies of scale; 

• completion of the Inmatec Acquisition;  

• completion of the LOI Acquisition;  

• public health crises (such as the coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic) and their impact on the Corporation; 

• ongoing impact of the novel COVID-19 pandemic on the Corporation’s business, operating results, cashflows 
and financial condition; 

• Xebec’s proposed graduation to the TSX (as defined herein);  

• Xebec’s business model and strategies; and 

• the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option and the Private Placement Option. 

Such factors are discussed in more detail under the heading “Risk Factors” in this short form prospectus, the 
AIF, the Annual MD&A and the Interim MD&A. New factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for 
Management to predict all of those factors or to assess in advance the impact of each such factor on the Corporation’s 
business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from 
those contained in any Forward-Looking Statement.  

The Forward-Looking Statements are based on certain key expectations and assumptions made by the 
Corporation, including, but not limited to, expectations and assumptions concerning availability of capital resources, 
performance of operating facilities, financial performance of Xebec, strength of market conditions, customer demand, 
satisfaction of all conditions of closing of the Acquisition, the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement, 
obtaining consents required under agreements with third parties, and the timing and receipt of regulatory approvals 
with respect to the Offering, the Concurrent Private Placement and the Acquisition. In addition, expected revenue 
growth and positive EBITDA and operating margins of HyGear in 2021 assume resumption of normal business 
operations, with a significantly lesser impact of COVID-19 on HyGear’s business operations and financial results than 
in 2020. Although the Corporation believes that the expectations and assumptions on which such forward-looking 
information is based are reasonable, undue reliance should not be placed on the forward-looking information since no 
assurance can be given that these expectations and assumptions will prove to be correct. 

HyGear generated €11.4 million of revenues, €3.4 million of EBITDA and €2.5 million of operating profit 
in 2019. HyGear is expected to experience annual revenue growth in 2021 and to maintain positive EBITDA and 
operating profit margins in 2021. 

Many factors could cause the Corporation, any of its business segments or sectors, the Corporation’s or the 
combined company’s actual results, performance or achievements to vary from those described in this short form 
prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference herein, including without limitation those listed above as well 
as the assumptions upon which they are based proving incorrect. These factors should not be construed as exhaustive. 
Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should assumptions underlying Forward-Looking 
Statements prove incorrect, actual results may vary materially from those described in this short form prospectus and 
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the documents incorporated by reference herein as intended, planned, anticipated, believed, sought, proposed, 
estimated or expected, and such Forward-Looking Statements should not be unduly relied upon.  

Readers are cautioned that the foregoing list of factors is not exhaustive and it is recommended that 
readers consult the more complete discussion of risks and uncertainties facing the Corporation included in this 
short form prospectus and in the documents incorporated by reference herein. See “Risk Factors”. Except as 
may be required by law, the Corporation undertakes no obligation and disclaims any responsibility to publicly 
update or revise any Forward-Looking Statements or information, whether as a result of new information, 
future events or otherwise. All of the Forward-Looking Statements contained in this short form prospectus and 
the documents incorporated by reference herein are expressly qualified by this cautionary statement. 

 DESCRIPTION OF XEBEC  

General 

The Corporation is incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act (“CBCA”). Pursuant to a 
certificate of arrangement effective June 12, 2009, the Corporation and QuestAir Technologies Inc. amalgamated and 
the entity resulting from such amalgamation is Xebec Adsorption Inc. 

As of the date of this short form prospectus, Xebec is a reporting issuer in each of the provinces of Canada. 
The head office and principal place of business of Xebec is located at 730 boulevard Industriel, Blainville, Québec, 
Canada, J7C 3V4, telephone: (450) 979-8700. 

Overview of the Corporation’s Business 

Xebec is a Canadian provider of gas generation, purification and filtration solutions for the industrial, energy 
and renewables marketplace. Well-positioned in the energy transition space with proprietary technologies that 
transform raw gases into clean sources of renewable energy, Xebec’s 1,500+ customers range from small to multi-
national corporations, governments and municipalities looking to reduce their carbon footprints. Headquartered on the 
North Shore of Montreal, the Corporation is a global company with two state-of-the-art manufacturing facilities in 
Blainville (Québec) and Shanghai (China), research and development facilities in Blainville (Québec), sales offices in 
Houston, Texas (USA) and Milan, Italy, as well as a sales and distribution network in North America and Asia. The 
Corporation also has a sales and service offices in Ontario, Canada (see “Compressed Air International (Service 
Corporation)” below), in California, USA (see “CDA Systems LLC” below), in North Carolina, USA (see “Air Flow” 
below), in British Columbia, Canada (see “Applied Compression Systems” below), in Pennsylvania, USA (see “The 
Titus Company” below), and parts of Europe, the Middle East and Africa (see “Inmatec” below). 

Blainville, Québec (Head Office and Manufacturing Facility) 

Xebec’s head offices operate out of a 41,753 square foot leased manufacturing facility located in Blainville 
in which 105 people are currently employed. The Blainville operation houses corporate administration, finance, sales, 
R&D, engineering, supply chain, manufacturing, and service and support. 

Shanghai, China (Manufacturing Facility) 

In light of the growing demand for low carbon transportation fuels in China and the Asian region at large, 
Xebec opened, in 2008, a 20,451 square foot leased manufacturing facility in the Songjiang district of Shanghai, 
China. This facility, leased and operated by Xebec Adsorption (Shanghai) Co. Ltd., currently employs 35 people and 
is responsible for engineering, supply chain, product assembly, marketing, sales, technical service and after sales 
support for the Chinese, South East Asian (SEA) and Middle Eastern markets. 

Houston, Texas (USA) (Sales Office) 

On February 17, 2014, Xebec announced the opening of a sales office in Houston, Texas. This facility, leased 
and operated by Xebec Adsorption USA Inc., currently employs 2 people and is responsible for sales of all Xebec’s 
products in the USA. 
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Milan, Italy (Sales and Project Management Office) 

In June 2016, Xebec announced the opening of a sales office in Milan, Italy. This facility, leased and operated 
by Xebec Adsorption Europe SRL, currently employs 6 people and is responsible for sales and project management 
of all Xebec’s products in Europe. 

Compressed Air International (Service Company) 

On January 1, 2019, Xebec announced the acquisition of Compressed Air International Inc. in Ontario, 
Canada. The Corporation leases two facilities in the Toronto area and currently employs 9 people. It is responsible for 
sales and servicing of compressed air products and now also supports all Xebec products in Ontario. 

CDA Systems LLC (Service Company) 

On December 10, 2019, the Corporation announced the acquisition of all of the outstanding securities of 
CDA Systems LLC (“CDA”) in California, USA. CDA leases one facility in the Livermore area and currently employs 
16 people and is responsible for sales, rental and services of compressed air products and now also supports all of 
Xebec products in California. 

Air Flow (Service Company) 

On August 4, 2020, the Corporation announced the acquisition of all of the outstanding securities of 
Enerphase Industrial Solutions, Inc. doing business as Air Flow (“Air Flow”). Air Flow is a distributor and service 
provider of compressed air equipment in North Carolina, which focus is on preventative maintenance solutions, air 
energy system audits and analysis, timely machine rentals and parts and service. The acquisition expands the 
Corporation’s Cleantech Service Network (“CSN”) to North Carolina.  

Applied Compression Systems (Service Company) 

On September 1, 2020, the Corporation announced the acquisition of all of the outstanding securities of 
Applied Compression Systems Ltd. (“ACS”). With ACS, the Corporation’s CSN increased and now includes British 
Columbia. ACS offers a single source solution for air & gas compression requirements. ACS focuses on custom 
designed and fabricated compressor packages for specialized applications in the oil, gas, petrochemical, alternative 
fuel, waste-toenergy, research, power generation, mining and manufacturing industries.  

The Titus Company (Service Company) 

 On November 10, 2019, the Corporation announced the acquisition all of the outstanding shares of The Titus 
Company (“Titus”), a supplier of compressed air services. With the acquisition of Titus, the Corporation’s CSN 
coverage includes Eastern Pennsylvania, Delaware and New Jersey. See “Recent Developments – Titus Acquisition”. 

 Inmatec (Service Companies) 

On December 17, 2020, the Corporation announced the acquisition of all of the issued and outstanding shares 
and partnership units of Inmatec Gase Technologie GmbH & Co. KG and Inmatec Gas Technology FZC RAK, UAE 
(collectively, the “Inmatec Entities”). With the acquisition of the Inmatec Entities, the Corporation’s CSN coverage 
includes parts of Europe, the Middle East and Africa. See “Recent Developments – Inmatec Acquisition”. 

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS 

Recent Developments 

The following is a summary of significant developments in the Corporation’s operations and affairs that have 
occurred since September 30, 2020 (in addition to the Acquisition, which is described under “The Acquisition” 
hereof). 
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Inmatec Acquisition 

On December 17, 2020, the Corporation entered into a definitive purchase agreement in connection with the 
acquisition by Xebec of all of the issued and outstanding shares and partnership units of the Inmatec Entities (the 
“Inmatec Acquisition”). The Inmatec Acquisition, which was previously announced by Xebec as an “LOI 
Acquisition” on December 8, 2020, is expected to close on or about February 28, 2021 and is subject to regulatory 
approval and the satisfaction of customary closing conditions. The purchase price payable in respect of the Inmatec 
Acquisition is expected to be approximately EUR 24 million (approximately $37 million using the Bank of Canada 
exchange rate of EUR 1 = $1.5532 as at the close of business on December 16, 2020).  

Xebec intends to use a small portion of the net proceeds of the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement 
to satisfy the purchase price (or a portion thereof) for the Inmatec Acquisition. See “Use of Proceeds”. The Inmatec 
Acquisition, however, remains subject to the risk that it may not be completed or may be delayed. See “Disclosure 
Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors”. 

LOI Acquisition 

 On December 8, 2020, concurrently with the announcement of the Acquisition, the Offering and the 
Concurrent Private Placement, Xebec also announced that it entered into two non-binding letters, one of them being 
the Inmatec Acquisition and the second one being a letter of intent to acquire a specialty compressed air and air 
treatment services company (such second potential acquisition being the “LOI Acquisition”). As of the date hereof, 
the parties are in advanced stages of negotiation and it is anticipated that the definitive purchase agreement with 
respect to the LOI Acquisition will be executed by the parties in the near term. The aggregate purchase price for the 
Inmatec Acquisition and the LOI Acquisition (excluding closing costs) is anticipated to be between $37 million and 
$60 million. 

 Xebec currently expects the LOI Acquisition to proceed and intends to use a small portion of the net proceeds 
of the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement to satisfy the purchase price (or a portion thereof) for the LOI 
Acquisition. See “Use of Proceeds”. The LOI Acquisition, however, remains subject to the risk that it may not result 
in the signature of a definitive binding agreement, or that the signing and closing may be delayed beyond the near 
term.  See “Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors”. 

Partnership with Shenergy Group 

 On November 12, 2020, Xebec announced a strengthened partnership with Shanghai based Shernergy Group 
Company Limited with respect to its existing Sino-Joint Venture partnership with Xebec Shanghai. The new 
partnership is expected to open large-scale opportunities to develop hydrogen infrastructure in China and across Asia.  

Titus Acquisition 

On October 30, 2020, Xebec Holding USA Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Xebec, entered into an 
agreement to acquire all of the outstanding shares of Titus for total consideration of approximately $8,000,000 subject 
to certain holdbacks, adjustments and time-based payments. Founded in 1986 in Pennsylvania, Titus has been a 
compressed air service partner with large and small companies throughout the Eastern Pennsylvania, Delaware and 
New Jersey regions and provides expertise and the capability to serve a wide range of needs from Fortune 500 
companies like DuPont and Air Products and Chemicals, to local businesses like Amish Country Gazebos and RV 
Industries. Titus is also the largest supplier of air dryers to the United States Navy. Titus’ principals have agreed to 
remain with Titus after the acquisition to optimize the integration into Xebec’s industrial service and support business 
and to grow the operation over the coming years. With this acquisition, Xebec’s CSN coverage will increase to include 
Eastern Pennsylvania, Delaware and New Jersey.  

Conditional Approval of Listing of Common Shares on the TSX 

On October 21, 2020, the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) conditionally approved the listing of the 
Common Shares on the TSX. Listing of the Common Shares on the TSX is subject to Xebec fulfilling all of the 
requirements of the TSX, including receipt of all required documentation, on or before January 19, 2021, as well as 
the distribution of the Common Shares to a minimum number of public shareholders. Upon, and subject to, receipt of 
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final TSX approval, the Common Shares will be expected to be delisted from the TSXV and begin trading on the TSX 
under the symbol “XBC”. There can be no assurance that the Common Shares will become listed for trading on the 
TSX by the date noted above, or at all, as the listing of the Common Shares remains subject to Xebec fulfilling all 
conditions of listing required by the TSX. 

New Senior Executive Appointments 

On October 13, 2020, Xebec announced the hiring of Ms. Nathalie Théberge and Mr. Russell Warner as its 
first Vice-President, Legal Affairs and Corporate Secretary and its first Vice-President, Industrial, respectively. 
Subsequently, on November 10, 2020, the Corporation announced the hiring of Mr. Stéphane Archambault as its Chief 
Financial Officer.  

THE ACQUISITION 

Acquisition Rationale 

The Acquisition provides Xebec with an entry into the industrial hydrogen and emerging hydrogen energy market 

The Acquisition positions Xebec in the well established and large industrial hydrogen gas space through 
onsite generation of bulk quantities of hydrogen, either by selling hydrogen generation equipment to industrial clients 
(“Turnkey”), or by providing clients with onsite generated hydrogen and the subsequent sale of the hydrogen 
molecule to the client (“GaaS”). Xebec will be in a position to gradually transition into the emerging hydrogen 
mobility space by providing onsite hydrogen generation and supply of hydrogen for refueling station as mobility 
applications become more prevalent.  

The Acquisition expands HyGear’s business and products into North America and provide a retrofit opportunity with 
existing compressed natural gas fueling stations; 

HyGear’s business is currently concentrated in Europe and parts of Asia. Xebec, and its service subsidiaries, 
will be in a strong position to start marketing and selling HyGear’s products, as well as developing decentralized 
productions hubs (“DPH”) in North America. The market for onsite generated hydrogen offers unique opportunities 
for Xebec. Through the combination of Xebec’s renewable natural gas (“RNG”) systems and HyGear’s Steam 
Methane Reforming (“SMR”) technology, Xebec will be able to offer clients low-cost onsite generated green 
hydrogen, that can be used in transportation that will qualify for renewable identification numbers (RINs) under the 
U.S. Renewable Fuel Standard (RFS).  

There are currently over 1,600 CNG refueling stations in North America which dispense compressed natural 
gas to heavy duty trucks and buses. These stations can cost effectively be retrofitted with HyGear’s onsite hydrogen 
generation systems to provide 250kg/day, 500kg/day and 1.000kg/day of hydrogen for mobility purposes. Xebec 
expects that this will provide the lowest cost option for a nationwide build-out of hydrogen refueling infrastructure. If 
renewable natural gas is used as feedstock to generate hydrogen, these refueling stations will be able to offer green 
hydrogen.  

The Acquisition expands Xebec’s product offering and will position the company to become a global provider of onsite 
gas generation systems 

HyGear is leveraging its industrial customer base to provide a platform to grow into the emerging hydrogen 
fuel markets. HyGear has demonstrated success in first selling to industrial customers and then using the same 
technologies to deliver solutions to the nascent hydrogen refueling industry. This approach is showcased through their 
hybrid business model which includes Turnkey, offering GaaS, executing on R&D projects, and providing 
maintenance and service. All of these potential revenue streams provide attractive unit economics and will support 
Xebec’s overall rapid expansion plans.  
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The Acquisition provides Xebec with stong hydrogen and onsite gas R&D capabilities 

HyGear has a portfolio of intellectual property and research teams dedicated to hydrogen generation for both 
SMR and electrolyzer based pathways, as well as on-site industrial gas recycling technologies. HyGear has received 
14 patents, which ensure a competitive advantage and are a consequence of successfully executing 108 R&D projects. 
R&D is expected to continue, in particular on the electrolysis side, to drive down costs of the equipment and improve 
overall system design and efficiency. This will allow Xebec to accelerate its entry into the hydrogen generation market 
with capabilities in designing, constructing, and operating facilities. 

DESCRIPTION OF THE ACQUIRED BUSINESS 

Green Vision Holding B.V., which directly or indirectly beneficially owns voting and non-voting securities 
of the subsidiaries listed below, is the parent company of HyGear. 

 

 

Business Overview 

HyGear was founded in 2002 in Arnhem, The Netherlands, as a clean-tech company specializing in the on-site 
production and recovery of industrial gases. HyGear is an emerging developer, manufacturer, and supplier of 
technology and products for the production, recovery, purification, and mixing of industrial gases, such as hydrogen 
and nitrogen. HyGear’s technological backbone consists of 14 active patents issued both in EU countries and the 
United States.  

HyGear develops technology to generate these gases on smaller scales and in a more efficient manner. This allows 
for installations to be located at customer sites, which enables their supply chains to become more efficient and 
ultimately results in cost savings and a reduced environmental impact. To date, HyGear has commissioned 66 
installations in 23 countries around the world.  

HyGear currently has its head office in Arnhem, The Netherlands, where the main operations of HyGear are 
conducted, including manufacturing facilities. HyGear also has local presence in Southeast Asia, with an office in 
Singapore where sales and service activities serve the Asian market.  

As of September 30, 2020, HyGear had 86 employees operating out of two offices and manufacturing facilities, 
in Arnhem and in Singapore.  

Overview of HyGear’s products 

The Hy.GEN 

HyGear’s Hy.GEN systems are developed to generate hydrogen on-site. They are built inside shipping containers, 
which makes them easy to transport and small in environmental footprint. Hy.GEN systems are based on the SMR 
technology, a process by which hydrogen is created out of water and natural gas. Hy.GEN systems operate 
autonomously; once the system is installed at a customer’s site and connected to the grid, the system has no need for 
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an operator. It automatically follows the demand levels and increases or decreases its production based on the 
requirements of the customer. 

HyGear is currently offering three sizes of Hy.GEN systems. All these systems are designed for the small bulk 
segment and maximal outputs vary from 50 to 150 m3/h. The purity of the gas output can be adjusted to the customers 
demand and can go as high as 99.9995% pure. These systems are ideal for industrial users like glass and metal factories 
but also for future applications in hydrogen fueling stations.  

In 2016 HyGear has partnered with Plug Power for the supply of Hy.GEN systems at one of Walmart’s sites in 
the United States where hydrogen is produced for FCEV forklifts in Walmart’s warehouses. The quality of the 
hydrogen for this application in fuel cells is important, and by use of the Hy.GEN systems high purity hydrogen is 
supplied in a more cost-effective way. 

Another HyGear project is shown below, at the Philips site in Belgium where hydrogen is needed for the 
production process. For this project, HyGear managed to create a material cost saving for the customer, by eliminating 
the need for transportation. This installation also reduces the customer’s CO2 output by roughly 60,000 kg per system 
per year. 

 
2 x Hy.GEN 50 at Philips in Belgium 

The Hy.GEN-e 

HyGear’s Hy.GEN-e is a hydrogen generator based on electrolysis, a process by which hydrogen is generated 
from water and electricity. Hy.GEN-e systems are based on alkaline stacks, as this is currently a reliable and cost-
effective solution for electrolysis. Hy.GEN-e systems are slightly larger compared to the Hy.GEN systems and for 
that reason only the 50 m3/h and 100 m3/h systems are built inside shipping containers. The larger systems, 150 m3/h 
and 250 m3/h, are both skid mounted. Like the Hy.GEN systems, Hy.GEN-e systems are automated, do not require 
an operator, and can be load-following to ensure the customer always receives the correct volume of hydrogen. 

In July 2020, HyGear announced that it signed a distributor agreement with PERIC for hydrogen generation 
through water electrolysis to further extend the product offering in on-site hydrogen supply. PERIC is the leading 
manufacturer of alkaline electrolyser stacks and, via this agreement, HyGear will offer the PERIC systems to their 
customers. Depending on the customer’s needs, HyGear will additionally offer compressors and storage and ensure 
that one central control unit will control the plant.  

The Hy.REC 

The Hy.REC system is the latest addition to the HyGear product portfolio. The principal of the Hy.REC 
system is to recover and recycle hydrogen containing gas streams from production processes. Industries that require 
hydrogen for their production are, for example, the glass and metal industries, which use hydrogen, in most cases 
combined with nitrogen, to create a protective atmosphere during the production process. Venting of hydrogen 
containing gas flows occurs to ensure the atmosphere does not get polluted with other materials. With the Hy.REC 
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system, industrial customers can capture the vented gas, clean it and remove impurities. Once the gas is cleaned, it is 
supplied back to the production line where the gas is injected into the process again. 

The whole recycling process results in a reduction of industrial gas consumption for the customer which, in 
turn, reduces further transportation activities for gas at the customer site. With reduced supply chain activities, the 
total output of harmful emissions, like CO2 and NOx, over the whole value chain is reduced. 

 
Hy.REC ready for shipment to Saint-Gobain Porz, Germany 

HyGear has installed the first full scale Hy.REC system in Saint-Gobain Porz, Germany, as pictured above. 
After a long development and testing program, where first a small-scale system has been tested followed by single 
component testing, HyGear installed the Hy.REC system at Saint-Gobain in 2019. At first, HyGear has only extracted 
the gas from the float line and cleaned it up to Saint-Gobain’s desired specifications. After a successful testing period, 
HyGear and Saint-Gobain are now working on phase two, by installing the piping that will bring the cleaned gas back 
to the float line. These works are expected by HyGear to be finished in the first quarter of 2021 and the full operation 
of the Hy.REC is expected to begin in that same quarter. 

The Hy.PURE 

HyGear’s Hy.PURE system is designed to be able to clean up hydrogen-containing gases to high purity 
hydrogen by using pressure swing adsorption (PSA) technology. Different gas streams can be purified by either 
upgrading hydrogen-containing mixtures, by removing undesired gaseous impurities, or by purifying industrial grade 
hydrogen. 

The Hy.PURE system not only pre-treats the hydrogen from the current gas stream, by further removing 
impurities, but also post-treats the hydrogen from gas mixtures where it is recovered, cleaned and fed back into the 
process. The challenge of purifying mixed gaseous atmospheres is that they are extracted from the process at lower 
pressures while gas purification usually requires a higher pressure differential. HyGear’s proprietary vacuum pressure 
swing adsorption technology minimizes the need for compression. 
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Hy.PURE at AGC Mol, Belgium 

At AGC in Mol, Belgium, HyGear has installed a Hy.PURE system. This Hy.PURE system is upgrading the 
gas quality of the nitrogen that AGC requires in their production process. At this location in Mol, Belgium, AGC 
receives the nitrogen from another supplier via a pipeline. However, the quality of the gas from this pipeline was not 
suitable for the new production process of AGC. For this reason, HyGear offered the Hy.PURE system, which resulted 
in AGC receiving the nitrogen according to their requirements at the lowest possible cost due to the pipeline supply 
and on-site purification of the nitrogen. 

The Mix.GEN 

Many industries use a combination of multiple gases in their production process. HyGear offers customer 
specific on-site gas generation and mixing. This is more reliable and cost effective than conventional mixed gas supply 
by premixed cylinders. 

HyGear supplies mixtures of hydrogen, nitrogen and oxygen gas, using on-site generation technologies in 
combination with an advanced gas mixing station. These mixing stations are offered under the name Mix.GEN, are 
built inside shipping containers and are fully automated. By using an operator interface, the customer can easily adjust 
the required mixture that is created by the Mix.GEN system. 

HyGear Business Activities 

Turnkey 

In its Turnkey business unit, HyGear sells a complete system to customers. Such projects included systems 
to manufacturing industries like glass factories, for research institutes, or for hydrogen fueling stations. The Turnkey 
system is offered on a global scale with past commissioning in countries such as the United States, Belgium, Spain, 
Germany and Bangladesh.  

HyGear sells systems either via direct contact to customers or via participation in tenders. During contract 
negotiations, HyGear agrees with the client on the value of the contract, installation specifications and key delivery 
dates (such as factory acceptance test and commissioning).  

A Turnkey project can last from three to twelve months, depending on the size of the system. Customers 
typically agree to multiple milestone payments, with the first milestone payable to HyGear immediately after signing, 
and the last milestone payment after the installation is commissioned.  

Gas-as-a-Service  

The GaaS business unit generates stable monthly cash flows by way of long-term hydrogen supply 
agreements with customers. HyGear installs the system at the customer location and charges a monthly fixed fee, 
which covers the initial investment, and a variable fee which is dependent on the level of hydrogen consumption and 
covers the ongoing maintenance costs. The GaaS contracts are typically signed for a period of five to fifteen years and 
contain customer lock-up terms, by which customers need to pay significant early termination fees.  
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Pursuant to these GaaS contracts, HyGear is committing to a 100% hydrogen supply guarantee to its 
customers, and for this reason HyGear is currently only offering GaaS contracts in selected regions. To make sure that 
HyGear can guarantee this 100% reliability, a three-layered approach is used. The first step is the on-site generation 
includes redundancy in the production capacity to be able to cover a failing system. Then as a second back-up, on-site 
storage is installed at the customer’s site. The size of this storage is typically sufficient to supply a customer with 
hydrogen for another two to three days in the event that all hydrogen generators fail. Finally, as the third layer, HyGear 
has its own fleet of tube trailers that can supply the hydrogen to the customer whenever needed. These trailers will be 
filled with hydrogen at a DPH of HyGear or at partner companies that supply hydrogen. Currently, HyGear has made 
available several locations in Europe where trailers can be filled with hydrogen. 

As of September 30, 2020, HyGear has nine active GaaS contracts operational at seven sites, with several 
new systems in the final stages of commissioning. HyGear’s GaaS customers are located in various countries, such as 
Spain, Germany, Turkey, Czech-Republic (under construction) and Belgium.  

Maintenance & Service (M&S) 

In order to achieve satisfactory performance, all HyGear systems require maintenance activities once or twice 
a year, depending on specifications. For systems that are sold under Turnkey, this results in annual revenue streams 
for the M&S teams. To continue adding value to customers, HyGear signs maintenance and service contracts with 
most Turnkey customers. Under these contracts, the parties agree on a price for the scheduled maintenance activities 
that need to be performed.  

In most instances HyGear is supplying the parts and executing the maintenance activities, however, there are 
also contracts where the customer is only buying the parts from HyGear. There are also service contracts, where the 
customer pays a yearly fixed fee to HyGear to get remote support and a response time guarantee.  

In the event a system should fail or show an error, the customer can contact the HyGear service engineers, 
who are able to log into the system remotely and provide customer assistance. 

Decentralized Production Hub  

A key factor in the roll-out of the GaaS contracts are the DPH. A DPH is needed to supply the GaaS customers 
with back-up supply whenever needed or to allow HyGear to utilize the on-site systems in a GaaS territory to a 
maximum and truck in the peak consumption, thus allowing an optimization of total capex per unit volume production. 
A DPH is not only there for the GaaS customers but is also producing hydrogen on a continuous basis and presents a 
business opportunity in the supply of gases by tube trailer or cylinder filing. Typically, hydrogen is trucked from large 
plants to local distribution hubs where hydrogen is transferred from tube trailers to cylinder racks and cylinders. This 
is believed to be an inefficient process and by using a Hy.GEN system, a distribution hub can be transferred into a 
DPH which increases the profitability of the hub.  

The places to build DPHs are areas where no large hydrogen plant is nearby, as this makes trucking of 
hydrogen more expensive. Contracts from the DPH for the supply of hydrogen are typically shorter-term contracts, 
from one to two years on average, and do not guarantee minimal hydrogen off-take agreements. HyGear sources DPH 
customers in the market and believes it competes on price against other industrial gas suppliers.  

HyGear currently has a DPH operational in Arnhem where it sells hydrogen to clients from the Benelux, 
Germany and the United Kingdom. 

In 2019, HyGear formed a joint venture with BUSE HyGear Ltd. with the objective to produce, fill and 
distribute hydrogen in the United Kingdom. It will operate from West Bromwich near Birmingham, in the West 
Midlands, at the existing site of Buse Gases Ltd. HyGear will deploy the Hy.GEN technology to produce cost-effective 
hydrogen and distribute to the existing customers of Buse Gases Ltd., as well as future HyGear’s GaaS customers in 
the region. 
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HyGear Research & Development 

HyGear conducts R&D for new products and services and is established as a separate business unit within 
HyGear, offering services to companies within the HyGear group, but also as a commercial activity to other companies 
on a contract engineering basis.  

Activities mainly target four areas at this time: 

• New and improved hydrogen generation from SMR (new fuels, new components, cost reduction of designs 
and new designs for different capacities); 

• New and improved hydrogen generation systems by electrolysis (Hy.GEN-e), mostly targeted towards 
alkaline and PEM (polymer electrolyte membrane) electrolysis systems and some more limited activities on 
Solid Oxide Electrolysis; 

• CO2 capture and utilization to develop a viable pathway towards “blue” hydrogen; 
• Hydrogen filling applications, mainly compression and dispensing technologies and total plan engineering 

for fleet stations. 

HyGear has historically been successful in acquiring government grants, generating a steady revenue stream 
for the past fifteen years.   

Addressable End Markets 

HyGear is active in two distinct end markets for supply of systems and hydrogen to its clients: The Industrial 
Gas market and the Hydrogen Energy market. The industrial gas market is focused on industrial users that need 
hydrogen, oxygen or nitrogen in their production process. The hydrogen energy market is focused on hydrogen as an 
energy carrier, for example for the use in mobility. To date, HyGear has been considerably more active in the industrial 
gas market, mainly because this market is more mature and offers opportunities for growth and profitability. However, 
with the forecasted increase in hydrogen consumption for energy purposes, HyGear believes it is well positioned to 
play an active role in this market as well. The specifications of both addressable markets are discussed in more detail 
below:  

Hydrogen as an Industrial Gas 

The main players in the industrial gas markets are Air Liquide, Linde, Praxair and Air Products. These 
companies collectively have more than 50% market share of the entire industrial gases production. The industrial gas 
market consists mainly of Hydrogen, Nitrogen and Oxygen. These gases are utilized in industry today and all have 
their own specific uses. Hydrogen has the largest share with an estimated output of 115 billion Nm3 by 2023 
(Freedonia, World Hydrogen Report, 2014). 

Hydrogen is used in various industries and not all of these industries are inside the scope of HyGear’s 
capabilities. HyGear has a focus on the so-called merchant (bulk) quantities for hydrogen supply. The bulk segment 
covers roughly 28% of the market based on the revenue split of Linde which is equal to an estimated amount of 
32.2 billion Nm3 by 2023 (figures and estimates based on Linde’s Annual Report, 2019). 

Merchant hydrogen customers are currently served from central hydrogen generation plants and get deliveries 
by road transportation. Transportation costs, and associated pollution effects, heavily depend on the proximity of the 
end user of hydrogen to the generation plant. As a result, HyGear has identified three distinct types of geographies of 
which two present a good entry point for HyGear’s on-site technologies.  

The centered geographies are characterized by a well-established distribution infrastructure for hydrogen 
over the area, relatively small trucking distances, and multiple suppliers in the market, which cause more pressure on 
prices and margins. An example of such geography is the Benelux. 

In the dispersed geographies, sources of hydrogen are unevenly distributed over the area, with only a handful 
of suppliers active in the market. This creates the need for large trucking distances for bulk gas suppliers. Since there 
are few alternatives for customers in the area, it forces them to become price takers. An example of such a geography 
is Spain, which has hydrogen generation plants mainly around the shore lines of the country, with a limited production 
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capacity inland. HyGear believes that it can target similar geographies, where it could offer clients located far from 
centralized hydrogen generation plants the benefit of on-site gas generation. 

The isolated geographies have very limited sources of hydrogen available. This shortage of availability and 
poor infrastructure force customers to truck hydrogen at greater distances and in larger quantities, which result in 
higher end prices. An example of such a geography is Thailand-Cambodia-Vietnam. HyGear believes that its offering 
is very attractive for clients in isolated geographies, as on-site production helps ensure 100% availability of industrial 
gases, which otherwise would disturb the production processes at the customer site.  

A selection of industries that use hydrogen in their production process and within the scope of HyGear are 
the following: the flat glass, metal, food and semiconductor industries. These industries have hydrogen consumption 
that varies on average between 50 Nm3/h and 700 Nm3/h, all depending on the type of product they manufacture and 
the size of the factory.  

In the glass industry, hydrogen is combined with nitrogen to create a protective atmosphere. This is required 
due to the unique process in this industry. To ensure that perfectly flat glass is created, a technology is developed 
where molten glass is spread out on a bath of molten tin. Since glass is lighter than tin, glass floats on top of the tin. 
However, due to the high temperatures involved with presence of oxygen, there would be oxidation, which would 
result in imperfections in the glass. To prevent the oxidation process, a mixture of hydrogen and nitrogen is injected 
to create the protective atmosphere without oxygen. In this gas mixture, nitrogen acts as the inert gas and protects the 
glass, where the hydrogen is present to react with the last bits of oxygen to water to prevent the start of an oxidation 
process. 

Through internal market studies HyGear identified factories that use hydrogen in their production. 

The identified factories have an expected consumption of 50 to 700 Nm3 of hydrogen per hour. By combining 
multiple HyGear systems, HyGear expects to be able to meet hydrogen demand to a significant part of these factories. 
With HyGear already having an established presence in these markets, HyGear plans to continue to expand sales 
efforts to further penetrate these markets and generate new installation projects.  

Hydrogen Energy Market 

On a global scale, governments, companies and individuals are striving to reduce the use of fossil fuels and 
output of harmful emissions. This means that alternative sources of energy must be found and, more importantly, 
alternative storage mediums are required. For the efficient and green storage of energy, several governments and 
independent report studies concluded that hydrogen is a potential solution.  

A 2017 McKinsey study “Hydrogen Roadmap Europe” estimates that in an ambitious scenario, hydrogen 
could meet 24% of final energy demand by 2050, compared to 2% in 2015. Most growth is estimated to come from 
transportation, heating and power for buildings, and industry energy. This 2017 McKinsey study identifies the 
potential for generating approximately 2,250 terawatt hours (TWh) of hydrogen by 2050, representing roughly a 
quarter of the EU’s total energy demand. This amount would fuel about 42 million large cars, 1.7 million trucks, 
approximately a quarter of a million buses, and more than 5,500 trains. It would heat more than the equivalent of 52 
million households (about 465 TWh) and provide as much as 10% of building power demand. In industry, 
approximately 160 TWh of hydrogen would produce high-grade heat and another 140 TWh would replace coal in 
steelmaking processes in the form of direct reduced iron (DRI). 120 TWh of hydrogen combined with captured carbon 
or carbon from biomass would also produce synthetic feedstock for 40 Mt of chemicals in 2050. 

Achieving this vision puts the EU on a path to reducing about 560 Mt of CO2 emissions by 2050 – as much 
as half of the required abatements needed to achieve the 2-degree scenario. The EU needs to reduce its CO2 emissions 
from 3,500 Mt today to 770 Mt in 2050. Deploying available technologies and existing energy- and climate-related 
commitments from European countries would close approximately 60% of the gap. The use of hydrogen in end sectors 
could help to reduce half of the remaining 1,100 Mt and achieve the 2-degree scenario. In addition, it could enable 
deep decarbonization of the power sector and hence indirectly reduce carbon emissions. Besides reducing carbon 
emissions, the deployment of hydrogen and fuel cell technologies would remove local emissions. In transportation, 
NOX emissions could be reduced by 0.5 Mt per year in 2050. Rivers, lakes, and ports would be less polluted, steel 
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and other industrial plants would avoid dust and tar exhaust, and noise from diesel trains and trucks would drop 
significantly. The projected deployment of hydrogen would create an estimated EUR 130 billion industry for the fuel 
and associated equipment for EU companies by 2030, reaching EUR 820 billion by 2050. It would create a local 
market for EU industry to use as a springboard for competing globally in the new hydrogen economy. The export 
potential in 2030 should reach an estimated EUR 70 billion, with net exports of EUR 50 billion. Altogether, the EU 
hydrogen industry could provide employment for about 1.0 million highly skilled workers by 2030, reaching 5.4 
million by 2050. 

 

Source: McKinsey, Hydrogen Roadmap Europe, 2017 

Hydrogen has long been believed to be a potential low-carbon transport fuel but establishing it in the transport 
fuel mix has been difficult. However, the fuel cell electric vehicle (“FCEV”) market is beginning to accelerate, as 
evidenced by recent developments in Asia. The global FCEV stock nearly doubled to 25,210 units at the end of 2019, 
with 12,350 new vehicles sold – more than doubling the 5,800 units purchased in 2018. 

To power an increase in hydrogen demand worldwide, infrastructure investments must be considered. 
HyGear wants to play an active role in the upcoming infrastructure development, particularly in the build-out of 
hydrogen refueling stations. According to the International Energy Agency, an intergovernmental organization formed 
out of more than 35 countries, at the end of 2019, 470 hydrogen refueling stations were in operation worldwide, an 
increase of more than 20% from 2018. Japan remains the leader with 113 stations, followed by Germany (81) and the 
United States (64). The number of stations in operation expanded considerably in Korea (+20), Japan (+13) and 
Germany (+12) over the past year while in China it increased threefold (from 20 to 61).  

Hydrogen Europe, a coalition of 62 companies – comprising OEMs, fuel cell and hydrogen technology 
suppliers, refueling and hydrogen infrastructure providers, truck operators, users of road freight services and related 
industry associations – have unveiled in 2020 during the European Hydrogen week plans for 1,000 hydrogen stations 
across Europe by 2030. Korea announced that it plans to have 1,200 operational hydrogen stations by 2040, and 
Japan plans to have 900 stations by 2030.   

In 2019, HyGear commissioned a Hy.GEN 150 for Pit Point, a hydrogen refueling station in Arnhem, the 
Netherlands. The aim of this project is to act as a filling hub for the hydrogen powered buses in the city of Arnhem. 
Hydrogen consumption per day is expected to reach around 230 kg of hydrogen.  

Overview of Employees 

HyGear currently has 86 employees spread over two offices, the headquarter in Arnhem with 79 employees 
and the Asia office in Singapore with seven employees. HyGear works as a matrix organization, where certain 
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functional groups report to their respective managers based on expertise. Project Managers are assigned to use people 
from different expert groups in their project structures. As HyGear operates in two different geographies, the 
Singapore office also has an operational manager for day to day reporting duties. These people do have double report 
lines to their functional managers as well as their local country manager. A simplified version of the organizational 
chart of HyGear is provided below: 

 

Employees are all contributing to a pension fund and have other secondary benefits, for example in the form of 
reduction in working hours. HyGear is also supporting a healthy lifestyle by giving employees access to its gym and 
sports activities are organized on a monthly basis. 

Sales and Marketing 

Currently the HyGear sales force consists of a team of eight people spread over the offices in the Netherlands 
and in Singapore. HyGear had a strong focus on Europe and Asia which has resulted in a broad agent and distributor 
network around these geographies. The team located in the Netherlands is taking care of the customers in Europe and 
the Americas and HyGear has appointed some agents for certain areas in Eastern Europe. The Singapore team is 
responsible for the Asian region including the Middle East.   

In the Asian region, HyGear is currently working with over 12 agents and distributors all in different countries 
and areas of expertise. Before COVID-19, HyGear also actively participated in business trade shows and trade 
missions. This activity has paused due to COVID-19. 

Manufacturing Facilities and Logistics 

The products of HyGear are assembled in its own facilities in Arnhem, the Netherlands. HyGear currently 
has two facilities there where systems are being built. Both facilities are located at the same industrial park at the 
Westervoortsedijk location. 

During the process of building the systems, HyGear receives components from its suppliers that are mounted 
in container skids. This process from receipt of first parts through completion of the build typically takes from three 
to twelve months, depending on the specifications of the systems. After completion of construction, the systems are 
tested at the facilities of HyGear. Once they have completed the Factory Acceptance Test program, the systems are 
prepared for shipment and shipped to the customer. 

HyGear has various business models, which carry different agreements with customers on logistics. For turn-
key projects, the most common Incoterm that is used is Ex Works (“EXW”), where the seller merely has to make the 
goods available, suitably packaged, at the specified place or Free Carrier (“FCA”), where the seller is responsible for 
export clearance and the buyer assumes all risks and costs after the goods have been delivered at the named place. For 
the GaaS customers, on the other hand, HyGear is completely responsible for the transport and this results in Delivered 
at Place delivery, where the buyer is responsible for import clearance and any applicable local taxes or import duties. 
When looking at the DPH business, there are two possibilities again, either EXW or DDP. The customer base at the 



 

 
29 

DPH varies from other industrial gas suppliers who bring their own trailers and cylinders to the HyGear DPH. These 
customers are under the EXW Incoterm. There are also industrial customers who are the end-users of the hydrogen. 
For these situations, HyGear is delivering the gas to the customer under the DDP Incoterm. 

Purchasing Activities 

The principal raw materials used by HyGear to manufacture its products are stainless steel, precious metals, 
activated carbon and natural gas. HyGear also procures vessels, containers and other large pieces of equipment that 
are integrated in the systems. Certain components like the reactors and heat exchangers are custom built for HyGear 
based on HyGear’s design. The construction of these reactors must be done by certified people, which work is 
outsourced by HyGear.  

To ensure the continuity of supply and to avoid being fully dependent on one supplier, HyGear has the 
strategy to make sure there are two to three suppliers that can supply the core components of the systems at any point 
in time. Currently, the majority of parts and goods are sourced in Western Europe and North America.  

Overview Patents, Trademarks, and Licenses 

List of Filed, Granted and Active Patents 

HyGear owns 14 active patents for the systems it produces. Some examples are provided below:  

• DE102006046052 Uitschuifbare Stoom Reformer. Innovation on design of compact steam reformer of 
which the catalyst is easy to replace. Design has an improved heat and mass transfer; 

• DE102006046051 Regelbare warmtewisselaar. Controllable heat exchanger. The exchanger has an area 
for a medium that is to be cooled, another area for a cooled medium, and a heat transferring surface 
transferring heat between the areas. A liquefiable portion of the cooled medium is collected in a lower 
region of one of the areas. A fluid supply with a probably defined level is formed, such that an 
evaporation process takes place in a predetermined and periodic manner to control the temperature of 
the medium to be cooled by varying the fluid level in the former area; 

• EP2223739(EU:CZ, DE, ES, FR, GB, IT, NL) Steam Reformer EU. Design of indirect heated steam 
reformer with high heat flux. Apparatus for converting a feed gas comprising organic compounds and 
water vapor into a product gas substantially comprising carbon dioxide and hydrogen, comprising a 
reformer part with at least one reaction chamber which is provided with an inlet opening for feed gas 
and an outlet opening for product gas and which is bounded by the inner wall of an outer tube closed at 
one outer end and the outer wall of an inner tube received coaxially in this outer tube and open at both 
its outer ends, and a furnace part for heating the reaction chamber, wherein the inlet opening is provided 
by the open outer end of the inner tube distally of the closed outer end of the outer tube, and the outlet 
opening is provided by the open outer end of the outer tube; 

• EP2712910 (EU:NL, BE, DE, LU) Neerwobber EU. System to reduce Wobbe-index of a gas while 
producing energy. Method for converting a first gas mixture comprising hydrocarbons to a product gas 
mixture with a lower Wobbe index than the first gas mixture, comprising the steps of (i) providing the 
first gas mixture, (ii) providing a second gas mixture comprising hydrocarbons, (iii) providing a third 
gas mixture comprising oxygen, (iv) carrying the second and the third gas mixture into a chemical reactor 
configured to produce a fourth gas mixture comprising carbon dioxide gas, and (v) carrying the fourth 
gas mixture into the first gas mixture, thus obtaining the product gas mixture, and apparatus for 
converting a gas mixture comprising hydrocarbons in accordance with this method; 

• NL20132010816 VSA biogas NL. Using vacuum to separate biogas. Method for separating a first gas 
mixture comprising carbon dioxide (CO2) and methane (CH4) into a second gas mixture with a relatively 
high methane content and a third gas mixture with a relatively high carbon dioxide content, performed 
in accordance with a vacuum swing adsorption process (VSA process), wherein the adsorption mass 
comprises carbon molecular sieve (CMS) material, and device for performing such a method. 
NL2014700 Generating H2 from sulfur containing hydrocarbon feed. Innovation on removing Sulphur 
species from feed by using a pressure swing system.  
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Registered Trademarks 

HyGear holds trademarks for “HyGear” in the European Union, United States, United Kingdom, Singapore, 
Vietnam and the Philippines. Furthermore, HyGear also holds select trademarks for the names of its products, such as 
Hy.GEN and Hy.REC. 

Licenses 

HyGear’s systems are built, designed and tested according to the PED and CE standards, with the exception 
of systems that are shipped to countries that work according to the ASME standards. In this case, the pressure vessels 
in the system will be designed, built and tested according to the ASME standards. 

There are area classification of the Hy.GEN systems, which from part of the Machinery Directive 
(2006/42/EC) is applicable. In order to determine whether an acceptable level of safety is obtained, the NEN-EN-IEC 
60079-10-1 (Part 10-1: Classification of areas – Explosive gas atmospheres) is applied. According to NEN-EN-IEC 
60079-10-1, it can be concluded that the conditions of a zone 2 NE (non-hazardous) classification for the Hy.GEN 
100 system is met when: 

• the system is placed in a non-hazardous area in order to have under all circumstances the presence of possible 
flammable gasses far below the lower explosion limits at the intake of the ventilation air; 

• the Hy.GEN 100 system interior contains only secondary grade release sources, which are sources that under 
normal circumstances do not release flammable compounds; and 

• Due to the ventilation that reduces the concentration at the source of release virtually instantly, a “high degree 
ventilation” classification for the Hy.GEN 100 system is reached. This results in a concentration below the 
lower explosion limit. The Hy.GEN 100 system has a minimum ventilation of 1,000 m3/h and a maximum 
of 10,000 m3/h when in operation. 

HyGear Recent Material Developments 

New Offering in the HyGear Technology Portfolio 

HyGear’s most recent development that was launched on a commercial scale is the Hy.REC system for the 
flat glass industry. This system captures the hydrogen containing gas that normally is vented to the atmosphere by the 
factory. After it has been captured, it goes through various steps in the system where all dust, sulfur, oxygen and other 
impurities are removed and the gas is pressurized before it is fed back to the process of the factory. The Hy.REC helps 
the industry to reduce their output of harmful emissions and their operating expenses. By recycling the gas, the factory 
reduced the consumption of “fresh” gas from its gas suppliers. 

Continuous R&D Efforts and New Subsidy Programs 

HyGear is also continuously working on EU projects and other R&D programs. A recent example of the 
R&D projects is the so-called “filler-charger”. In this R&D project, HyGear is cooperating with Nedstack to make a 
machine that can charge BEV and refuel FCEVs. There will be a need for this system in the future as bringing sufficient 
power to a large fueling station with charging points to charge BEV will be very difficult. Combined with the 
expectation that there will be a serious hydrogen fueling infrastructure, this can be the solution. The main issue 
regarding the power supply is also shown in the image below from McKinsey (McKinsey, Hydrogen Roadmap 
Europe, 2017). 
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Source: McKinsey, Hydrogen Roadmap Europe, 2017 

The idea behind the filler-charger is that there will be no need to bring an 8 MW power connections to a 
fueling station to ensure that 60 fast chargers can be operated at the same time. These 60 fast chargers are required to 
fill the equivalent of what four hydrogen dispensers can do in the same amount of time. If hydrogen is available at the 
site, by use of a fuel cell we can produce electricity onsite. This electricity can then be used to charge BEV and at the 
same time the hydrogen can also be used to directly fuel FCEV.  

Impact of COVID-19 

The direct impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is different for the various parts of HyGear’s business. The 
Company follows the guidelines and directives on containment from the Dutch government and State Institute for 
Health and Environment (RIVM). The reduction of HyGear’s assembly work force in connection with the COVID-
19 pandemic is expected to delay delivery of products to customers and reduce revenue for the year. It will also affect 
HyGear’s revenue and margins as the staff that was laid off was more expensive temporary workers and fixed costs 
will have to be covered by a fewer range of activities. Additionally, certain GaaS projects are deemed financial leases 
and revenue and margins are acknowledged at the timing of commissioning. Delay in commissioning (partly due to 
travel restrictions) are both impacting revenue, margins and operating profit in 2020 negatively compared to 2019. 

HyGear’s policy since the early outbreak in March 2020 has been that all its employees that can work from 
home will work from home. Employees who cannot work from home, mainly assembly and service staff, should work 
on the HyGear’s premises and adopt several measures like safe distancing, personal hygiene and in several situations 
wear protective face masks.  

Due to the RIVM guideline to maintain 1.5 metres of social distance on the work floor, the work force in the 
assembly hall had to be reduced. This was done by releasing the majority of the third-party work force. HyGear has 
so far not experienced a major disturbance in its supply chain.  

Travel restrictions have had a significant impact on the ability of the delivery team to provide services, 
maintenance and installation works at the site of customers. After the restrictions were imposed, HyGear has so far 
been able to keep servicing nearby systems in Europe, sometimes with special permits for example in Spain and 
Belgium. For all other locations, HyGear has been able to provide services by remote support, making use of 
customers’ technical staff.  

The impact on the work by R&D and Engineering is relatively limited, although the testing of new technology 
for subsidy projects may be delayed due to the lack of capacity in assembly and social distance measures in the 
laboratories. 

DETAILS OF THE ACQUISITION 

On December 8, 2020, the Purchaser entered into the Purchase Agreement with the Sellers in connection 
with the Acquisition by the Purchaser of all of the issued and outstanding shares of HyGear held by the Sellers (the 
“HyGear Shares”).  
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The following is a summary of the material terms of the Purchase Agreement. This summary does not purport 
to be complete and is subject to, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, the provisions of the Purchase 
Agreement, a copy of which has been filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

Purchase Price 

The Purchase Price payable by the Purchaser pursuant to the Purchase Agreement on the Acquisition Closing 
Date for the acquisition of the HyGear Shares is EUR 82,000,000 ($127,346,000), subject to certain closing and post-
closing adjustments, including leakage mechanism adjustments. The Purchase Price will be paid to the Sellers in cash 
in an amount of EUR 42,000,000 ($65,226,000) (the “Cash Portion”) and in Common Shares representing a total 
value of EUR 40,000,000 ($62,120,000) (the “Share Consideration”). The number of Common Shares to be issued 
was determined based on a deemed issuance price of $6.03 per Common Share, reflecting a total value of such Share 
Consideration to be equal to $62,120,000. The TSXV has conditionally approved the listing of the Common Shares 
issued as Share Consideration under the Acquisition. Such approval is conditional upon the Corporation fulfilling all 
of the requirements of the TSXV.   

An amount equal to EUR 4,200,000 ($6,522,600) (the “Indemnity Holdback”) will be held from the Cash 
Portion as security for the performance of the obligations of the Sellers under the Purchase Agreement, transferred to 
Intertrust Escrow & Settlements B.V., as escrow agent, and disbursed in accordance with an escrow agreement in the 
form of Schedule 7 to the Purchase Agreement (the “Escrow Agreement”). 

Adjustments to Purchase Price 

Any Leakage (as such term is defined in the Purchase Agreement), other than as permitted under the Purchase 
Agreement, that occurs between October 1, 2020, and the Acquisition Closing Date will be deducted from the Share 
Consideration, equivaling in a decrease of the Purchase Price on a Euro-for-Euro basis by the amount of such Leakage. 

The Purchase Price will also be increased on a Euro-for-Euro basis on the Acquisition Closing Date by any 
outstanding indebtedness of HyGear and its subsidiaries as of such date. 

The Purchase Agreement also provides for adjustments to the Purchase Price with respect to any additional 
Leakage identified by the Purchaser within nine months after the Acquisition Closing. 

Closing Conditions 

The Acquisition Closing is subject to, inter alia, the following mutual conditions, which are to be satisfied 
at or prior to the Acquisition Closing Date: (a) the receipt of the required notifications, approvals, orders and 
authorizations, (b) the absence of any order issued delaying, materially restricting or preventing, and no pending claim 
or judicial or administrative proceeding, or investigation against any party to the Purchase Agreement by any person, 
for the purpose of enjoining, delaying, restricting or preventing the performance of the Purchase Agreement or the 
consummation of any of the transactions contemplated thereby, (c) the receipt of conditional approval from the TSXV 
and, as applicable, the TSX for the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement (the “TSXV Condition”) 
and (d) the availability of the financing required to pay the Cash Portion (the “Financing Condition”).  

The Acquisition Closing is also subject to a condition for the benefit of the Purchaser, which is to be satisfied 
at or prior to the Acquisition Closing Date, being that there shall have been no material adverse effect on HyGear and 
its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”).  

Representations and Warranties 

The Purchase Agreement contains representations and warranties made by the Sellers in favour of the 
Purchaser that are customary for a transaction of this nature and size, including inter alia, with respect to:  authority, 
validity and effect, title to securities, no breach, organization and corporate power, subsidiaries, authorization, 
securities, financial statements, no material adverse change, absence of certain developments, title to assets, 
sufficiency, tax matters, contracts and commitments, intellectual property, litigation, governmental consents, 

http://www.sedar.com/
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employee benefit plans, insurance, environmental matters, affiliated transactions, brokerage, permits, compliance with 
laws, employees, customers and suppliers, and product liability. 

The Purchase Agreement also contains representations and warranties made by the Purchaser and Xebec in 
favour of the Sellers that are customary for a transaction of this nature and size, including inter alia, with respect to: 
organization and corporate power, authorization, no violation, consents and the Common Shares to be issued as Share 
Consideration. 

Covenants 

The Purchase Agreement contains customary covenants of the Sellers and the Purchasers commencing on 
the date of the Purchase Agreement and ending on the Acquisition Closing (the “Interim Period”). 

The covenants of the Sellers include to provide that, among others, (a) subject to certain limitations, the 
Group’s business shall be conducted in the ordinary course during the Interim Period; (b) the Group shall not engage 
in specific types of transactions during the Interim Period unless consented to in writing by the Purchaser or as 
otherwise contemplated by the Purchase Agreement; (c) subject to certain conditions and limitations, the Purchaser 
and its authorized representatives are provided with reasonable access at all reasonable times and upon reasonable 
advance notice to the offices, properties, books and records of the Group in order for the Purchaser to have the 
opportunity to make such investigation as it will reasonably desire to make of the affairs of the Group; (d) 
commercially reasonable efforts will be used to provide all cooperation as may be reasonably requested by the 
Purchaser in connection with the Financing Condition and the TSXV Condition; and (e) the Purchaser shall be 
promptly informed if the Group’s management becomes aware of any fact or any change in or affecting the Group’s 
business, financial condition or results of operations of the Group that have a material adverse effect. 

The Purchaser and Xebec have undertaken to maintain the head office of HyGear in Arnhem, Netherlands, 
for a period of at least three years after the Acquisition Closing Date. 

Each party has agreed to keep confidential and not disclose any information, whether written or oral, relating 
to any other party or its affiliates in connection with the Purchase Agreement without the prior written consent of the 
party concerned by the disclosure. 

Non-Solicitation and Non-Competition Undertakings 

For a period of three years from and after the Acquisition Closing Date, each of SDI and Marinus van Driel 
will not, and will cause their respective affiliates not to, directly or indirectly, solicit to hire, or hire, any employee, 
client, supplier or representative of the Group nor attempt to convince such persons to terminate, by any means, its, 
his or her employment, office or agreement with the Group or with the Purchaser or any of its affiliates, subject to 
certain exceptions set forth in the Purchase Agreement. 

For a period of three years from and after the Acquisition Closing Date, each of SDI and Marinus van Driel 
will not, and will cause their respective affiliates not to, (a) directly or indirectly, engage in or have any direct or 
indirect ownership interest in any business that is competitive (directly or indirectly) with the business of the Group, 
(b) create or acquire any direct or indirect shareholding in any person or group carrying on any business or activities 
which competes (directly or indirectly) with the business of the Group and (c) occupy any position as principal, 
manager, director, company representative, senior manager, employee, service provider or advisor in any other 
company, business or group whose business or activities compete (directly or indirectly) with the business of the 
Group, subject in each case to certain exceptions set forth in the Purchase Agreement. 

Termination Provisions 

The Purchase Agreement may be terminated as follows: (a) by mutual written consent of the Purchaser and 
the Sellers, (b) by either the Purchaser or the Sellers, if any Completion Action (as defined in the Purchase Agreement) 
is not duly performed by the other party (a “Defaulting Party”) on or before the Acquisition Closing Date, with 
immediate effect upon written notice to the Defaulting Party, or (c) by either the Purchaser or the Sellers, if the mutual 
conditions to the Acquisition Closing and the condition for the benefit of the Purchaser have not been fulfilled or 
waived on or before January 19, 2021, subject to extension and limitations in accordance with the Purchase 
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Agreement, with immediate effect upon written notice by no later than 10 business days after the expiration of this 
deadline.  

If the Purchase Agreement is terminated under the circumstances described in subsection (b) of the preceding 
paragraph, the Defaulting Party will be obligated to indemnify the other party from any and all costs and expenses 
regarding the Acquisition. 

Indemnification Provisions 

Under the terms of the Purchase Agreement, the Sellers will indemnify the Purchaser and the Group from, 
subject to certain limitations and exceptions, all losses, damages or liabilities arising from: (a) any breach of, or any 
misrepresentation with respect to, any of the representations and warranties of the Sellers set forth in the Purchase 
Agreement; and (b) any breach by the Sellers of certain covenants set forth in the Purchase Agreement, including 
without limitation the restrictive covenants relating to non-competition and non-solicitation. The Purchaser will be 
indemnified by either Transact Risk Partners, as warranty and indemnity insurer to the Purchaser, in accordance with 
the buyer’s warranty and indemnity insurance policy susbcribed to in connection with the entering into of the Purchase 
Agreement (the “W&I Insurance Policy”) or the Sellers from the Indemnity Holdback or by a payment in cash to the 
extent the Indemnity Holdback is entirely exhausted. Such indemnification rights will be subject to certain limitations 
and exclusions set forth in, and exercised in accordance with, the Purchase Agreement, the W&I Insurance Policy and 
the Escrow Agreement.  

Parent Guarantee 

Xebec has agreed to provide a guarantee in favour of the Sellers, pursuant to which Xebec will be jointly and 
severally (solidarily) liable with the Purchaser towards the Sellers with respect to the due and punctual performance 
by the Purchaser of the Purchaser’s obligations under the Purchase Agreement. 

Indemnity Limitations and Exceptions 

The Sellers will have no liability or obligation with respect to a breach of representations and warranties 
(other than fundamental representations and warranties set forth in the Purchase Agreement) unless the aggregate 
amount of the damages exceeds EUR 25,000 on an individual basis and do not exceed an amount equal to 1% of the 
Purchase Price cumulative basis, in which case the indemnified parties will be indemnified for the full amount and 
not merely the excess. 

The total aggregate liability of each Seller under the Purchase Agreement for breaches under certain 
covenants as well as for breaches of the representations and warranties not covered by the W&I Insurance Policy will 
be limited to the amount of such Seller’s relevant proportion of an amount of EUR 12,300,000, provided that the total 
aggregate liability of each Seller under the Purchase Agreement for breaches under such covenants and of such 
representations and warranties, excluding the environmental representations and warranties, will be limited to such 
Seller’s relevant proportion of the Indemnity Holdback. The total aggregate liability of each Seller under the Purchase 
Agreement for, inter alia, breaches of the fundamental representations and warranties as well as breaches under the 
restrictive covenants relating to non-competition and non-solicitation will be limited to the amount of such Seller’s 
relevant proportion of the Cash Portion, provided that the total aggregate liability of Stichting Administratiekantoor 
HyGear shall always be limited to its relevant proportion of the Indemnity Holdback. 

The Purchaser’s right to any payment to be made pursuant to the indemnification provisions in the Purchase 
Agreement (together with the Purchaser’s rights under the W&I Insurance Policy and under the Escrow Agreement 
with respect to the Indemnity Holdback) will be the Purchaser’s indemnified parties’ sole and exclusive source of 
recovery for any amounts owing to the Purchaser and the Group pursuant to the indemnification provisions in the 
Purchase Agreement. 

Governing Law 

The Purchase Agreement and all claims and defenses related thereto are governed by the laws of the 
Netherlands, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of law rules or provisions (whether of the 
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Netherlands or any other jurisdiction) that would cause the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than the 
Netherlands. 

FINANCING THE ACQUISITION 

The Corporation intends to satisfy the Purchase Price for the Acquisition and the costs related thereto through 
a portion of the net proceeds of the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement, as well as with the issuance of 
10,301,824 Common Shares. See “Details of the Acquisition”, “Concurrent Private Placement” and “Use of 
Proceeds”.   

USE OF PROCEEDS 

The net proceeds of the Offering (excluding any exercise of the Over-Allotment Option and Earned Interest, 
if any, on the Escrowed Funds, and not factoring in the Dividend Equivalent Payment) and of the Concurrent Private 
Placement (excluding any exercise of the Private Placement Option and interest earned, if any, on the funds escrowed 
under the Concurrent Private Placement), after payment of the Underwriters’ Fee of $6,250,080, the Agency Fee of 
$1,375,000, the Capital Commitment Fee of $2,200,000 and expenses of the Offering and the Concurrent Private 
Placement estimated to be approximately $1,000,000, will be approximately $169,176,527 in aggregate. If the Over-
Allotment Option and the Private Placement Option are exercised in full, the net proceeds of the Offering and of the 
Concurrent Private Placement (excluding interest, if any, on the Escrowed Funds and not factoring in the Dividend 
Equivalent Payment), after payment of the Underwriters’ Fee of $7,187,592, the Agency Fee of $1,581,250, the 
Capital Commitment Fee of $2,530,000 and expenses of the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement estimated 
to be approximately $1,000,000, will be approximately $194,703,006 in aggregate. 

Upon release of the Escrowed Funds under the Subscription Receipt Agreement and of the funds escrowed 
under the Concurrent Private Placement, the net proceeds of the Offering (less any amounts required to satisfy any 
unpaid Dividend Equivalent Payment and the remainder of the Underwriters’ Fee, but including the Earned Interest, 
if any, on the Escrowed Funds) and of the Concurrent Private Placement (including interest earned, if any, on the 
funds escrowed under the Concurrent Private Placement) will be used by Xebec to finance (i) the cash portion of the 
Purchase Price payable in respect of the Acquisition on the Acquisition Closing Date and costs related to the 
Acquisition, (ii) future potential acquisitions (including the Inmatec Acquisition and the LOI Acquisition) and growth 
opportunities, (iii) the potential repayment of indebtedness of HyGear, and (iv) working capital and general corporate 
purposes. 

 Not including the Over- 
Allotment Option or 

the Private Placement 
Option(1) 

Including the Over- 
Allotment Option or 

the Private 
Placement Option 
(both exercised in 

full) (1) 
Acquisition of HyGear (Cash Portion) and Related 
Costs 

$66,000,000 $66,000,000 

Future Potential Acquisitions (including the Inmatec 
Acquisition and the LOI Acquisition) and Growth 
Opportunities(2)(3) 

$37,000,000 - 
$60,000,000 

$37,000,000 - 
$60,000,000 

Potential repayment of HyGear Indebtedness(3)   $29,500,000 $29,500,000 
Working Capital and General Corporate Purposes(4) 
 

$12,500,000 $38,000,000 

 
 

Notes: 
(1) For greater certainty, the above table sets forth the anticipated breakdown of the use of the net proceeds of both the Offering and the Concurrent 

Private Placement, after deduction of estimated expenses of the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement. 
(2) A portion of the consideration for the Inmatec Acquisition and the LOI Acquisition may be financed through cash-on-hand and/or the 

Corporation’s credit facility.  
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(3) Any proceeds not ultimately required to pursue future potential acquisition and growth opportunities (including the Inmatec Acquisition and 
the LOI Acquisition in the event that one or of both of such acquisitions are not completed) or to repay indebtedness of HyGear is expected 
to be reallocated to working capital.  

(4) Funds will be used for general corporate purposes as well as to fund potential future acquisitions and growth opportunities, for the integration 
of future acquisitions, to finance working capital requirements of HyGear, to increase inventory, work in progress and to support market 
development. 

The Escrowed Funds will be held in escrow pending the earlier of the Acquisition Closing Time or the earliest 
date on which a Termination Event occurs (the “Termination Date”). 

The Corporation intends to spend the funds available to it as stated above. However, there may be 
circumstances where, for sound business reasons, a reallocation of the net proceeds may be necessary. The 
actual amount that the Corporation spends in connection with each of the intended uses of proceeds will depend 
on a number of factors, including those referred to under “Risk Factors” in this short form prospectus and the 
AIF. 

The Corporation had negative cash flow from operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 
the three and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2020. The Corporation’s working capital amount was 
approximately $81,334,959 as at September 30, 2020. The Corporation cannot guarantee if it will have positive or 
negative cash flow from operating activities in future periods. To the extent that the Corporation has negative cash 
flow in any future period, certain of the proceeds from the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement may be 
used to fund such negative cash flow from operating activities. See “Risk Factors - Negative Cash Flow From 
Operations”. 

Use of Proceeds Reconciliation  

On June 26, 2020, Xebec closed the June Offering. 

As at September 30, 2020, the Corporation had used $1.8 million of the net proceeds from the June Offering. 
Of the net proceeds used, $400,000 was used for legal, audit and other fees related to the public offering and 
$2,100,000  was used for working capital to support general operations. 

 Anticipated Use of 
Proceeds 

Actual use of 
proceeds as at 

September 30, 2020 
Investments 
Funds will be used to develop and invest in new renewable 
natural gas infrastructure projects. 

$18,000,000 - 

Working Capital 
Funds will be used for general corporate purposes as well as 
for the integration of future corporate acquisitions, to 
increase inventory, work in progress and to support market 
development. 

$7,627,162 $1,894,780 

Research and Development 
Funds will be used for research and development activities 
to expand the Corporation’s presence in the renewable gas 
space. 

$1,000,000 - 

Legal, Audit and other Fees related to the Offering $400,000 $397,019 
Total $27,027,162 $2,291,799 

 

These variances are not expected to have an impact on the Corporation’s ability to achieve its business 
objectives and milestones given that the use of the proceeds was projected on a 12 to 18-month timeline from the 
closing of the June Offering. 
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DESCRIPTION OF SHARE CAPITAL 

The share capital of the Corporation consists of an unlimited number of Common Shares, without par value, 
and an unlimited number of preferred shares (“Preferred Shares”), without par value. As of the date hereof, there are 
106,293,642 Common Shares and nil Preferred Shares issued and outstanding.  

Common Shares 

Holders of Common Shares shall be entitled to receive notice of and attend all meetings of the shareholders 
of the Corporation (the “Shareholders”) and each holder of Common Shares shall have one vote for each Common 
Share held on all matters to be voted on by the Shareholders (except matters requiring the vote of another specified 
class or series voting separately as a class or series). Subject to the prior rights of holders of Preferred Shares, holders 
of Common Shares will be entitled to receive dividends, if any, as and when declared by the board of directors of the 
Corporation (the “Board”), in such amount and in such form as the Board may from time to time determine. On 
liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation, whether voluntary or involuntary, or any other distribution 
of assets of the Corporation among the Shareholders for the purpose of winding-up its affairs, after payment of all 
outstanding debts and subject to the prior rights of holders of Preferred Shares, the holders of Common Shares will be 
entitled to receive the remaining property and assets of the Corporation. The holders of the Common Shares have no 
preemptive, redemption or conversion rights. All Common Shares, when issued, are and will be issued as fully paid 
and non-assessable without liability for further calls or to assessment by the Corporation.  

Preferred Shares 

Preferred Shares are issuable at any time and from time to time in one or more series. The Board has the right 
to fix the number of and to determine the designation, rights, privileges, restrictions, and conditions attaching to the 
Preferred Shares of each series. The Preferred Shares of each series, with respect to the payment of dividends and the 
distribution of assets or return of capital in the event of a liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation, 
whether voluntary or involuntary, rank on a parity with the Preferred Shares of every other series and are entitled to a 
preference and priority over the Common Shares. The holders of a series of Preferred Shares shall not, as such, be 
entitled to receive notice of or attend any meetings of the shareholders of the Corporation and shall not be entitled to 
vote at any such meetings, except (i) where holders of a specified class or series of shares are entitled to vote separately 
as a class or series as provided in the CBCA or (ii) as may be provided for in the rights, privileges, restrictions, and 
conditions attached to any series of Preferred Shares. The holders of any series of Preferred Shares are entitled to 
receive, in priority to the holders of Common Shares, as and when declared by the Board, dividends in the amounts 
specified or determinable in accordance with the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to the series 
of which such Preferred Shares form part.  

DIVIDEND POLICY 

Each holder of Common Shares and Preferred Shares is entitled to receive the dividends that the Board 
declares at its discretion. To date, the Corporation has not paid any dividends on any of its shares. The future payment 
of dividends will be dependent on the financial requirements to fund future growth and other factors which the Board 
may consider appropriate in the circumstances. As it is anticipated that all available cash will be needed to implement 
the Corporation’s business plan and growth, there are no intentions to pay dividends in the foreseeable future. 

The Offering Closing Date is anticipated to occur on or about December 30, 2020, and the holders of 
Subscription Receipts are entitled to receive, in the form of a Dividend Equivalent Payment, any dividends declared 
by the Corporation and payable to holders of Common Shares of record for any record dates established by the 
Corporation for the payment of dividends occurring between the period starting on or after the Offering Closing Date 
and ending before the Acquisition Closing Date (less any withholding taxes), provided that the Escrow Release 
Conditions are satisfied and the Acquisition Closing Time occurs on or prior to the Acquisition Outside Time. See 
“Description of Subscription Receipts”. 

PRIOR SALES 

The following table summarizes the issuances by Xebec of Common Shares or securities convertible into 
Common Shares in the 12-month period prior to the date of this short form prospectus:  



 

 
38 

Date of Issuance 
Type of 
Security 

Exercise Price per 
Security or Price 

per Security Issued 
Number of 

Securities Issued 

December 27, 2019 (6) Common Shares $2.10 10,952,600 
December 27, 2019 (7) Compensation Options $2.10 657,156 
December 28, 2019 (1) Common Shares $1.05 95,000 
January 2, 2020 (4) Common Shares $1.05 10,000 
January 8, 2020 (4) Common Shares $1.05 45,000 
January 16, 2020 (3) Common Shares $1.85 500 
January 16, 2020 (8) Warrants $1.85 149,040 
January 21, 2020 (4) Common Shares $1.05 2,500 
January 22, 2020 (4) Common Shares $1.40 99,360 
January 22, 2020 (8) Warrants $1.85 99,360 
January 23, 2020 (1) Common Shares $1.05 50,000 
January 30, 2020 (1) Common Shares $1.05 25,000 
February 6, 2020 (2) Common Shares $0.75 4,800 
February 7, 2020 (1) Common Shares $1.05 477,500 
February 10, 2020 (3) Common Shares $1.85 99,360 
February 11, 2020 (1) Common Shares $1.05 16,666 
February 14, 2020 (7) Common Shares $2.10 49,287 
February 18, 2020 (1) Common Shares $1.05 3,500 
February 20, 2020 (1) Common Shares $1.05 602,500 
February 21, 2020 (3) Common Shares $1.85 99,360 
February 24, 2020 (1) Common Shares $1.05 25,000 
February 26, 2020 (1) Common Shares $1.05 2,500 
March 6, 2020 (3) Common Shares $1.85 50,000 
March 9, 2020 (3) Common Shares $1.85 50,000 
March 10, 2020 (3) Common Shares $1.85 114,000 
April 22, 2020 (7) Common Shares $2.10 131,431 
May 5, 2020 (9) Warrants $4.58 3,000,000 
May 7, 2020 (1) Common Shares $1.05 356,833 
May 7, 2020 (3) Common Shares $1.85 842,500 
May 8, 2020 (1) Common Shares $1.05 47,262 
May 15, 2020 (1) Common Shares $1.05 889,669 
May 15, 2020 (3) Common Shares $1.85 249,680 
May 21, 2020 (3) Common Shares $1.85 2,900 
May 29, 2020 (3) Common Shares $1.85 430,000 
June 4, 2020 (7) Common Shares $2.10 25,000 
June 5, 2020 (5) Common Shares $0.18 100,000 
June 5, 2020 (5) Common Shares $0.60 66,000 
June 26, 2020 (10) Common Shares $3.60 7,986,750 
June 26, 2020 (3) Common Shares $1.85 147,873 
June 29, 2020 (3) Common Shares $1.85 341,295 
June 29, 2020 (3) Common Shares $1.85 198,720 
June 30, 2020 (3) Common Shares $1.85 500,100 
July 2, 2020 (3) Common Shares $1.85 592,237 
July 3, 2020 (3) Common Shares $1.85 333,497 
July 6, 2020 (3) Common Shares $1.85 1,282,847 
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Date of Issuance 
Type of 
Security 

Exercise Price per 
Security or Price 

per Security Issued 
Number of 

Securities Issued 

July 7, 2020 (3) Common Shares $1.85 494,597 
July 10, 2020 (5) Common Shares $0.18 400,000 
July 14, 2020 (3) Common Shares $1.85 23,700 
August 13, 2020 (5) Common Shares $0.55 12,333 
August 18, 2020 (5) Common Shares $0.14 200,000 
September 16, 2020 (7) Common Shares $2.10 24,287 
September 30, 2020 (5) Common Shares $0.18 1,000,000 
October 13, 2020 (7) Common Shares $2.10 82,145 
December 3, 2020 (10) Common Shares $3.60 35,940 
Decemebr 10, 2020 (10) Common Shares $3.60 25,000 

 
Notes: 
(1) Such Common Shares were issued by the Corporation as a result of the exercise of Common Share purchase warrants issued pursuant to the 

short form prospectus offering of units that closed in November 2018 (the “November 2018 Offering”). 
(2) Such Common Shares were issued by the Corporation as a result of the exercise of compensation options issued in the November 2018 

Offering. 
(3) Such Common Shares were issued by the Corporation as a result of the exercise of warrants issued in the pursuant to the short form prospectus 

offering of units that closed in July 2019 (the “July 2019 Offering”). 
(4) Such Common Shares were issued by the Corporation as a result of the exercise of compensation options issued in the July 2019 Offering. 
(5) Such Common Shares were issued by the Corporation as a result of the exercise of stock options. 
(6) Such Common Shares were issued by the Corporation pursuant to the short form prospectus offering of Common Shares that closed in 

December 2019 (the “December 2019 Offering”). 
(7) Such compensation options were issued by the Corporation in the December 2019 Offering. Each such compensation option entitles the holder 

thereof to purchase one Common Share of the Corporation at a price of $2.10. 
(8) Such warrants were issued by the Corporation as a result of the exercise of compensation options issued in the July 2019 Offering. 
(9) Such warrants were issued by the Corporation to the Fonds de solidarité FTQ pursuant to a loan agreement entered into on May 5, 2020. 
(10) Such Common Shares were issued by the Corporation pursuant to the June Offering.  
 

TRADING PRICE AND VOLUME 

The Common Shares are listed for trading on the TSXV under the symbol “XBC”. The following table shows 
the monthly range of high and low prices per Common Share and the total monthly volumes of Common Shares traded 
on the TSXV under the symbol “XBC” for each month of the 12-month period before the date of this short form 
prospectus, as quoted on the TSXV’s historical data access platform.  

 Common Shares 

Month High ($) Low ($) 
Total Monthly 

Volumes 

December 1 – December 18, 2020 8.09 5.92 11,280,120 
November 2020 5.99 4.86 8,797,934 
October 2020 5.62 4.28 8,308,003 
September 2020 4.79 3.90 8,611,349 
August 2020 5.00 4.11 5,350,207 
July 2020 4.69 3.96 6,928,331 
June 2020 4.36 3.55 13,560,258 
May 2020 4.04 3.01 7,918,682 
April 2020 3.80 2.53 10,076,669 
March 2020 3.80 1.74 17,977,632 
February 2020 4.67 2.89 25,335,053 
January 2020 3.28 2.16 16,969,078 
December 2019 2.38 2.06 9,532,102 
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CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION OF THE CORPORATION 

The following table sets forth the capitalization of the Corporation as at September 30, 2020, both on an 
actual basis and a pro forma basis, to give effect to (i) the Offering (assuming no exercise of the Over-Allotment 
Option) (ii) the Concurrent Private Placement (assuming no exercise of the Private Placement Option), and (iii) the 
Acquisition. This table should be read in conjunction with the Interim Financial Statements, the unaudited pro forma 
consolidated financial statements of the Corporation and the HyGear annual financial statements, as well as the other 
disclosure contained in this short form prospectus, including the risk factors described under the heading “Risk 
Factors” in this short form prospectus and in the documents incorporated by reference herein.  

(in thousands of dollars, except for share and warrant data) 

 As at September 30, 2020 As at September 30, 2020, after 
giving effect to the Acquisition, 

the Offering and the Concurrent 
Private Placement 

Long Term Debt, including current 
portion 

18,679 52,021 

Total Equity 85,873 317,169 
Number of Common Shares 105,750,557 147,087,141 
Number of Warrants 3,906,356 3,906,356 

 
DESCRIPTION OF THE SUBSCRIPTION RECEIPTS 

The following is a summary of the material attributes and characteristics of the Subscription Receipts. This 
summary does not purport to be complete and is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by, reference to the terms of 
the Subscription Receipt Agreement, a copy of which will be filed on the Corporation’s SEDAR profile at 
www.sedar.com. 

General  

The Subscription Receipts will be issued on the Offering Closing Date pursuant to the Subscription Receipt 
Agreement. The Escrowed Funds will be delivered to and held by the Subscription Receipt Agent, as agent and bailee 
on behalf of the holders of Subscription Receipts, together with the Earned Interest, and deposited or invested, as the 
case may be, in short-term interest bearing or discount debt obligations of, issued or guaranteed by, the Government 
of Canada, a province of Canada or a Canadian chartered bank, or other approved investments as set forth in the 
Subscription Receipt Agreement, pending satisfaction of the Escrow Release Conditions. 

Provided that the Escrow Release Conditions are satisfied and the Acquisition Closing Time occurs on or 
prior to the Acquisition Outside Time or the Termination Date, (i) the Escrowed Funds, together with Earned Interest 
less (A) any amounts required to satisfy any unpaid Dividend Equivalent Payment, (B) applicable withholding taxes 
and (C) the remaining 50% of the Underwriters’ Fee, will be released to the Corporation, (ii) the remaining 50% of 
the Underwriters’ Fee will be remitted to the Joint Bookrunners, on behalf of the Underwriters, and (iii) the holders 
of Subscription Receipts will receive, as of the Acquisition Closing Time, without payment of additional consideration 
or further action, one Common Share for each Subscription Receipt held, plus a Dividend Equivalent Payment (less 
applicable withholding taxes), if any. Xebec will use the Escrowed Funds to pay a portion of the Purchase Price 
payable pursuant to the Acquisition. See “Use of Proceeds”. If, however, the Acquisition Closing Time occurs on or 
before the Offering Closing Date, the Corporation will deliver Common Shares instead of Subscription Receipts to 
purchasers in the Offering and the distribution of such Common Shares will be qualified by this short form prospectus. 
In such circumstance the Underwriters will receive 100% of the Underwriters’ Fee on the Offering Closing Date. 

In connection with the Acquisition Closing, the Subscription Receipt Agent will release to Xebec the 
Escrowed Funds and Earned Interest (less applicable withholding taxes, any amounts required to satisfy an unpaid 
Dividend Equivalent Payment and the remaining 50% of the Underwriters’ Fee), against the delivery of the following 

http://www.sedar.com/
http://www.sedar.com/
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documents: (i) an irrevocable direction of the Corporation and the Joint Bookrunners to the Subscription Receipt 
Agent (in its capacity as registrar and transfer agent of the Common Shares) to issue the Common Shares to holders 
of record of Subscription Receipts as at the Acquisition Closing Date, and (ii) a notice from the Corporation to the 
Subscription Receipt Agent, confirming that the Escrow Release Conditions have been satisfied, and indicating the 
scheduled Acquisition Closing Time. Further, the Corporation shall issue a press release confirming that the 
Acquisition has been completed, setting out the Acquisition Closing Date, confirming that the Common Shares have 
been issued and stating the date on which the Subscription Receipts transfer register will close. 

Termination 

In the event that a Termination Event occurs, holders of the Subscription Receipts will receive an amount 
equal to the full purchase price of each Subscription Receipt held, together with their pro rata portion of the Earned 
Interest, if any, and interest that would have been earned on the one-half of the Underwriters’ Fee paid to the 
Underwriters as if such fee had been held in escrow as part of the Escrowed Funds from, and including, the Offering 
Closing Date to, but excluding the Termination Date (“Deemed Interest”), less applicable withholding taxes. The 
Escrowed Funds will be applied toward payment of such amount and the Corporation will be responsible for payment 
of any portion of such amount not covered by the Escrowed Funds and the Earned Interest. In the event that the gross 
proceeds of the Offering are required to be remitted to purchasers of the Subscription Receipts as aforesaid, the 
Corporation has agreed to and undertaken to pay the Subscription Receipt Agent an amount equal to 50% of the 
Underwriters’ Fee (together with any Deemed Interest) with respect to the Subscription Receipts such that 100% of 
the gross proceeds of the Offering and the Earned Interest (together with any Deemed Interest) would be returned to 
purchasers of Subscription Receipts. To the extent that the Escrowed Funds are not sufficient to remit the required 
amount to holders of Subscription Receipts, the Corporation will be required to contribute such amounts as are 
necessary to satisfy any shortfall. See “Risk Factors – Risks Related to the Acquisition — Failure to Close the 
Acquisition or Change in the Terms of the Acquisition.” 

If the Escrow Release Conditions are satisfied and the Acquisition Closing Time occurs on or prior to the 
Acquisition Outside Time or the Termination Date and holders of Subscription Receipts become entitled to receive 
Common Shares pursuant to the Subscription Receipt Agreement, such holders will also be entitled to receive an 
amount equal to the Dividend Equivalent Payment, if any (less applicable withholding taxes). Such Dividend 
Equivalent Payment will be satisfied (i) first by way of a pro rata share of interest credited or received on the Escrowed 
Funds, and (ii) second, out of the Escrowed Funds, as a refund of a portion of the subscription price for the Subscription 
Receipt. If holders of Subscription Receipts become entitled to receive Common Shares and a Dividend Equivalent 
Payment, the Subscription Receipt Agent and the Corporation will pay the Dividend Equivalent Payment to holders 
no earlier than on the second business day following the Acquisition Closing Date. For greater certainty, if the 
Acquisition Closing Date occurs on a date that is a dividend record date, holders of Subscription Receipts shall not be 
entitled as such to receive a payment in respect of the cash dividend as holders of Subscription Receipts for such 
record date but shall instead be deemed to be holders of Common Shares on such date and will be entitled as 
Shareholders to receive such dividend. 

Covenants 

The Corporation has covenanted in the Subscription Receipt Agreement that, from the Offering Closing Date 
to the earlier of the Termination Date and the Acquisition Closing Date, it will not subdivide or redivide the 
outstanding Common Shares into a greater number of Common Shares, reduce, combine or consolidate the 
outstanding Common Shares into a smaller number of Common Shares, issue any Common Shares to holders of all 
or substantially all of the Common Shares by way of a dividend, or reclassify the Common Shares or undertake a 
reorganization of the Corporation or a consolidation, amalgamation, arrangement or merger of the Corporation with 
any other person or other entity other than in connection with the Acquisition; or a sale or conveyance of the property 
and assets of the Corporation as an entirety or substantially as an entirety to any other person or entity or a liquidation, 
dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation. 

Subject to applicable law, the Corporation will be entitled to purchase the Subscription Receipts in the open 
market or by private agreement or otherwise. 
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Rescission 

Under the Subscription Receipt Agreement, original purchasers of Subscription Receipts under the Offering 
will have a contractual right of rescission following the issuance of the Common Shares to such purchaser upon the 
exchange of the Subscription Receipts, to receive the amount paid for the Subscription Receipts upon surrender of the 
Subscription Receipts or the Common Shares, as applicable, if this short form prospectus (including the documents 
incorporated by reference herein) and any amendment is not delivered to such original purchaser or contains a 
misrepresentation, as such term is defined in the Securities Act (Québec), provided such remedy for rescission is 
exercised within 180 days of the Offering Closing Date and such original purchaser of Subscription Receipts did not 
purchase its Subscription Receipts with knowledge of the misrepresentation. See “Purchaser’s Statutory Rights of 
Withdrawal and Rescission”. 

Holders of Subscription Receipts are not shareholders of Xebec and will not have any voting or other rights 
as shareholders including any direct or indirect entitlement whatsoever relating to or arising from any dividends 
declared or paid on the Common Shares prior to the Acquisition. From and after the Acquisition Closing Date, 
provided that a Termination Event has not occurred, the former holders of Subscription Receipts will be entitled as 
holders of Common Shares to receive dividends from the Corporation, to vote and to all other rights available to 
holders of Common Shares. See “Description of Share Capital”. 

Amendments 

From time to time while the Subscription Receipts are outstanding, the Corporation, the Joint Bookrunners 
and the Subscription Receipt Agent, without the consent of the holders of the Subscription Receipts, may amend or 
supplement the Subscription Receipt Agreement for certain purposes, including making any change that, in the opinion 
of the Subscription Receipt Agent, does not prejudice the rights of the holders of Subscription Receipts. After the 
Offering Closing and subject to the consent of the Joint Bookrunners, a material amendment to the terms and 
conditions of the Acquisition which would result in a material adverse effect to the Corporation can be made without 
the consent of the subscription receipt holders. See “Risk Factors — Risks Related to the Acquisition — Failure to 
Close the Acquisition or Change in the Terms of the Acquisition.” The Subscription Receipt Agreement provides for 
other modifications and alterations thereto and to the Subscription Receipts issued thereunder by way of an 
extraordinary resolution. The term “extraordinary resolution” is defined in the Subscription Receipt Agreement to 
mean, in effect, a resolution proposed at a meeting of holders of Subscription Receipts duly convened for that purpose 
and held in accordance with the Subscription Receipt Agreement at which there are present in person or by proxy at 
least one holder of Subscription Receipts holding more than 25% of the then outstanding Subscription Receipts and 
passed by the affirmative votes of holders of Subscription Receipts holding not less than 66⅔% of the then outstanding 
Subscription Receipts represented at the meeting and voted on the poll upon such resolution. 

BOOK-BASED SYSTEM 

Delivery and Form 

Subscription Receipts will be issued in the form of fully-registered global subscription receipts (the “Global 
Subscription Receipt Certificates”) held by, or on behalf of CDS, as custodian for its CDS Participants. 

All Subscription Receipts will be represented in the form of Global Subscription Receipt Certificates 
registered in the name of CDS or its nominee. Purchasers of Subscription Receipts represented by Global Subscription 
Receipts Certificates will not receive definitive Subscription Receipts in fully-registered form (“Definitive 
Subscription Receipts”). Rather, the Subscription Receipts will be represented only in “book-entry only” form 
(unless the Corporation, in its sole discretion, elects to prepare and deliver Definitive Subscription Receipts). 
Beneficial interests in the Subscription Receipts, constituting ownership of the Subscription Receipts, will be 
represented through book-entry accounts of institutions (including the Underwriters) acting on behalf of beneficial 
owners, as direct and indirect CDS Participants. Each purchaser of a Subscription Receipt represented by a Global 
Subscription Receipt Certificate will receive a customer confirmation of purchase from the Underwriters or registered 
dealer from whom the Subscription Receipt is purchased in accordance with the practices and procedures of the selling 
Underwriters or registered dealer. The practices of registered dealers may vary, but generally customer confirmations 
are issued promptly after execution of a customer order. CDS will be responsible for establishing and maintaining 
book-entry accounts for its CDS Participants having interests in Subscription Receipts. If CDS notifies the Corporation 
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that it is unwilling or unable to continue as depository in connection with the Global Subscription Receipt Certificates, 
or if at any time CDS ceases to be a clearing agency or otherwise ceases to be eligible to be a depository and the 
Corporation is unable to locate a qualified successor, or if the Corporation elects, in its sole discretion, to terminate 
the book-entry system, beneficial owners of Subscription Receipts represented by Global Subscription Receipt 
Certificates at such time will receive Definitive Subscription Receipts. 

The Common Shares issued upon the exchange of the Subscription Receipts will be delivered electronically 
through the non-certificated inventory (NCI) system of CDS. On the Acquisition Closing Date, the Corporation, via 
its transfer agent will electronically deliver the Common Shares registered to CDS or its nominee. Transfers of 
ownership of Common Shares in Canada must be effected through a CDS Participant, which includes securities 
brokers and dealers, banks and trust companies. All rights of shareholders who hold Common Shares in CDS must be 
exercised through, and all payments or other property to which such shareholders are entitled, will be made or 
delivered by CDS or the CDS Participant through which the shareholder holds such Common Shares. A holder of a 
Common Share participating in the NCI system will not be entitled to a certificate or other instrument from the 
Corporation or the Corporation’s transfer agent evidencing that person’s interest in or ownership of Common Shares, 
nor, to the extent applicable, will such holder be shown on the records maintained by CDS, except through an agent 
who is a CDS Participant. 

Transfer and Exchange of Subscription Receipts 

Transfers of beneficial ownership in Subscription Receipts represented by Global Subscription Receipts 
Certificates will be effected through records maintained by CDS for such Global Subscription Receipts Certificates 
or its nominees (with respect to interests of CDS Participants) and on the records of CDS Participants (with respect to 
interests of persons other than CDS Participants). Unless the Corporation elects, in its sole discretion, to prepare and 
deliver Definitive Subscription Receipts, beneficial owners who are not CDS Participants in the depository’s book-
entry system, but who desire to purchase, sell or otherwise transfer ownership of or other interests in Global 
Subscription Receipts Certificates, may do so only through CDS Participants in the depository’s book-entry system. 

The ability of a beneficial owner of an interest in a Subscription Receipt represented by a Global Subscription 
Receipt Certificate to pledge such Subscription Receipt or otherwise take action with respect to such owner’s interest 
in a Subscription Receipt represented by a Global Subscription Receipt Certificate (other than through a CDS 
Participant) may be limited due to the lack of a physical certificate. Registered holders of Definitive Subscription 
Receipts may transfer such Subscription Receipts upon payment of taxes or other charges incidental thereto, if any, 
by executing and delivering a form of transfer together with the Subscription Receipts to the registrar for the 
Subscription Receipts at its principal offices in Montréal, Québec or such other city or cities as may from time to time 
be designated by the Corporation, whereupon new Subscription Receipts will be issued in authorized denominations 
in the same aggregate principal amount as the Subscription Receipts so transferred, registered in the names of the 
transferees. 

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION 

General 

Pursuant to an underwriting agreement entered into on December 14, 2020, among the Corporation and the 
Underwriters (the “Underwriting Agreement”), the Corporation has agreed to issue and sell and the Underwriters 
have agreed to purchase, as principals, on the Offering Closing Date, subject to the conditions stipulated in the 
Underwriting Agreement, an aggregate of 21,552,000 Subscription Receipts offered hereby at a price of $5.80 per 
Subscription Receipt for a total gross consideration of $125,001,600, payable in cash to the Subscription Receipt 
Agent (less 50% of the Underwriters’ Fee) against delivery by the Corporation of global certificates evidencing the 
Subscription Receipts. 

In consideration for their services in connection with the Offering, the Corporation has agreed to pay the 
Underwriters a fee equal to 5% of the aggregate gross proceeds of the Offering (the “Underwriters’ Fee”), which is 
equal to $0.29 per Subscription Receipt, for a total fee payable by the Corporation of $6,250,080. The Underwriters’ 
Fee is payable as to 50% upon the Offering Closing (and, as applicable, upon the closing of the exercise of the Over-
Allotment Option) and 50% upon the Acquisition Closing Time. If the Acquisition Closing Time does not occur on 
or prior to the Acquisition Outside Time or the Termination Date, the Underwriters’ Fee will be limited to the amount 
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payable upon the Offering Closing (and, as applicable, upon the closing of the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option). 
The Corporation will also pay the Underwriters’ Fee in respect of Subscription Receipts issued and sold by the 
Corporation if the Over-Allotment Option is exercised. 

Pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, the Corporation has granted the Underwriters an Over-Allotment 
Option to cover over-allotments, if any, and for market stabilization purposes. The Over-Allotment Option may be 
exercised by the Underwriters, in whole or in part, at the sole discretion of the Underwriters, at any time prior to the 
Offering Closing Date or 30 days after the Offering Closing Date. The Over-Allotment Option entitles the 
Underwriters to purchase from the Corporation up to 3,232,800 Subscription Receipts (being 15% of the aggregate 
number of Subscription Receipts offered hereunder) at the Offering Price. If the Over-Allotment Option is exercised 
in full, the total price to the public will be $143,751,840, the Underwriters’ Fee will be $7,187,592 and the aggregate 
net proceeds to the Corporation will be $136,564,248 (after deducting the Underwriters’ Fee but before deducting the 
estimated expenses of the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement of approximately $1,000,000 and excluding 
the Earned Interest, if any, and not factoring any Dividend Equivalent Payment). A purchaser who acquires 
Subscription Receipts forming part of the Underwriters’ over-allocation position acquires those Subscription Receipts 
under this short form prospectus, regardless of whether the over-allocation position is ultimately filled through the 
exercise of the Over-Allotment Option or secondary market purchases. The price at which the Subscription Receipts 
are being offered hereunder and the terms of the Offering were determined by negotiation between the Corporation 
and the Underwriters. Without affecting the firm obligation of the Underwriters to purchase from the 
Corporation 21,552,000 Subscription Receipts at a price of $5.80 per Subscription Receipt in accordance with the 
Underwriting Agreement, after the Underwriters have made a reasonable effort to sell all of the Subscription Receipts 
offered hereby at the Offering Price to the public may be decreased and further changed from time to time to an amount 
not greater than the Offering Price. In the event that the Offering Price is decreased, the compensation received by the 
Underwriters will be decreased by the amount that the aggregate price paid by the purchasers for the Subscription 
Receipts is less than the gross proceeds paid by the Underwriters to the Corporation for the Subscription Receipts. 
Any such reduction in the Offering Price to the public will not affect the proceeds received by the Corporation. 

The obligations of the Underwriters under the Underwriting Agreement are joint (the notion equivalent to 
“several” in common law) and not solidary, are subject to certain closing conditions and may be terminated upon the 
occurrence of certain stated events set forth in the Underwriting Agreement, including “restrictions on distribution”, 
“material change”, “disaster out” and “breach” rights of termination, or if a Termination Event has occurred. The 
Underwriters are, however, obligated to take up and pay for all of the Subscription Receipts if any of such Subscription 
Receipts are purchased under the Underwriting Agreement. The Underwriting Agreement also provides that the 
Corporation will indemnify the Underwriters and their respective affiliates, and each of their respective directors, 
officers, partners, employees, agents and controlling persons against certain liabilities and expenses, including 
liabilities under Canadian securities legislation. Subscriptions for Subscription Receipts will be received subject to 
rejection or allotment in whole or in part and the right is reserved to close the subscription books at any time without 
notice. 

Pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, the Corporation will not, without the prior consent of the Joint 
Bookrunners, on behalf of the Underwriters, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned, 
issue, offer or grant any right to purchase or agree to issue or sell, or otherwise dispose of any equity securities of the 
Corporation or other securities convertible into, exchangeable for, or otherwise exercisable into Common Shares or 
other equity securities of the Corporation, or agree to do any of the foregoing or publicly announce any intention to 
do any of the foregoing, for a period ending on the date that is 90 days after the Offering Closing Date, other than (i) 
pursuant to its outstanding stock options or employee purchase plans or (ii) pursuant to any outstanding convertible 
securities. 

The Subscription Receipts offered hereby have not been, and will not be, registered under the U.S. Securities 
Act or any U.S. state securities laws, and may not be offered or sold within the U.S. absent registration or pursuant to 
an applicable exemption from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act, and applicable U.S. state 
securities laws. Accordingly, except to the extent permitted by the Underwriting Agreement, the Subscription Receipts 
may not be offered or sold within the U.S.. Each Underwriter has agreed that it will not offer or sell Subscription 
Receipts within the U.S., except in transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act 
and applicable U.S. state securities laws. The Underwriting Agreement provides that the Underwriters may re-offer 
and re-sell the Securities that they have acquired pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement within the U.S. to qualified 
institutional buyers (as defined in Rule 144A), pursuant to an exemption under Rule 144A under the U.S. Securities 
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Act as well as in certain offshore jurisdictions as agreed between Xebec and the Underwriters pursuant to Regulation 
S under the U.S. Securities Act.  

In connection with the Offering, certain of the Underwriters or securities dealers may distribute this short 
form prospectus electronically. 

The Offering has been approved by the Board. 

The Offering Closing Date is anticipated to occur on or about December 30, 2020. The Offering Closing is 
conditional on the concurrent closing of the Concurrent Private Placement.  

The TSXV has conditionally approved the listing of the Subscription Receipts and the Common Shares 
issuable pursuant to the exchange of the Subscription Receipts on the TSXV. Such listing is subject to the Corporation 
fulfilling all of the requirements of the TSXV. There is currently no market through which the Subscription Receipts 
may be sold. Purchasers may not be able to resell Subscription Receipts purchased under this short form prospectus. 
This may affect the pricing of the Subscription Receipts in the secondary market, the transparency and availability of 
trading prices, the liquidity of the Subscription Receipts and the extent of issuer regulation. See “Risk Factors — Risks 
Related to the Offering — No Existing Market for the Securities.” 

Price Stabilization, Short Positions and Passive Market Making 

In connection with the Offering, and subject to applicable laws, the Underwriters may effect transactions that 
stabilize or maintain the market price of the Subscription Receipts at levels other than those which might otherwise 
prevail in the open market. Those transactions, if commenced, may be interrupted or discontinued at any time. 

Stabilizing transactions consist of bids or purchases made for the purpose of preventing or retarding a decline 
in the market price of the Subscription Receipts while the Offering is in progress. These transactions may also include 
making short sales of the Subscription Receipts, which involve the sale by the Underwriters of a greater number of 
Subscription Receipts than they are required to purchase in the Offering. Short sales may be “covered short sales”, 
which are short positions in an amount not greater than the Over-Allotment Option, or may be “naked short sales”, 
which are short positions in excess of that amount. 

The Underwriters may close out any covered short position either by exercising the Over-Allotment Option, 
in whole or in part, or by purchasing Subscription Receipts in the open market. In making this determination, the 
Underwriters will consider, among other things, the price of Subscription Receipts available for purchase in the open 
market compared with the price at which they may purchase Subscription Receipts through the Over-Allotment 
Option. 

The Underwriters must close out any naked short position by purchasing Subscription Receipts in the open 
market. A naked short position is more likely to be created if the Underwriters are concerned that there may be 
downward pressure on the price of the Subscription Receipts in the open market that could adversely affect investors 
who purchase in the Offering. 

As a result of these activities, the price of the Subscription Receipts may be higher than the price that 
otherwise might exist in the open market. If these activities are commenced, they may be discontinued by the 
Underwriters at any time. The Underwriters may carry out these transactions on any stock exchange on which the 
Subscription Receipts are listed, in the over-the-counter market, or otherwise. 

Pursuant to rules and regulations of certain Canadian securities regulators, the Underwriters may not, 
throughout the period of distribution, bid for or purchase Subscription Receipts. The foregoing restriction is subject 
to exceptions, on the condition that the bid or purchase is not engaged in for the purpose of creating actual or apparent 
active trading in, or raising the price of, the Subscription Receipts. These exceptions include bids or purchases 
permitted under the Universal Market Integrity Rules for Canadian Marketplaces relating to market stabilization and 
passive market making activities and bids or purchases made for and on behalf of a customer where the order was not 
solicited during the period of distribution. 
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Relationship between the Corporation and Certain Underwriters 

National Bank Financial Inc. is a wholly-owned subsidiary of National Bank of Canada (“NBC”), a Canadian 
chartered bank, which, in August 2018, entered into credit facilities with the Corporation in the amount of $2,500,000 
and a guarantee facility sponsored by Export Development Canada in the amount of up to $12,000,000 (the “Credit 
Facilities”). Accordingly, Xebec may be considered a “connected issuer”, as such term is defined in National 
Instrument 33-105 – Underwriting Conflicts, of National Bank Financial Inc. As of the date of this short form 
prospectus, $5,862,622 was outstanding under the Credit Facilities. 

Xebec is in compliance with all covenants contained in the Credit Facilities and NBC has not waived a breach 
of the Credit Facilities since their execution. The Credit Facilities are secured by a first ranking hypothec of $3,000,000 
on all movable property of the Corporation.  

The decision to distribute the Subscription Receipts pursuant to the Offering was made by the Corporation 
and the determination of the terms of the Offering was made through negotiations between the Corporation and the 
Underwriters. The Offering was not required or suggested by NBC in its capacity as lender under the Credit Facilities. 
As a consequence of this Offering, National Bank Financial Inc. will receive its respective share of the Underwriters’ 
Fee. 

In addition, certain of the Underwriters and their respective affiliates have from time to time performed, and 
may in the future perform, various financial advisory and investment banking services for the Corporation, for which 
they received or will receive customary fees. 

CONCURRENT PRIVATE PLACEMENT 

Concurrently with the announcement of the Offering, the Corporation entered into the Subscription 
Agreement, pursuant to which CDPQ has agreed to purchase and subscribe for, on a private placement basis, 9,482,760 
Placement Subscription Receipts at a price of $5.80 per Placement Subscription Receipt, and otherwise on the same 
terms and conditions as the Subscription Receipts, for aggregate gross proceeds of $55,000,008 to the Corporation. 

Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, the Corporation has also granted CDPQ the Private Placement 
Option, exercisable at the same time as, and pro rata to, the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option by the Underwriters, 
to purchase up to an additional 1,422,414 Placement Subscription Receipts on the same terms and conditions as the 
Concurrent Private Placement. 

Under the Concurrent Private Placement, the total price payable by CDPQ will be $55,000,008, before 
deducting the Agency Fee of $1,375,000, the Capital Commitment Fee of $2,200,000 and the expenses of the 
Concurrent Private Placement and the Offering estimated at $1,000,000. If the Private Placement Option is exercised 
in full by CDPQ, the total price payable by CDPQ will be $63,250,009, before deducting the Agency Fee of 
$1,581,250, the Capital Commitment Fee of $2,530,000 and the expenses of the Concurrent Private Placement and 
the Offering estimated at $1,000,000. 

This short form prospectus does not qualify the distribution of the Placement Subscription Receipts issuable 
pursuant to the Concurrent Private Placement nor the underlying Common Shares. The Placement Subscription 
Receipts offered and the underlying Common Shares to be issued pursuant to the Concurrent Private Placement will 
be subject to a statutory hold period in Canada of four months and one day after the date of closing of the Concurrent 
Private Placement.  

The conditions relating to the holding and release from escrow of the subscription amounts from the 
Concurrent Private Placement and the issuance of the underlying Common Shares pursuant to the Placement 
Subscription Receipts are substantially equivalent to those applicable to the Offering. 

Assuming completion of the Concurrent Private Placement and the Offering and the issuance of all 
underlying Common Shares to the holders of Subscription Receipts and Placement Subscription Receipts, including 
the issuance of the Common Shares pursuant to the Acquisition, CDPQ would beneficially own, or exercise control 
or direction over, directly or indirectly, an aggregate of 9,482,760 Common Shares, representing approximately 6.4% 
of the issued and outstanding Common Shares (or 10,905,174 Common Shares if the Private Placement Option is 
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exercised in full, representing approximately 7.2% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares in the event the 
Over-Allotment Option and the Private Placement Option are exercised in full) on a pro forma basis. 

CDPQ will be entitled to a Capital Commitment Fee equal to 4% of the aggregate purchase price for the 
Subscription Receipts sold under the Concurrent Private Placement, such fee payable by Xebec as to 50% on closing 
of the Concurrent Private Placement and 50% of the Acquisition Closing Date. The Corporation will pay the Agents 
the Agency Fee before deducting the Capital Commitment Fee.  

The closing of the Concurrent Private Placement is expected to occur on the Offering Closing Date and is 
conditional on the concurrent closing of the Offering Closing. The Offering Closing is conditional on the concurrent 
closing of the Concurrent Private Placement. 

The TSXV has conditionally approved the listing of the Placement Subscription Receipts, and the Common 
Shares issuable thereunder, issuable pursuant to the Concurrent Private Placement. Such listing will be subject to the 
Corporation fulfilling all of the applicable listing requirements of the TSXV. There is currently no market through 
which the securities may be sold, and purchasers may not be able to resell securities purchased under the Concurrent 
Private Placement. This may affect the pricing of the securities in the secondary markets, the transparency and 
availability of trading prices, the liquidity of the securities, and the extent of issuer regulation. See “Risk Factors”.  

CERTAIN CANADIAN FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS 

In the opinion of Counsel, the following summary, as of the date hereof, describes the principal Canadian 
federal income tax considerations in respect of a holder who acquires Subscription Receipts issued pursuant to the 
Offering and Common Shares issued pursuant to the Subscription Receipts. This summary is generally applicable to 
a beneficial owner of Subscription Receipts and Common Shares issued pursuant to the Subscription Receipts (the 
“Offered Securities”) who, for purposes of the Tax Act and at all relevant times, is, or is deemed to be, resident in 
Canada, holds the Offered Securities as capital property, deals at arm’s length and is not affiliated with the 
Corporation, the Underwriters, any subsequent purchaser of the Offered Securities, and any issuers with which the 
Escrowed Funds are invested (a “Holder”). Generally, the Offered Securities will be considered to be capital property 
to a Holder provided the Holder does not acquire or hold the Offered Securities in the course of carrying on a business 
of trading or dealing in securities and has not acquired them in one or more transactions considered to be an adventure 
or concern in the nature of trade. Certain Holders may be entitled to make or may have already made the irrevocable 
election permitted by subsection 39(4) of the Tax Act, the effect of which may be to deem to be capital property any 
Common Shares (and all other “Canadian securities”, as defined in the Tax Act) owned by such Holder in the taxation 
year in which the election is made and in all subsequent taxation years. This election is not available in respect of 
Subscription Receipts. 

This summary is based upon the current provisions of the Tax Act in force as of the date hereof and Counsel’s 
understanding of the current administrative policies and assessing practices of the Canada Revenue Agency (“CRA”) 
published in writing and publicly available prior to the date hereof. This summary takes into account all specific 
proposals to amend the Tax Act that have been publicly announced by or on behalf of the Minister of Finance (Canada) 
prior to the date hereof (the “Proposed Amendments”) and assumes the Proposed Amendments will be enacted in 
the form proposed. No assurance can be given that the Proposed Amendments will be enacted in the form proposed, 
or at all. This summary does not otherwise take into account or anticipate any changes in law, whether by judicial, 
governmental or legislative decision or action or changes in the administrative policies or assessing practices of the 
CRA, nor does it take into account other federal or any provincial, territorial or foreign tax considerations, which may 
differ materially from those described in this summary. 

This summary is not applicable to a Holder (i) that is a “financial institution” for purposes of the mark-to-
market rules in the Tax Act (ii) an interest in which is a “tax shelter investment” (iii) that is a “specified financial 
institution” (iv) that reports its “Canadian tax results” in a currency other than the Canadian currency, or (v) that has 
entered, or will enter, into a “derivative forward agreement” with respect to the Offered Securities, each as defined in 
the Tax Act. Additional considerations, not discussed herein, may be applicable to a Holder of Offered Securities that 
is a corporation resident in Canada, and is, or becomes as part of a transaction or event or series of transactions or events 
that includes the acquisition of the Offered Securities, controlled by a non-resident corporation, non-resident individual 
or non-resident trust, or a group of any of the foregoing not dealing with each other at arm’s length, for purposes of the 
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“foreign affiliate dumping” rules in section 212.3 of the Tax Act. Such Holders should consult their own tax 
advisors.  

This summary is of a general nature only and is not intended to be, nor should it be construed to be, 
legal or tax advice to any particular Holder. This summary is not exhaustive of all Canadian federal income 
tax considerations. Accordingly, Holders are urged to consult their own legal and tax advisors with respect to 
the tax consequences to them of acquiring Offered Securities pursuant to the Offering, having regard to their 
particular circumstances. 

This summary is based upon the understanding of Counsel that a Subscription Receipt evidences a contractual 
right to acquire a Common Share on the satisfaction of certain conditions. No advance tax ruling in respect of the 
Offering has been sought from the CRA and Counsel is not aware of any judicial authority relating to this 
characterization. 

Holding and Disposing of Subscription Receipts 

Acquisition of Common Shares pursuant to terms of the Subscription Receipts 

A Holder of Subscription Receipts will not realize any capital gain or capital loss upon the acquisition of 
Common Shares pursuant to the terms of the Subscription Receipts. The cost of a Common Share received pursuant 
to a Subscription Receipt will generally be the total of (i) the amount paid to acquire the Subscription Receipt, (ii) the 
Holder’s pro rata share of interest credited or received on the Escrowed Funds that is included (and not deducted) in 
the Holder’s income and remitted to the Corporation upon the acquisition of the Common Shares issuable pursuant to 
the Subscription Receipts, less (iii) the aggregate of all Dividend Equivalent Payments (if any) received by or, in the 
event that the Dividend Equivalent Payment is received after the issuance of Common Shares pursuant to the 
Subscription Receipts, receivable by, the Holder out of the Escrowed Funds that are a partial refund of the subscription 
price for the Subscription Receipt and that reduce the cost to the Holder of the Subscription Receipt as described under 
“Holding and Disposing of Subscription Receipts –Dividend Equivalent Payment.”  

The adjusted cost base to a Holder of Common Shares issued pursuant to the Subscription Receipts at any 
time will be determined by averaging the cost of such Common Shares with the adjusted cost base immediately before 
that time of any other Common Shares owned by the Holder as capital property at such time. 

Other Dispositions of Subscription Receipts  

A disposition or deemed disposition by a Holder of a Subscription Receipt other than a disposition described 
above under “Holding and Disposing of Subscription Receipts—Acquisition of Common Shares pursuant to terms of 
the Subscription Receipts” or below under “Holding and Disposing of Subscription Receipts — Acquisition Failing 
to Close” will generally result in the Holder realizing a capital gain (or a capital loss) equal to the amount by which 
the proceeds of disposition received in respect of the Subscription Receipt exceed (or are less than) the aggregate of 
the adjusted cost base to the Holder thereof and any reasonable costs of disposition. Such capital gain (or capital loss) 
will be subject to the tax treatment described below under “Holding and Disposing of Common Shares—Taxation of 
Capital Gains and Capital Losses.”  

The cost to a Holder of a Subscription Receipt at any particular time will generally be the amount paid to 
acquire the Subscription Receipt less the aggregate of all Dividend Equivalent Payments received (if any) by the 
Holder at or before that time in respect of the Subscription Receipt that are a partial refund of the subscription price 
for the Subscription Receipt and that reduce the cost to the Holder of the Subscription Receipt as described under 
“Holding and Disposing of Subscription Receipts –Dividend Equivalent Payment.” The adjusted cost base of a 
Subscription Receipt acquired at any time will be determined by averaging the cost of such Subscription Receipt 
immediately before such time with the adjusted cost base of any other Subscription Receipts owned by the Holder as 
capital property at such time.  

Acquisition Failing to Close  

If a Termination Event occurs, the Subscription Receipt Agent will pay to each holder of Subscription 
Receipts, an amount equal to (i) the aggregate issue price of such holder’s Subscription Receipts, plus (ii) such holder’s 
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pro rata share of the Earned Interest and Deemed Interest, less any applicable withholding taxes (the “Termination 
Payment”). Because 50% of the Underwriters’ Fee will be paid by the Corporation to the Underwriters on the Offering 
Closing Date, neither such amount nor the Deemed Interest will form part of the Escrowed Funds. Therefore, the 
aggregate amount that holders of the Subscription Receipts shall be entitled to receive from the Subscription Receipt 
Agent will be greater than the aggregate amount of the Escrowed Funds. In the event that the gross proceeds of the 
Offering are required to be remitted to purchasers of the Subscription Receipts, the Corporation has agreed to and 
undertaken to pay the Subscription Receipt Agent an amount equal to 50% of the Underwriters’ Fee plus the Deemed 
Interest such that 100% of the gross proceeds of the Offering, plus any Earned Interest and Deemed Interest, would 
be returned to purchasers of Subscription Receipts.  

The repayment of the issue price of the Subscription Receipt out of the Escrowed Funds as a consequence of 
the occurrence of a Termination Event will generally result in the Holder realizing a capital gain (or a capital loss) 
equal to the amount by which the proceeds of disposition received in respect of the Subscription Receipt exceed (or 
are less than) the aggregate of the adjusted cost base to the Holder thereof and any reasonable costs of disposition. 
Any part of the Termination Payment that represents the Holder’s pro rata share of the Earned Interest will be, and of 
the Deemed Interest should be, excluded from the Holder’s proceeds of disposition of the Subscription Receipt. The 
cost to a Holder of a Subscription Receipt at any particular time will generally be the amount paid to acquire the 
Subscription Receipt. The adjusted cost base of a Subscription Receipt at any time will be determined by averaging 
the cost of such Subscription Receipt immediately before such time with the adjusted cost base of any other 
Subscription Receipts owned by the Holder as capital property at such time. Such capital gain (or capital loss) will be 
subject to the tax treatment described below under “Holding and Disposing of Common Shares—Taxation of Capital 
Gains and Capital Losses.”  

Any part of the Termination Payment that represents Earned Interest will be, and Deemed Interest should be, 
required to be included in the income of the Holder as described below under “Holding and Disposing of Subscription 
Receipts—Pro Rata Share of Interest.” 

Pro Rata Share of Interest 

If a Termination Event occurs, a portion of the Termination Payment paid to a Holder will be comprised of 
the Holder’s pro rata share of the Earned Interest and Deemed Interest, if any. 

A Holder that is a corporation, partnership, unit trust or any trust of which a corporation or a partnership is a 
beneficiary will be required to include in computing its income for a taxation year the amount of any interest accrued 
or deemed to be accrued to the Holder to the end of the Holder’s taxation year, or that is receivable or received by the 
Holder before the end of that taxation year, except to the extent that such interest was included in computing the 
Holder’s income for a preceding taxation year. This will include the Holder’s pro rata share of the Earned Interest and 
should include the Holder’s pro rata share of the Deemed Interest, whether or not such amounts are received or 
receivable by such Holder or by the Subscription Receipt Agent on behalf of such Holder. 

Any other Holder, including an individual, will be required to include in computing income for a taxation 
year such interest that is receivable or received by the Holder or by the Subscription Receipt Agent on behalf of the 
Holder in that taxation year, depending on the method regularly followed by the Holder in computing income, except 
to the extent that such interest was included in computing the Holder’s income for a preceding taxation year. This will 
include the Holder’s pro rata share of the Earned Interest and should include the Holder’s pro rata share of the Deemed 
Interest, whether or not such amounts are received or receivable by such Holder or by the Subscription Receipt Agent 
on behalf of such Holder. 
 
Dividend Equivalent Payment 

As described above under “Description of the Subscription Receipts”, if the Escrow Release Conditions are 
satisfied and the Acquisition Closing Time occurs on or prior to the Acquisition Outside Time, and if a dividend is 
declared by the Corporation on the Common Shares to holders of record on a date during the period from and including 
the Offering Closing Date up to but not including the Acquisition Closing Date, the Holders of Subscription Receipts 
will be entitled to receive an amount equal to the amount of such dividend and referred to herein as the Dividend 
Equivalent Payment. Such Dividend Equivalent Payment will be satisfied (i) first, by way of a pro rata share of 
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interest credited or received on the Escrowed Funds, and (ii) second, out of the Escrowed Funds, as a refund of a 
portion of the subscription price for the Subscription Receipt, and in any case will be paid net of applicable withholding 
taxes. 

The amount of such interest will generally be included in the income of the Holder as described under 
“Holding and Disposing of Subscription Receipts – Pro Rata Share of Interest.” If the amount of interest credited or 
received on the Escrowed Funds is less than the Dividend Equivalent Payment, an amount will be paid by the 
Subscription Receipt Agent out of the Escrowed Funds to the Holder up to the amount of any shortfall as a partial 
refund of the subscription price for the Subscription Receipt. Such refund amount generally will not be included in 
the Holder’s income and should reduce the cost of the Subscription Receipt and the Common Share to the Holder.  

For greater certainty, the Dividend Equivalent Payment will not be treated as a dividend for the purposes of 
the Tax Act and no part of such payment will benefit from the gross-up and dividend tax credit rules normally 
applicable in respect of taxable dividends received by individuals from “taxable Canadian corporations” (as defined 
in the Tax Act). Where the Dividend Equivalent Payment is received by a corporation, the amount will not be 
deductible in computing the corporation’s taxable income and will not result in the requirement to pay a tax of 38 
1/3% under Part IV of the Tax Act that is refundable in certain circumstances. 

Holding and Disposing of Common Shares 

Disposition of Common Shares 

A disposition or a deemed disposition of a Common Share by a Holder will generally result in the Holder 
realizing a capital gain (or a capital loss) equal to the amount by which the proceeds of disposition of the Common 
Share exceed (or are less than) the aggregate of the adjusted cost base to the Holder thereof, immediately before the 
disposition or deemed disposition, and any reasonable costs of disposition. Such capital gain (or capital loss) will be 
subject to the tax treatment described below under “Holding and Disposing of Common Shares—Taxation of Capital 
Gains and Capital Losses.” 

Taxation of Capital Gains and Capital Losses 

Generally, one-half of any capital gain (a “taxable capital gain”) realized by a Holder in a taxation year 
must be included in the Holder’s income for the year. Subject to and in accordance with the Tax Act, one-half of any 
capital loss (an “allowable capital loss”) realized by a Holder in a taxation year must be deducted from taxable capital 
gains realized by the Holder in the year of disposition. Allowable capital losses in excess of taxable capital gains 
realized in a taxation year generally may be carried back and deducted in any of the three preceding taxation years or 
carried forward and deducted in any subsequent taxation year, to the extent and under the circumstances described in 
the Tax Act. 

The amount of any capital loss realized by a Holder that is a corporation on the disposition of a Common 
Share may be reduced by the amount of dividends received or deemed to be received by it on such Common Share 
(or on a share for which the Common Share has been substituted) to the extent and under the circumstances described 
by the Tax Act. Similar rules may apply where a Holder that is a corporation is a member of a partnership or a 
beneficiary of a trust that, directly or indirectly through a partnership or trust, owns Common Shares.Such Holders 
should consult their own tax advisors in this regard.  

Receipt of Dividends on Common Shares 

Dividends received or deemed to be received on Common Shares held by a Holder will be included in 
computing the Holder’s income for the purposes of the Tax Act. Such dividends received by a Holder who is an 
individual (other than certain trusts) will be subject to the gross-up and dividend tax credit rules in the Tax Act 
normally applicable to “taxable dividends” received from taxable Canadian corporations, including the enhanced 
gross-up and dividend tax credit in respect of dividends designated by the Corporation as eligible dividends in 
accordance with the provisions of the Tax Act. There may be limitations on the ability of the Corporation to designate 
dividends as eligible dividends. 
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A Holder that is a corporation will include such dividends in computing its income and generally will be 
entitled to deduct the amount of such dividends in computing its taxable income. In certain circumstances, 
subsection 55(2) of the Tax Act will treat a taxable dividend received or deemed to be received by a Holder that is a 
corporation as proceeds of disposition or a capital gain. Holders that are corporations are urged to consult their own 
tax advisors having regard to their particular circumstances. 

A Holder that is a “private corporation” or “subject corporation” (as such terms are defined in the Tax Act) 
may be liable under Part IV of the Tax Act to pay a tax of 38⅓%, that is refundable in certain circumstances, of 
dividends received or deemed to be received on the Common Shares to the extent such dividends are deductible in 
computing the Holder’s taxable income.  

Additional Refundable Tax 

A Holder that is a “Canadian-controlled private corporation” (as defined in the Tax Act) may also be liable 
to pay an additional 10 ²/3% tax, that is refundable in certain circumstances, on its “aggregate investment income”, 
which generally includes interest income and taxable capital gains. 

Alternative Minimum Tax 

Capital gains realized and dividends received or deemed to be received by a Holder that is an individual or a 
trust, other than certain specified trusts, may give rise to alternatives minimum tax under the Tax Act. Such Holders 
should consult their own tax advisors in this regard. 

RISK FACTORS 

Any investment in the Subscription Receipts offered hereby and the underlying Common Shares issuable in 
satisfaction thereof, is subject to certain risks. Prospective investors should carefully consider the risks described 
below, which are qualified in their entirety by reference to, and must be read in conjunction with, all the other 
information contained in this short form prospectus and in the documents incorporated by reference herein, including 
those risk factors included in the AIF, Annual MD&A and Interim MD&A, before purchasing Subscription Receipts. 
The risks and uncertainties described in this short form prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference 
herein are those that Xebec currently believes to be material, but they are not the only risks it faces. If any of the 
following risks, or any other risks and uncertainties that Xebec has not yet identified or that it currently considers not 
to be material, actually occur or become material risks, Xebec’s business, prospects, financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows, and consequently, the price of the Subscription Receipts and Common Shares could be 
materially and adversely affected. In all these cases, prospective investors could lose all or part of their original 
investment in the Subscription Receipts. 

 
Risks Related to the Acquisition 

General Risks Relating to the Acquisition, the Inmatec Acquisition and the LOI Acquisition 
 

Although Xebec is conducting due diligence in connection with the Acquisition, the Inmatec Acquisition and 
its acquisitions generally, including the LOI Acquisition and the vendors have, or will, provide a number of 
representations and warranties in favour of Xebec in connection with these acquisitions, an unavoidable level of risk 
remains regarding any undisclosed or unknown liabilities of, or issues concerning, the acquired entities. Following 
the closing of any of these acquisitions, Xebec may discover that it has acquired substantial undisclosed liabilities or 
that certain of the representations made by the vendors were untrue. There can be no assurance of recovery by Xebec 
from the W&I Insurance Policy or from the vendors for any breach of the representations, warranties or covenants 
provided, or to be provided, by the vendors under the applicable acquisition agreements because there can be no 
assurance that the amount and length of such insurance coverage or of the indemnification obligations will be sufficient 
to satisfy such obligations, or that the vendors will have any assets or continue to exist. Xebec’s inability to claim for 
full indemnification from the vendors could have a material and adverse effect on Xebec. 
 

The Purchase Agreement and the acquisition agreement for the Inmatec Acquisition contain, and Xebec 
expects and will require that the acquisition agreement entered into in respect of the LOI Acquisition, will contain, 
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representations and warranties of the vendors of the applicable properties. Such vendors, and/or parties related thereto 
have or will, subject to certain qualifications, generally agreed to indemnify Xebec from, among other things: (i) 
claims or losses relating to the breach of such representations or warranties; and (ii) the failure of the applicable vendor 
to perform covenants under the applicable acquisition agreements. Xebec will have limited recourse against the 
vendors and other related parties in connection with these acquisitions, as any claim for breach of a representation and 
warranty will be subject to the limitations, exceptions and qualifications in the applicable acquisition agreement, 
including that a claim must be made before the expiry of a specified period. There is no assurance that any particular 
vendor will be sufficiently capitalized or otherwise able to satisfy any particular claim. As a result, Xebec may not be 
able to collect all or a portion of any indemnity claim it may have against the relevant vendor. The sole remedy of 
Xebec is through any indemnities provided, or to be provided, to Xebec by the applicable vendors under the acquisition 
agreements in respect of a breach of the representations and warranties in the applicable agreement and the above 
mentioned insurance, which, even in the aggregate, may be insufficient to cover all costs and as such, could materially 
adversely affect the business, results of operations and financial condition of Xebec. The Purchase Agreement and the 
acquisition agreement for the Inmatec Acquisition are, and Xebec expects that the acquisition agreement entered into 
in respect of the LOI Acquisition will be, subject to a number of closing conditions. 
 
Integration of HyGear’s Business, the Inmatec Acquisition and LOI Acquisition 
 

Although Management believes that the operations of HyGear and Xebec can be successfully integrated, as 
well as the operations relating to the the Inmatec Acquisition and LOI Acquisition, there can be no assurance that this 
will be the case. Xebec could face impediments in its ability to implement its integration strategy. The integration 
process may also require substantial attention from Management and divert its focus and resources from other strategic 
opportunities and from operational matters. 

 
Specifically, the successful integration and management of Xebec and HyGear as a combined entity is subject 

to numerous risks that could adversely affect the Corporation’s growth and profitability, including: (i) the risk that 
Management may not be able to successfully manage HyGear’s operations, (ii) the risk that Xebec’s operational, 
financial and management systems may be incompatible with, or inadequate to effectively integrate and manage 
systems acquired from HyGear, (iii) the risk that the Acquisition may require financial resources that could otherwise 
be used in the development of other aspects of Xebec’s business, (v) the risk that the integration process may result in 
the disruption of Xebec’s and HyGear’s ongoing business and customer and employee relationships, (vi) the risk that 
HyGear may not obtain the consents required under agreements entered into with third parties, (vii) the risk that the 
integration process may result in operational problems, costs, expenses, liabilities, including loss of contracts and 
customers, and (viii) the risk that key management or employees of Xebec and of HyGear may not be retained or may 
leave following the Acquisition, which could have a significant impact on the combined entity’s operations, 
specifically if such departures were to occur in positions or roles which require significant technical and operational 
knowledge and for which qualified replacement personnel is scarce. The successful integration of the Acquisition will 
also require cooperation between the employees of Xebec and HyGear and is subject to the risk that personnel from 
HyGear’s and Xebec’s existing business may not be able to work together successfully, which could adversely impact 
the Corporation’s business, financial condition and results of operations. The Inmatec Acquisition is subject to 
substantially similar risks, and Xebec expects the LOI Acquisition to be subject to substantially similar risks.  
 

Xebec’s future financial performance depends in part upon its ability to effectively combine the operations 
of the acquired business into its existing operations and achieve identified cost savings and other synergies. If it is 
unable to identify and correct operational or financial weaknesses in the acquired business or to achieve the projected 
cost savings, its operating results and cash flows could be negatively impacted. Failure to expand operational systems 
and controls or to integrate appropriate personnel at a pace consistent with its growth could also adversely affect its 
operating results. 
 
Possible Failure to Realize Anticipated Benefits of the Acquisition, the Inmatec Acquisition and the LOI Acquisition 
 

As described under the headings “Acquisition Rationale”, the Corporation believes that the Acquisition will 
provide certain benefits to the Corporation. Achieving the benefits of the Acquisition will depend in part on the 
Corporation successfully consolidating functions and integrating operations, procedures and personnel in a timely and 
efficient manner, as well as on Xebec’s ability to realize the opportunities from combining HyGear’s businesses and 
operations with those of Xebec. A variety of factors, including the risk factors set forth in this short form prospectus 
and the documents incorporated by reference herein, may also adversely affect the likelihood of the anticipated 
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benefits of the Acquisition materializing for the Corporation or from occurring within the time periods anticipated by 
the Corporation. Moreover, even if Xebec is able to integrate HyGear’s business and operations successfully, this 
integration may not result in the realization of the full benefits that the Corporation currently expects within the 
anticipated time frame or at all. Further, while the Corporation anticipates that certain expenses will be incurred, such 
expenses are difficult to estimate accurately, and may exceed current estimates. Accordingly, the benefits from the 
proposed Acquisition may be offset by unexpected costs incurred or delays in integrating HyGear, which could cause 
the Corporation’s financial and operation assumptions with respect to the Acquisition to be inaccurate. Xebec also 
believes that the the Inmatec Acquisition and LOI Acquisition will be subject to substantially the same risks and 
assumptions.  
 
Possible Failure to Achieve the Full Amount of Anticipated Cost Synergies 
 

Although Management anticipates some cost synergies to be achieved over a period of time following the 
Acquisition, the Inmatec Acquisition and the LOI Acquisition, there can be no cetainty the Corporation will achieve 
these cost synergies over time, or at all In addition, expenses required to realize the synergies and the sources of the 
synergies could differ materially from Management expectations and Xebec cannot assure investors that the 
Corporation will achieve any level of cost synergies.  
 
Failure to Close the Acquisition, the Inmatec Acquisition or the LOI Acquisition, or Change in the Terms of the 
Acquisition or the LOI Acquisition 
 

The closing of the Offering, the Concurrent Private Placement, the Acquisition, the Inmatec Acquisition 
and the LOI Acquisition are subject to the satisfaction of the conditions described in this short form prospectus and 
may not be completed on the terms negotiated or at all. 
 

 
The closing of each of the Offering and the Over-Allotment Option is subject to, among other conditions, no 

Termination Event having occurred and the Underwriters not having exercised specified termination rights provided 
in the Underwriting Agreement prior to the Offering Closing or the closing date of the Over-Allotment Option, as 
applicable. However, this does not prevent the Corporation to agree to amend or waive certain provisions of the 
Purchase Agreement (such as the Purchase Price) without the consent of the Subscription Receipt holders, including 
as a result of events which are beyond the Corporation’s control, provided that such amendment or waiver (i) prior to 
the Offering Closing or the closing date of the Over-Allotment Option, as applicable, may not give rise to a termination 
right by the Underwriters under the Underwriting Agreement (see “Plan of Distribution”), or (ii) after the Offering 
Closing or the closing date of the Over-Allotment Option, as applicable, must comply with the Escrow Release 
Conditions contained in the Subscription Receipt Agreement. 

 
The Subscription Receipts will be exchanged for Common Shares at the Acquisition Closing Time once all 

of the Escrow Release Conditions are satisfied, which include the satisfaction or waiver of all conditions to the 
Acquisition in all material respects in accordance with the terms of the Purchase Agreement (other than the payment 
of the Purchase Price pursuant to the Purchase Agreement and such conditions precedent that by their nature are to be 
satisfied at the Acquisition Closing), without material amendment or waiver which would result in a material adverse 
effect to the Corporation, unless the consent of the Underwriters is given to such amendment or waiver, and without 
the prior occurrence of a Termination Event. There can be no assurance that the Acquisition will not be completed on 
terms different from those contemplated in this short form prospectus or that the Escrow Release Conditions will be 
satisfied on or prior to the Acquisition Closing Time and the Acquisition Outside Time. Until the Acquisition Closing 
Time occurs, and the Common Shares are delivered pursuant to the Subscription Receipt Agreement, holders of 
Subscription Receipts have the rights described under “Description of the Subscription Receipts”.  
 

If the Offering Closing or the Acquisition Closing do not take place as contemplated, the Corporation could 
suffer adverse consequences, including the loss of investor confidence or the payment of a termination fee. If a 
Termination Event occurs, the subscription for underlying Common Shares represented by each Subscription Receipt 
shall be automatically terminated and cancelled and holders of the Subscription Receipts will receive an amount equal 
to the full purchase price of each Subscription Receipt held, together with their pro rata portion of the Earned Interest, 
if any, and Deemed Interest, less applicable withholding taxes. 
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Xebec Does Not Currently Own HyGear and No Assurance of HyGear’s Future Performance Can Be 
Given 
 

Although the Purchase Agreement contains certain covenants on the part of HyGear regarding the operation 
of its business prior to the Acquisition Closing, the Corporation will not control HyGear until completion of the 
Acquisition and HyGear’s business and results of operations may be adversely affected by events that are outside of 
the Corporation’s control during the intervening period. HyGear’s historic and current performance may not be 
indicative of success in future periods. HyGear’s future performance may be influenced by, among other factors, 
economic downturns, price of natural resources, competition and other factors beyond the control of the Corporation. 
As a result of any one or more of these factors, HyGear’s operations and financial performance may be negatively 
affected, which could adversely affect the business, results of operations and financial condition of the Corporation. 
 
Potential Undisclosed Costs or Liabilities Associated with the Acquisition 
 

Following the Acquisition, the Corporation will be responsible for most historical liabilities of HyGear. 
Although the Corporation has conducted what it believes to be a prudent level of investigation in connection with the 
Acquisition, there may be liabilities and contingences that the Corporation failed to discover or was unable to quantify 
in its due diligence which it conducted prior to entering into the Purchase Agreement and which could have a material 
adverse effect on the Corporation’s business and financial condition. Only certain of these events may entitle Xebec 
to claim indemnification under the Purchase Agreement and even if indemnification is available, it may not offset 
such liabilities and contingencies.  
 

In connection with the Acquisition, the Corporation has subscribed to the W&I Insurance Policy, with 
coverage of up to EUR 20,000,000 ($31,060,000). Although the Corporation subscribed to such policy, the 
representation and warranty insurance policy is subject to certain exclusions and limitations. In addition, there may be 
circumstances for which the insurer may elect to limit such coverage or refuse to indemnify the Corporation or 
situations for which the coverage provided under the representation and warranty insurance policy may not be 
sufficient or applicable. The existence of any undisclosed liabilities and the Corporation’s inability to claim 
indemnification from the seller or the provider of the representation and warranty insurance policy could have a 
material adverse effect on the Corporation.  
 

The discovery of any material liabilities, or the inability to obtain full indemnification for such liabilities, 
could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s business, financial condition, prospects and/or results of 
operations. 

 
The Inmatec Acquisition is subject to substantially the same risks. 
 
To the extent the LOI Acquisition becomes subject to a definitive binding agreement, the LOI Acquisition 

would be subject to substantially the same risks.  
 
Historical and Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information May Not Be Representative of the Corporation’s 
Results as a Combined Entity 
 

The pro forma consolidated financial information included in this short form prospectus is compiled from 
the consolidated financial statements of the Corporation and from the HyGear annual financial statements and does 
not purport to be indicative of the financial information that will result from operations of the combined entity, nor 
does it reflect the Inmatec Acquisition or the LOI Acquisition. In addition, the pro forma consolidated financial 
information included in this short form prospectus is based in part on certain assumptions regarding the Acquisition 
that the Corporation believes are reasonable. No assurance can be given that the Corporation’s assumptions will prove 
to be accurate over time. Accordingly, the historical and pro forma consolidated financial information included in this 
short form prospectus does not purport to be indicative of what the Corporation’s results of operations and financial 
condition would have been had it been a combined entity during the periods presented, or what the Corporation’s 
results of operations and financial condition will be in the future. The challenge of integrating previously independent 
businesses makes evaluating the Corporation’s business and future financial prospects difficult. The Corporation’s 
potential for future business success and operating profitability must be considered in light of the risks, uncertainties, 
expenses and difficulties typically encountered by recently combined companies. 
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In preparing the pro forma consolidated financial information in this short form prospectus, the Corporation 
has had limited access to the books and records of HyGear and is not in a position to independently assess or verify 
the information provided by HyGear, including the HyGear annual financial statements that were used to prepare the 
unaudited pro forma consolidated financial information. Additionally, the Corporation has given effect to estimates 
and certain assumptions in preparing such pro forma consolidated financial information. While Management believes 
that the estimates and assumptions underlying the pro forma consolidated financial information are reasonable, such 
assumptions and estimates may be materially different from the Corporation’s actual experience going forward 
following the Acquisition.  
 
Information provided by HyGear 
 

Some of the information relating to HyGear in this short form prospectus has been based on information 
made available to the Corporation by HyGear as part of the due diligence undertaken for the purposes of the 
Acquisition and upon information made publicly available by HyGear. While the Corporation, after conducting due 
diligence that it believes to be a prudent level of investigation, believes it to be accurate in all material respects, there 
can be no assurance regarding the accuracy and completeness of such information. While the Corporation has no 
reason to believe the information provided in this short form prospectus in relation to HyGear is misleading, untrue 
or incomplete, there are risks and uncertainties in including in this short form prospectus information obtained from 
third parties, including with respect to facts or circumstances that would affect the completeness or accuracy of such 
information and which are unknown to the Corporation. 
 
Exchange Rate Risk at Closing 
 

The Acquisition Closing is expected to occur on the Acquisition Closing Date. The Corporation anticipates 
funding a portion of the Purchase Price from sources of funds certain of which are denominated in Canadian dollars; 
however, the Purchase Price is denominated in Euros. A significant decline in the value of the Canadian dollar relative 
to the Euro could increase the cost to the Corporation of funding the Purchase Price, thereby adversely affecting the 
business and financial condition of the Corporation. 
 
Risks Related to the Post-Acquisition Business and Operations of Xebec and HyGear 
 
A mass hydrogen economy market, which is one of the addressable markets of HyGear, may fail to grow at anticipated 
rates or may not develop at all 

A mass market may never develop for hydrogen fuel cells or other hydrogen-powered energy generators, or 
such markets may develop more slowly than anticipated. Engines which require hydrogen (i.e., the hydrogen fuel cell 
engine, the hydrogen-powered ICE and the hydrogen-hybrid electric system) represent an emerging market, and 
HyGear does not know whether end users will use such products in masses. The development of a mass market for 
hydrogen infrastructure products and/or hydrogen fuel may be affected by many factors, some of which are not under 
our control, including the following: 

• The emergence of new, more competitive technologies and products in the hydrogen infrastructure 
industry, such as more advanced electrolysis or other technologies; 

• The use of alternative low emission technologies, such as vehicles powered by batteries; 
• The future cost of hydrogen fuel cells and other powertrains that use HyGear’s hydrogen infrastructure; 
• If a hydrogen fuel distribution infrastructure is built, the fuel delivered through it, both due to the cost of 

the delivery system and the cost of the fuel itself, may have a higher price than drivers are willing to pay; 
• If drivers are unable to obtain hydrogen fuel conveniently and affordably, a mass market for vehicles 

powered by hydrogen is unlikely to develop; 
• The future cost of hydrogen applications; 
• Consumer perceptions of the safety of hydrogen. 
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Competitive products may reduce demand of HyGear’s product 

The market for industrial gases and hydrogen for transport applications is extensive and has a number of other 
large players – both national and international – who can be seen as direct competitors of HyGear. There is a risk that 
these competitors will be more successful at developing new technology that may outpace HyGear’s current and future 
offerings.  

HyGear’s success depends largely on the ability to keep products current and compatible with evolving 
technologies and codes and standards. Unexpected changes in technology or in codes and standards could disrupt the 
development of HyGear’s products and prevent from meeting deadlines for the delivery of products. If HyGear is 
unable to keep pace with technological advancements and adapt products to new codes and standards in a timely 
manner, HyGear’s products may become uncompetitive or obsolete and revenues would suffer. 

HyGear is exposed to risks related to conducting operations in several different countries  

HyGear is active worldwide with an emphasis on Europe and South-East Asia. The political and economic 
stability in the different countries where activities take place can vary greatly. The manifestation of various 
circumstances may affect, among others, HyGear’s clients operating there, which in turn may adversely affect the 
demand for HyGear’s products.  

An uncertain factor is the influence of politics. Political risks include risks related to the stability and legitimacy 
of political institutions, orderly succession of political leaders, transparency in economic decision-making, national 
security, international sanctions and geopolitical risks. Because HyGear is active in different parts of the world, this 
can have negative consequences for ongoing projects. It can also make it more difficult to start new projects (in certain 
regions).  

Loss of key personnel could result in lower knowledge base and reduce HyGear’s competitive advantage 

HyGear’s continuity depends on the specific knowledge and experience of the members of the management team. 
The loss of a director or a member of the management team can mean that specific knowledge and experience is lost. 
Furthermore, HyGear’s distinctive character is mainly based on its technological advantage over competitors. This 
knowledge is spread over the organization and often also available to more people. The disappearance of a specific 
knowledge carrier at any time can have negative effects on business operations. 

Suppliers and/or clients of HyGear could fail to honor contractual obligations as a result, for example, of bankruptcy 

It is possible that companies and their affiliates that supply parts to HyGear do not deliver while HyGear has paid 
advances. Such payments occur when ordering large parts such as process reactors or gas storage installations. This 
could cause delay in production of installations ordered by clients, and therefore, could result in breach of customer 
contracts and potential penalties. To limit this risk, HyGear works with suppliers with a track record in the market.   

Furthermore, HyGear’s GaaS clients who sign long-term contracts could become insolvent, which would lead in 
failure to honor contractual obligations towards HyGear.  

Relying on a limited number of clients to generate a significant portion of future revenues 

Inherent to the nature of the projects for local production of industrial gases is that the number of customers is 
limited and the turnover per project and per customer is relatively large. Particularly in the case where HyGear itself 
invests in the installation and is paid for the supply of gas, the effect of the loss of a customer can have negative effects 
on business operations and its financial position. This will mainly be the case when the installation cannot be deployed 
at another client within the foreseeable future.  

HyGear could be exposed to legal claims from customers as a result of product malfunction or accident, which could 
harm HyGear’s reputation with a long-term effect 

The hydrogen production plants of HyGear are designed for a service life of approximately fifteen years. It has 
not yet been demonstrated that the installations can actually serve their full life at the expected maintenance costs.  
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Furthermore, in an unfortunate event of system failure, accident, or supply of faulty product to a customer, 
HyGear will likely suffer reputational risk with potential long-term effects. This risk is even greater because HyGear’s 
client base has large presence in their respective markets.  

Loss of key suppliers for critical parts could impede HyGear’s potential to honor contractual obligations 

HyGear is dependent on suppliers for components and sub-modules. In most cases key components are available 
from multiple sources, but in some cases the number of suppliers is limited, for example for catalysts and adsorbents. 
The (temporary) disappearance of such suppliers may occur and lead to production and maintenance problems for the 
organization. These production and maintenance problems can have an impact on the operations and, ultimately, the 
financial results of the operations. 

Furthermore, HyGear often takes responsibility for supply security of hydrogen in the GaaS contracts, and 
arranges back-up supply from local gas distributors in case of failure or peak demand. If local distributors decide not 
to enter or cancel contracts with HyGear for the storage of gases at certain locations, HyGear may not be able to accept 
the projects or it may reduce the profitability of the projects, because gases could be supplied at a greater distance, 
and therefore at higher cost to HyGear.  

Risk of changes in governmental policies could affect HyGear’s ability to obtain subsidy grants for Research & 
Development 

HyGear is characterized by a great effort in the field of technological innovation. Up to now, HyGear has been 
very successful in acquiring development and subsidy grants from the European and Dutch governments.  

The sudden fall-out (for example, by recovery from the grant provider) or by no longer being able to successfully 
acquire such subsidies from the Dutch or European governments can have a negative effect on cash flows and will 
probably have a negative impact on the operating result because the research costs (especially personnel costs) cannot 
be reduced in the short-term as fast. In addition, the elimination of subsidies can have a negative effect on the further 
innovation within HyGear and maintain a competitive edge. 

Risk of dealing with multiple currencies as HyGear expands its sales efforts across geographies 

So far, almost all contracts have been concluded in Euro. With further internationalization, contracts may be 
concluded in other currencies, which entails a currency risk. Especially for long-term gas supply contracts, HyGear 
will always have to weigh the currency risk against the costs of hedging these risks. In both cases, this can have 
consequences for the long-term results of such projects and therefore for the financial position of HyGear. If these 
currency risks are not hedged and manifest themselves or if the hedging of currency risks can only take place at very 
high costs, it can have a negative impact on both the business operations and the financial position of HyGear. 

Risk of interruption in the operations of HyGear’s manufacturing facilities 

Operational risks include, among other things, fire and explosions, severe weather and natural disasters (such as 
flood and hurricanes), lack of water supply, equipment failure (including any failure of its information technology, air 
conditioning, cooling and compressor systems), failure to comply with applicable regulations and standards, raw 
material supply disruptions and labor force shortages or work stoppages.  

Any disruption of HyGear’s manufacturing processes could result in delivery delays, scheduling problems, 
increased costs, interruption of the production or even lead to a full cessation of production, which in turn may result 
in customers deciding to purchase products from other suppliers.  

A lack of internal manufacturing capacity could also result in monetary penalties from customers and/or in loss 
of key contracts or new business opportunities. The resulting loss of revenue and impact on HyGear’s margin, goodwill 
and customer relationships could be significant.  

If HyGear fails to hire and retain needed personnel, the implementation of the business plan could slow 

Competition for highly-skilled technical, sales, marketing and support personnel is intense because there are a 
limited number of people available with the necessary technical skills, knowledge of the hydrogen generation industry 
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and understanding of HyGear’s markets. Any failure to attract, assimilate, train or retain qualified personnel to fulfill 
HyGear’s current or future needs could slow implementation of the business plan or slow future growth. 

Failure to adequately protect HyGear’s intellectual property could negatively affect HyGear’s ability to grow and 
compete with other players on the market 

HyGear’s ability to compete effectively is largely dependent on the maintenance and protection of its intellectual 
property. Despite precautions, it may be possible for a third party to copy or otherwise obtain and use HyGear’s 
proprietary technology without authorization. Policing unauthorized use of intellectual property is difficult. The steps 
HyGear takes may not prevent misappropriation of its intellectual property, and the agreements HyGear enters into 
may not be enforceable. Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce or protect HyGear’s intellectual property 
rights. Also, HyGear may become subject to intellectual property litigation that could, among other things, be time-
consuming and costly, impede or prevent delivery of products and services, and require payment of significant 
royalties and damages. 

Changing local (weather) conditions could negatively affect the performance of the systems and require further cost 

It is now known that the operation of the on-site production systems can depend on local conditions, including 
natural gas quality, air pressure, temperature, air pollution and water quality. In the future, it could happen that 
installations (even those that work well initially) will not be able to meet their specifications and expectations under 
specific local (weather) conditions, or that the performance of the installations will deteriorate more quickly as a result 
of these local (weather) conditions. The consequences of poorer performance can lead to higher warranty and 
maintenance costs. In certain cases, HyGear could be held liable by its customers and depending on the outcome of 
one or more lawsuits, could be obliged to pay compensation for any damages in this regard.  

HyGear’s insurance may not be sufficient to cover potential hazards 

HyGear carries insurance that it considers adequate with regard to the nature of the risks and costs of coverage. 
HyGear may not, however, be able to obtain insurance against certain risks or for certain products or other resources 
located from time to time in certain areas of the world. HyGear is not fully insured against all possible risks, nor are 
all such risks insurable. Although HyGear maintains insurance for a certain coverage, such coverage may not be 
adequate. 

Risk of changes in tax legislation could adversely affect HyGear’s profitability 

HyGear applies for the innovation box on the basis of Article 12b of the Corporate Income Tax Act 1969 of the 
Netherlands. On this basis, the revenues from innovative activities are ultimately taxed at an effective rate of 5% 
corporate tax. HyGear’s effective tax rate for 2020 is currently under negotiation with the Dutch tax authorities. The 
statutory corporate tax rate in the Netherlands is 25%. The legislation on the innovation box could change, which 
could negatively affect the after-tax operating results of HyGear.  

Raw material cost increases or shortages could adversely affect HyGear’s success 

As a manufacturer, HyGear’s sales and profitability are dependent on the availability and cost of raw materials, 
which are subject to price fluctuations and volatility. The principal raw materials used by HyGear to manufacture its 
products are stainless steel, precious metals, activated carbon and natural gas. HyGear also procures vessels, containers 
and other large pieces of equipment that are integrated in the systems. 

The price of stainless steel and the other raw materials used is a function of supply and demand, suppliers’ capacity 
utilization, industry and consumer sentiment and prices for crude oil, natural gas and other raw materials. Additionally, 
as a result of operating manufacturing facilities, the fuels necessary to power HyGear’s facilities and operations, such 
as electricity and natural gas constitute a significant portion of its cost of sales. Inflationary and other increases in the 
costs of raw materials and energy prices have occurred in the past and are expected to recur, and HyGear’s performance 
depends in part on its ability to reflect changes in costs in selling prices for its products. 
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Risks Related to the Offering 

Market for Securities  

There is currently no market through which the Subscription Receipts may be sold and purchasers may not 
be able to resell Subscription Receipts purchased under this short form prospectus. There can be no assurance that an 
active trading market will develop for the Subscription Receipts after completion of the Offering, or if developed, that 
such a market will be sustained at the price level of the Offering. To the extent that an active trading market for the 
Subscription Receipts does not develop, the liquidity and trading prices of the Subscription Receipts may be adversely 
affected.  

The TSXV has conditionally approved the listing of the Subscription Receipts and the Common Shares 
issuable pursuant to the exchange of the Subscription Receipts on the TSXV. Such listing is subject to the Corporation 
fulfilling all of the requirements of the TSXV. 

 The market price for the Subscription Receipts and the Common Shares issuable pursuant to the Subscription 
Receipts may be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to numerous factors, many of which are beyond 
the Corporation’s control. These broad market fluctuations may adversely affect the market price of the Subscription 
Receipts and the Common Shares issuable thereunder. 

Use of Proceeds of the Offering 
 

Xebec currently intends to allocate the net proceeds received from the Offering and the Concurrent Private 
Placement as described under “Use of Proceeds” in this short form prospectus. Management will, however, have 
discretion in the actual application of the net proceeds, and may elect to allocate proceeds differently from that 
described in “Use of Proceeds” if it is believed it would be in the best interests of Xebec to do so. The failure by 
management to apply these funds effectively could have a material adverse effect on the business of Xebec. 
 
Volatile Market Price  

The market price for the Subscription Receipts and the Common Shares issuable pursuant to the Subscription 
Receipts may be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to numerous factors, many of which are beyond 
the Corporation’s control. These broad market fluctuations may adversely affect the market price of the Subscription 
Receipts and the Common Shares issuable thereunder.  

The Concurrent Private Placement may not be Completed  

Although the Corporation has entered into the Subscription Agreement with CDPQ, there is no guarantee 
that all of the conditions to the completion of the Concurrent Private Placement will be satisfied.  

Completion of the Concurrent Private Placement is subject to a number of conditions, including the approval 
of the TSXV and the concurrent Offering Closing. Completion of the Offering is conditional upon the concurrent 
closing of the Concurrent Private Placement. However, the Underwriters, have the ability to waive such condition if 
the Concurrent Private Placement does not close, in which case, the Offering could close without the concurrent 
closing of the Concurrent Private Placement.  

In those circumstances, the Corporation will not have access to the aggregate net proceeds from the 
Concurrent Private Placement that does not close, but would have access to the net proceeds from the Offering, which 
would allow Xebec to complete the Acquisition, but would limit the use of proceeds described under “Use of 
Proceeds”, including as they relate to future acquisitions (including the LOI Acquisition), and may adversely impact 
Xebec’s ability to complete planned investments and its overall financial condition. 

Escrowed Funds  

The gross proceeds from the Offering (less 50% of the Underwriters’ Fee), together with any Earned Interest, 
will be held in escrow from the Offering Closing Date until the earlier of the delivery of the Escrow Release Notice 
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and Direction and the Termination Date. There can be no assurance that the conditions for the release of the Escrowed 
Funds will be satisfied on or prior to the Termination Date.  

Since 50% of the Underwriters’ Fee will be paid by the Corporation to the Underwriters on the Offering 
Closing Date from the gross proceeds of the Offering, neither such amount nor the Deemed Interest will form part of 
the Escrowed Funds. Therefore, the aggregate amount that holders of the Subscription Receipts shall be entitled to 
receive from the Subscription Receipt Agent in the event that the Escrow Release Conditions are not satisfied prior to 
the occurrence of a Termination Event will be greater than the aggregate amount of the Escrowed Funds. In the event 
that the gross proceeds of the Offering are required to be remitted to purchasers of the Subscription Receipts, the 
Corporation has agreed to and undertaken to pay the Subscription Receipt Agent an amount equal to 50% of the 
Underwriters’ Fee plus the Deemed Interest such that 100% of the gross proceeds of the Offering, plus the Earned 
Interest and the Deemed Interest, would be returned to purchasers of Subscription Receipts.  

Holders of Subscription Receipts will be required to rely on the Corporation to repay such funds as sufficient 
amounts will not be held in escrow. Although the Corporation believes that if either of these scenarios were to occur, 
it would have sufficient funds to cover such payments, there is no guarantee that the Corporation would be in a 
financial position to cover such payments.  

Dilutive Effects on Holders of Common Shares  

The issuance of Common Shares in connection with the exchange of the Subscription Receipts and the 
Placement Subscription Receipts will have a dilutive effect on the holders of Common Shares. 

Risk Factors Related to the Corporation 

No Guarantee of a Positive Return in an Investment 

There is no guarantee that an investment in the Subscription Receipts or the underlying Common Shares will 
earn any positive return in the short term or long term. An investment in Subscription Receipts involves a high degree 
of risk and should be undertaken only by investors whose financial resources are sufficient to enable them to assume 
such risks and who have no need for immediate liquidity in their investment. An investment in Subscription Receipts 
is appropriate only for investors who have the capacity to absorb a loss of some or all of their investment. 

Use of Net Proceeds 

The Corporation currently intends to allocate the net proceeds to be received from this Offering, along with 
the net proceeds to be received from the Concurrent Private Placement, as described under the heading, “Use of 
Proceeds.” However, management will have discretion in the actual application of the net proceeds, and may elect to 
allocate net proceeds differently from that described under the heading “Use of Proceeds” if it believes it would be in 
the Corporation’s best interest to do so. The Corporation’s security holders, including holders of the Common Shares, 
may not agree with the manner in which management chooses to allocate and spend the net proceeds. The failure by 
management to apply these funds effectively could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s business. 

Negative Cash Flow from Operations 

The Corporation had negative cash flow from operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2019, and 
the nine months ended September 30, 2020. The Corporation cannot guarantee if it will have positive or negative cash 
flow from operating activities in future periods. The Corporation cannot assure that it will achieve sufficient revenues 
from sales to achieve or maintain profitability or positive cash flow from operating activities. If the Corporation does 
not achieve or maintain profitability or positive cash flow from operating activities, then there could be a material 
adverse effect on the Corporation’s business, financial condition and results of operation and the Corporation may 
need to deploy a portion of its working capital to fund such negative operating cash flows or seek additional sources 
of funding. 
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Xebec operates in regions which may subject it to higher risks associated with complying with laws in respect of 
economic sanctions 

The U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control, or OFAC, administers a series of 
laws that impose economic sanctions against hostile targets to further U.S. foreign policy and national security 
objectives. These laws restrict U.S. persons and, in some instances, non-U.S. persons from conducting activities, 
transacting business with or making investments in certain countries, governments, entities and individuals subject to 
U.S. economic sanctions. The Middle East is a key area of risk where persons and entities operating seemingly 
reputable business may be on a sanctions list. Accordingly, the activities of Xebec and its affiliates may subject them 
to elevated levels of scrutiny under applicable sanctions laws. If such activities or transactions, whether or not material, 
are found to violate applicable sanctions or other trade controls, Xebec may be subject to potential fines or other 
sanctions and reputational risk, any of which could have a material adverse effect. 

Xebec may not realize the anticipated benefits from joint ventures, investments or acquisitions 

 Xebec’s joint ventures, and any future joint venture, investment or acquisition, could expose the Corporation 
to certain liabilities, including those that it fails or is unable to identify during the investment or acquisition process. 
In addition, joint ventures and acquisitions often result in difficulties in integration, and, if such difficulties were to 
occur, they could adversely affect our results. Xebec have historically and may, in the future, seek to expand our 
business through acquisitions, investments and/or joint ventures. Any such transactions will be in part dependent on 
management’s ability to identify, acquire and develop suitable acquisition targets in both new and existing markets. 
In certain circumstances, acceptable acquisition targets might not be available. Acquisitions, specifically, involve a 
number of risks including: (i) the possibility that Xebec, as a successor owner, may be legally and financially 
responsible for liabilities of prior owners; (ii) the possibility that Xebec may pay more than the acquired company or 
assets are worth; (iii) the additional expenses associated with completing an acquisition and amortizing any acquired 
intangible assets; (iv) the difficulty of integrating the operations and employees of an acquired business; (v) the 
challenge of implementing uniform standards, controls, procedures and policies throughout an acquired business; (vi) 
the inability to integrate, train, retain and motivate key employees of an acquired business; and (vii) the potential 
disruption of our ongoing business and the distraction of management from our day-to-day operations. These risks 
and difficulties, if they materialize, could disrupt our ongoing business, distract management, result in the loss of key 
human capital, increase expenses and otherwise have a material adverse effect on Xebec’s business, results of 
operations and financial performance. 

COVID-19 may further disrupt the business of the Corporation. 

Since December 2019, governments worldwide have been enacting emergency measures to combat the 
spread of disease caused by the novel coronavirus known as COVID-19. In response to the outbreak, governmental 
authorities in Canada and internationally have introduced various recommendations and measures to try to limit the 
COVID-19 pandemic, which include the implementation of travel bans, self-imposed quarantine periods and physical 
distancing, all of which have caused material disruption to business globally and resulted in an economic slowdown. 
Although management believes that, at this time, these disruptions will not have a long-term adverse impact on the 
Corporation’s results from operations, Xebec cannot estimate the duration and severity of this outbreak and its 
financial impact. However, the Corporation is able to function with reduced staffing and work remotely. The ultimate 
extent of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Corporation’s business, financial condition, results of 
operations, cash flows and prospects will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be 
predicted, including new information that may emerge concerning the severity of the COVID-19 pandemic and actions 
taken to contain or prevent its further spread, among others. Any of the foregoing events could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects.  

In addition, the continued impact of COVID-19 may have adverse impacts on the Corporation, including, 
among others: 

• continued disruptions and volatility in the global capital markets, which may increase cost of capital and 
adversely impact access to capital; 

• continued impacts on workforces throughout the regions in which COVID-19 is present, which may 
result in our workforce being unable to work effectively; 
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• supply chain disruptions; and 

• impacts that are currently unpredictable. 

We continue to work with our stakeholders to responsibly address the global pandemic. We continue to 
monitor the situation, to assess further possible implications to our business, customers and clients and to take actions 
in an effort to mitigate adverse consequences.  

MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

The material contracts and other instruments entered into by, to be entered into by, or to become binding 
upon, Xebec or its subsidiary entities in connection with the Acquisition, the Offering and the Concurrent Private 
Placement are as follows: 

• the Purchase Agreement referred to under “Details of the Acquisition”; 

• the Subscription Receipt Agreement referred to under “Description of the Subscription Receipts”; 

• the Underwriting Agreement referred to under “Plan of Distribution”; and 

• the Subscription Agreement referred to under “Concurrent Private Placement”. 

Copies of the foregoing agreements, once filed on the Corporation’s SEDAR profile at www.sedar.com, may 
be inspected during regular business hours at the offices of Xebec at 730 boulevard Industriel, Blainville, Québec, 
Canada, J7C 3V4, telephone: (450) 979-8700, until the expiry of the 30-day period following the date of this short 
form prospectus, and are also available electronically at www.sedar.com. 

INTERESTS OF EXPERTS 

Certain legal matters in connection with the securities offered hereby will be passed upon by Osler, Hoskin 
& Harcourt LLP on behalf of the Corporation and by Stikeman Elliott LLP on behalf of the Underwriters. The partners 
and associates of Osler, Hosking & Harcourt LLP, as a group, and of Stikeman Elliott LLP, as a group, each 
beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, less than 1% of the outstanding securities of the Corporation or any associated 
party or affiliate of the Corporation. 

Raymond Chabot Grant Thornton LLP are independent auditors with respect to the Corporation and related 
companies within the meaning of the relevant rules and related interpretations prescribed by the relevant professional 
bodies in Canada and any applicable legislation or regulation. 

Flynth Audit B.V. are independent auditors with respect to HyGear and related companies under within the 
meaning of the relevant rules and related interpretations prescribed by the relevant professional bodies in the 
Netherlands and any applicable legislation or regulation. 

AUDITORS, REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT 

The auditor of the Corporation is Raymond Chabot Grant Thornton LLP, a partnership of chartered 
professional accountants, located at National Bank Tower, 600 de la Gauchetière Street West, Suite 2000, Montréal, 
Québec, H3B 4L8. Raymond Chabot Grant Thornton LLP has confirmed that it is independent of the Corporation 
within the meaning of the Code of Ethics of Chartered Professional Accountants (Québec). 

The transfer agent and registrar for the Common Shares is AST Trust Company (Canada), at its principal 
office in Montréal, Québec. 

http://www.sedar.com/
http://www.sedar.com/
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PURCHASER’S STATUTORY RIGHTS OF WITHDRAWAL AND RESCISSION 

Securities legislation in certain of the provinces of Canada provides purchasers with the right to withdraw 
from an agreement to purchase securities. This right may only be exercised within two business days after receipt or 
deemed receipt of a prospectus and any amendment thereto. In several of the provinces, securities legislation further 
provides the purchaser with remedies for rescission or, in some jurisdictions, revisions of the price of damages if the 
prospectus and any amendment contain a misrepresentation or is not delivered to the purchaser, provided that such 
remedies for rescission, revisions of the price or damages are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit 
prescribed by the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province. 

Under the Subscription Receipt Agreement, original purchasers of Subscription Receipts under the Offering 
will have a contractual right of rescission against the Corporation following the issuance of the Common Shares to 
such purchaser upon the exchange of the Subscription Receipts. The contractual right of rescission will entitle original 
purchasers to receive the amount paid for the Subscription Receipts upon surrender of the Subscription Receipts or 
the Common Shares, as applicable, in the event that this short form prospectus (including the documents incorporated 
by reference herein) and any amendment contain a misrepresentation, as such term is defined in the Securities Act 
(Québec), provided that the exchange of the Subscription Receipts takes place within 180 days of the date of the 
purchase of the Subscription Receipts under this short form prospectus, and the right of rescission is exercised within 
180 days of the date of purchase of the Subscription Receipts. This contractual right of rescission will be consistent 
with the statutory right of rescission described under section 217 of the Securities Act (Québec), and is in addition to 
any other right or remedy available to original purchasers under section 217 of the Securities Act (Québec) or 
otherwise at law. Original purchasers are further advised that in certain provinces of Canada the statutory right of 
action for damages in connection with a misrepresentation in a short form prospectus is limited to the amount paid for 
the Subscription Receipts that were purchased under this short form prospectus. 

A purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province 
for the particulars of these rights or consult with a legal advisor. 

ENFORCEMENT OF JUDGMENTS AGAINST FOREIGN PERSONS 

Certain of our directors, namely Dr. Prabhu Rao and Joseph H. Petrowski are directors of the Corporation 
and reside outside of Canada. Each of them has appointed the Corporation as agent for service of process in Canada. 
Purchasers are advised that it may not be possible for investors to enforce judgments obtained in Canada against any 
person or corporation that is incorporated, continued or otherwise organized under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction 
or resides outside of Canada, even if the party has appointed an agent for service of process. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To: The shareholders and supervisory board of Green Vision Holding B.V. 

Report on the audit of the consolidated IFRS financial statements 2019  

Our opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements 2019 in accordance with IFRS of 
Green Vision Holding B.V. based in Arnhem. 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view 
of the financial position of Green Vision Holding B.V. as at 31 December 2019 and of its 
result and its cash flows for 2019 in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS).  
The consolidated financial statements comprise:  
1. the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019  
2. the following statements for 2019: 

the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the 
consolidated statements of changes in equity and cash flows; and  

3. the notes comprising a summary of the significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.  

 
Basis for our opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on 
Auditing and International Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the ‘Our responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements’ section of our report.  
We are independent of Green Vision Holding B.V in accordance with the Wet toezicht 
accountantsorganisaties (Wta, Audit firms supervision act), Verordening inzake de 
onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-opdrachten (ViO, Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants, a regulation with respect to independence) and other relevant 
independence regulations in the Netherlands. Furthermore we have complied with the 
Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics). 
We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 
 
Emphasis of matter on impact COVID-19 in Subsequent events 
The Coronavirus also impacts Green Vision Holding B.V. In the ‘Subsequent events’ (note 
24 to the financial statements) management describes the impact of the Corona virus and 
the measures to deal with the events and circumstances. Furthermore management notes 
that it is difficult to assess the current impact of the Corona virus on the company and the 
financial position of the company, and uncertainty remains. Our opinion is not modified in 
respect of this matter. 
 
 

 

 

  



 

 

Description of responsibilities regarding the consolidated financial 
statements 
Responsibilities of management and the supervisory board for the consolidated 
financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with IFRS. Furthermore, management is responsible for 
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error. 
As part of the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, management is 
responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Based on 
the financial reporting framework mentioned, management should prepare the consolidated 
financial statements using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either 
intends to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to 
do so.  
Management should disclose events and circumstances that may cast significant doubt on 
the company’s ability to continue as a going concern in the consolidated financial 
statements.  
The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the company's financial reporting 
process. 
 
Our responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
Our objective is to plan and perform the audit engagement in a manner that allows us to 
obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence for our opinion.   
Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means 
we may not detect all material errors and fraud during our audit.  
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. The materiality affects 
the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and the evaluation of the effect of 
identified misstatements on our opinion.  
We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional skepticism 
throughout the audit, in accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing and International 
Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and independence requirements. Our audit 
included among others:  
▪ identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, designing and performing audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control; 

▪ obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control; 

▪ evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management; 

▪ concluding on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting, and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 



 

 

auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause a company to cease to 
continue as a going concern;  

▪ evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures; and  

▪ evaluating whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Because we are ultimately responsible for the opinion, we are also responsible for directing, 
supervising and performing the group audit. In this respect we have determined the nature 
and extent of the audit procedures to be carried out for group entities. Decisive were the size 
and/or the risk profile of the group entities or operations. On this basis, we selected group 
entities for which an audit or review had to be carried out on the complete set of financial 
information or specific items.  
We communicate with the supervisory board regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant findings 
in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

Arnhem, December 5, 2020 
Flynth Audit B.V.  

signed on the original 

drs. J.W.M. Verhagen RA CISA
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Consolidated statement of financial position 
As at December 31, 2019 and 2018 and January 1, 2018 
Expressed in Euro  
 

  2019  2018  As at January 
1, 2018 

 Notes €  €  € 
Assets       
       
Current assets       
Cash and cash equivalents 6 3,591,677  3,201,298  2,007,615 
Prepayments  564,117  865,343  205,543 
Contract assets 7 2,611,234  355,633  77,141 
Receivables 7 2,522,887  2,958,038  2,622,531 
Current portion of finance lease receivables 8 155,645  75,463  57,378 
Inventories 9 798,742  149,243  298,409 
Other current financial assets  6,894  8,874  1,497 
Total current assets  10,251,196  7,613,892  5,270,114 

       
Non-current assets       
Non-current portion of finance lease receivables 8 3,601,206  1,646,857  1,722,320 
Right-of-use assets 8 2,302,022  1,950,308  2,213,857 
Property, plant and equipment 11 13,268,853  10,546,385  6,807,184 
Intangible assets 12 1,704,622  603,713  9,327 
Total non-current assets  20,876,703  14,747,263  10,752,688 

       
Total assets  31,127,899  22,361,155  16,022,802 

       
Liabilities       
       
Current liabilities       
Trade and other payables 13 1,543,769  1,353,764  1,262,164 
Contract liabilities  542,893  969,898  217,807 
Current portion of long-term debt 14 322,118  179,162  104,941 
Current portion of lease liabilities 8 323,016  218,054  215,423 
Government grants  1,494,364  1,584,632  1,445,240 
Total current liabilities  4,226,160  4,305,510  3,245,575 

       
Non-current liabilities       
Long-term debt 14 18,347,238  10,798,050  4,901,515 
Non-current portion of lease liabilities 8 2,050,995  1,780,380  1,998,434 
Provisions 3 -  -  380,129 
Net employee defined benefit liabilities 15 -  761,636  790,316 
Deferred tax liabilities 10 238,700  111,834  112,550 
Total non-current liabilities  20,636,933  13,451,900  8,182,944 

       
Total liabilities  24,863,093  17,757,410  11,428,519 

       
Equity       
Share capital 16 21,853  21,853  21,853 
Other components of equity  4,602,790  4,313,497  4,648,027 
Cumulative translation adjustment  13,868  3,494  - 
Retained earnings  1,626,295  264,901  (75,597) 
Total equity  6,264,806  4,603,745  4,594,283 

       
       
Total equity and liabilities  31,127,899  22,361,155  16,022,802 
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income 
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 
Expressed in Euro  
 

     
  2019  2018 

 Notes €  € 

Revenue from contracts with customers 18 9,018,337  3,931,572 
Government grants  2,366,694  1,802,857 
Total income  11,385,031  5,734,429 

     
     
Direct material costs  5,643,989  1,821,322 
Subcontracting and other external costs  170,087  164,841 
Salaries, wages and temporary workers  1,611,972  1,404,362 
Social security contribution  608,838  580,679 
Post-employment benefit costs 15 (644,595)  91,033 
Amortisation and depreciation  908,940  762,582 
Other operating expenses 19 1,309,321  712,032 
Capitalised expense  (742,117)  (742,473) 
Total expenses  8,866,435  4,794,378 

Operating profit  2,518,596  940,051 

     
Finance costs 20 (965,367)  (551,692) 
Finance income  65,401  41,829 
Profit before tax   1,618,630  430,188 

Income tax expense 10 (126,866)  (42,865) 
     
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders  1,491,764  387,323 

     
Other comprehensive income     
Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to 
profit or loss in subsequent periods: 

    

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations, 
net of tax 

 10,374  3,494 

Net other comprehensive income that may be 
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods 

 10,374  3,494 

Other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified to 
profit or loss in subsequent periods: 

    

Return on plan assets (excluding interest income)  151,855  (77,583) 
Actuarial (gains) / losses  (282,225)  30,758 
Net other comprehensive income that will not be 
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods 

 (130,370)  (46,825) 

Other comprehensive income for the year  (119,996)  (43,331) 

Total other comprehensive income for the year, net of 
tax attributable to equity holders 

 1,371,768  343,992 

     
Earnings per share 21    

Basic earnings per share  €0,35  €0,09 
Diluted earnings per share  €0,35  €0,09 
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 
Expressed in Euro  

      

 Notes Issued 
ordinary 

share 

Issued 
cumulative 

preferred 
share 

Share 
premium 
ordinary 

Share 
premium Cum 

Pref 

Exchange 
difference 

foreign 
entities 

Other 
reserves 
Ordinary 

Retained 
earnings 

Total 
equity 

  € € € € € € € € 
As at January 1, 2018  21,843 10 2,780,331 360,800 - 1,506,896 (75,597) 4,594,283 

Profit for the year  - - - - - - 387,323 387,323 
Other comprehensive income  - - - - 3,494 - (46,825) (43,331) 
Total comprehensive income  - - - - 3,494 - 340,498 343,992 

Stock dividend via placement 
of repurchased certificates of 
ordinary shares 

16 - - - - - 41,077 - 41,077 

Shares-based payments 17 - - - - - 79,067 - 79,067 

Dividend distribution 2018 16 - - - - - (454,674) - (454,674) 
As at December 31, 2018  21,843 10 2,780,331 360,800 3,494 1,172,366 264,901 4,603,745 

          
      

 Notes Issued 
ordinary 

share 

Issued 
cumulative 

preferred 
share 

Share 
premium 
ordinary 

Share 
premium Cum 

Pref 

Exchange 
difference 

foreign 
entities 

Other 
reserves 
Ordinary 

Retained 
earnings 

Total 
Equity 

  € € € € € € € € 
As at December 31, 2018  21,843 10 2,780,331 360,800 3,494 1,172,366 264,901 4,603,745 

Profit for the year  - - - - - - 1,491,764 1,491,764 
Other comprehensive income  - - - - 10,374 - (130,370) (119,996) 
Total comprehensive income  - - - - 10,374 - 1,361,394 1,371,768 

Shares-based payments 17 - - - - - 22,926 - 22,926 
Issue of warrant 14 - - - - - 266,367 - 266,367 
As at December 31, 2019  21,843 10 2,780,331 360,800 13,868 1,461,659 1,626,295 6,264,806 
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 
Expressed in Euro  
 

     
  2019  2018 

 Notes €  € 
Operating activities     
     
Profit before tax for the year  1,618,630  430,188 
Items not affecting cash     
           Amortisation and impairment of property, plant   
           and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets 

8-11-12 908,940    762,582 

           Capitalized interest expense 11-12 62,235    - 
           Share-based payment payments 17 22,926    79,067 
           Movements in provisions  -    (380,129) 
           Movements in net employee defined benefit liabilities 15 (895,139)  (95,513) 
           Movements in expected credit loss provision for finance  
           lease receivables  

8            9,827    - 

           Gain on finance lease receivable 8    (671,529)    - 
           Gain on lease modification 8  (27,017)    - 
           Net foreign exchange differences  548           - 
           Finance costs 20  965,367    551,692 
           Finance income  (65,401)   (41,829) 
Working capital adjustments     

Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables, contracts 
assets, prepayments and other current financial assets 

 (1,165,052)  (1,281,176) 

Decrease/(increase) in inventories  (603,425)  149,166 
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other payables, 
contract liabilities and government grants   

 (327,268)  983,083 

  (166,358)  1,157,131 
Interest received  40,023  28,481 
Interest paid  (1,029,700)  (662,968) 
Income tax paid  -  (43,581) 
Net cash flows from operating activities  (1,156,035)  479,063 

     
Investing activities     
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 11 (5,019,900)  (4,156,655) 
Acquisition of intangible assets 12 (1,002,670)  (531,333) 
Proceeds from finance lease principal portion  81,292  57,378 
Net cash flows used in investing activities  (5,941,278)  (4,630,610) 

     
Financing activities     
Repayment of long-term debt  (160,576)  (74,238) 
Proceeds from long-term debt  7,938,771  6,044,994 
Dividends paid to shareholders 16 -  (413,597) 
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities  (300,877)  (215,423) 
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities  7,477,318  5,341,736 

     
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  380,005  1,190,189 
Net foreign exchange difference  10,374  3,494 
Cash and cash equivalents at January 1  3,201,298  2,007,615 
Cash and cash equivalents at December 31 6 3,591,677  3,201,298 
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Notes to the Consolidated financial statements  
1. Nature of business 

 
The operations of Green Vision Holding B.V., registered with the Chamber of Commerce under number 
810587798, with its statutory seat in Arnhem and its group companies (“the Group”) located at 
Westervoortsedijk 73 6827 AV in Arnhem, The Netherlands, are mainly comprised of:  

- Piloting for third parties; Fast cycle from development, design of modules, construction of pilot plant 
to commissioning and testing. 
- Development and manufacturing of on-site hydrogen generators based on steam reforming 
technology. 
- Development and manufacturing of fuel cell products. 

 
Sales are made in both the domestic and foreign markets. 
 

2. Basis of preparation and statement of compliance 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). These are the Group’s first consolidated financial statements 
prepared in accordance with IFRSs and IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting 
Standards has been applied. These consolidated financial statements do not purport to be the statutory 
financial statements of the Group. The significant accounting policies are set out in Note 3. 

For all periods up to and including the year ended December 31, 2019, the Group prepared its statutory 
financial statements in accordance with the statutory provisions of Part 9, Book 2, of the Dutch Civil Code 
and the firm pronouncements in the Guidelines for Annual Reporting in the Netherlands as issued by the 
Dutch Accounting Standards Board. These financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 are 
the first the Group has prepared in accordance with IFRS. Refer to Note 27 for information on how the 
Group adopted IFRS. 
 
The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors  
on December 5, 2020.  
 
Basis of consolidation 
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Green Vision Holding B.V. and its 
subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the company. Control is achieved when the company:  

• has power over the investee;  
• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and  
• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.  

 
Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this presumption 
and when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group 
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:  

• The contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee  
• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements 
• The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights 

 
The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the 
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to 
control the subsidiary. 
 
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 
transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including 
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goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling interest and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss 
is recognised in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognised at fair value. 
 
Basis of measurement 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for where 
IFRS requires recognition at fair value. The consolidated financial statements are presented in euros and 
all values are rounded to the nearest EUR (€), except when otherwise indicated.  
 
Going concern 
The directors have, at the time of authorising the financial statements for issue, a reasonable expectation 
that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
Thus, they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements.  
Refer to Note 24 for additional disclosure on the impact of Covid-19.  
 

3. Significant accounting policies 
 
Cash and cash equivalents  
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of financial position and consolidated statements 
of cash flows comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term deposits held at call with maturities of 3 
months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts are shown 
within borrowings in current liabilities on the consolidated statement of financial position. Cash and cash 
equivalents are stated at face value.  

Inventories  
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value.  

Cost for each category of inventories is determined as follows:  
− Raw materials: Purchased cost on a first-in/first-out basis 
− Assemble parts: cost of direct materials and labour and a proportion of manufacturing overheads 

based on the normal operating capacity. 

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs necessary to 
make the sale. Inventories are recorded net of any obsolescence provision.  

Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Assets under construction are not amortised.  

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition or manufacturing of  the asset, 
including borrowing costs capitalised in terms of the Group’s accounting policies. Manufacturing price is 
comprised of the cost of raw materials and consumables, plus expenditure directly attributable to an 
asset’s manufacturing and installation, including labour costs. Internal hours worked are capitalised at 
fixed rates that include coverage for indirect operating expenses, including premises and utilities 
expenses, selling and marketing expenses, transport expenses and general and administrat ive expenses.  

Subsequent costs, such as replacement of parts or major inspections, are included in the asset’s carrying 
amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic 
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost can be measured reliably. The present 
value of the expected cost for the decommissioning of an asset after its use is included in the cost of the 
respective asset if the recognition criteria for a provision are met. Repairs and maintenance costs are 
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income during the year in 
which they are incurred. 

Amortisation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their residual values over their useful 
lives. All assets have residual values of nil. The major categories of property, plant and equipment are 
amortised on a straight-line basis, with amortisation recognised in profit or loss. The useful lives are as 
follows: 
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Machinery and equipment  5 years  
Lease equipment 15 years 
Productive equipment  15 years 
Furniture and fixtures 5 years 
Transport equipment 5 to 10 years 

 

The Group allocates the amount initially recognized in respect of an item of property, plant and equipment 
to its significant components and amortises each such component separately. Residual values, method of 
amortisation and useful lives of the assets are reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate.  

An item of property, plant or equipment is derecognised upon disposal (date that the recipient obtains 
control) or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. 
The carrying amount of a replaced asset is derecognized when replaced. Gains and losses on disposals of 
property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset and are included as part of other gains and losses in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.  

Lessee accounting for leases 
The Group has lease contracts for two properties located in the Netherlands and Singapore. In addition, 
vehicles and equipment, such as trailers are also leased and used by the Group.  

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group 
recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in 
which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or 
less) and leases of low value assets. For these leases, the Group recognizes the lease payments as an 
operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is 
more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.  

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily 
determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:  
− Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives 

receivable; 
− Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate 

at the commencement date; 
− The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;  
− The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; 

and 
− Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option 

to terminate the lease. 

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the 
lease liability and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made. 

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right -of-
use asset) whenever: 

− The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in 
a change in the assessment of whether the Group is reasonably certain to exercise their option to 
extend the lease term, terminate early or purchase the leased asset.  In this case, the lease 
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate . 
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− The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment 
under a guaranteed residual value, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting 
the revised lease payments using an unchanged discount rate (unless the lease payments change 
is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used).  

− A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in 
which case the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by 
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the 
modification. 

 
The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease 
payments made at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial 
direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses and are adjusted for any remeasurements of lease liabilities. 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the right -of-use 
asset (as categorised in the PPE accounting policy).  

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of 
the lease liability and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the 
period in which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs and are included in the line 
“Other operating expenses” in the statement of profit or loss. 

As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and instead 
account for any lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The Group has not 
used this practical expedient. For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional 
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease 
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components. 

Lessor accounting for leases (Gas-as-a-Service (GaaS) revenue) 
As part of its normal business activities, the Group enters into lease contracts whereby gas generation 
technologies are manufactured and placed at customer premises in order for the customer to have on 
demand gas supply. Depending on the lease contracts, the Group either classifies the leases as operating 
or finance leases. 

To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers to the 
lessee substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership incidental to ownership of the underlying 
asset.  If this is the case, then the lease is a finance lease, if not, then it is an operating lease.  As part of 
this assessment, the Group considers certain indicators such as whether the lease term is for  the major 
part of the economic life of the assets. 

If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocate the 
consideration in the lease arrangement.  

Income from operating lease contracts is recognised using the straight-line method over the lease term. 
The income from these leases is presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss under revenue.  

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised at the amount of the Group’s net 
investment in the leases (finance lease receivables).  Finance lease income, presented within finance 
income, is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group ’s 
net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.  

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group reviews the estimated unguaranteed residual value and 
applies the expected credit loss model to recognise a provision on its finance lease receivables.  
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Intangible assets and research and development costs 
The Group’s intangible assets consist of capitalised development costs and software.  

Research and development costs 
Development costs comprise expenditure on design and production of new or substantially improved 
products and processes. Development costs are capitalised only if: 

− Development costs can be measured reliably; 
− The product or process is technically and commercially feasible; 
− Future economic benefits are probable; and 
− The Group intends to, and has, sufficient resources to complete development, and to use or sell 

the resulting asset.  

Expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, direct labour, and overhead costs that are directly 
attributable to preparing the asset for its intended use. Capitalisation of the development costs is initially 
done when the above criteria are met. Expenditure that does not meet the above criteria or incurred on 
development activities undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or techn ical knowledge and 
understanding is recognised in profit/loss as research costs as it is incurred.  

Amortisation on Development Costs is calculated from the date that the developed products and processes 
become commercially viable and are actively marketed to the Group’s customer base. Amortisation is 
calculated on a straight-line basis over the period of expected future benefit as stated below. 

Software 
Software licenses acquired are capitalised at acquisition cost and amortised over their estimated future  
useful lives. Expenditures that are attributable to the production of identifiable and unique software 
products controlled by the Group are capitalised. When internally produced, such assets are capitalised if 
future economic benefits are probable to flow from the asset, and the expenditure can be reliably 
measured. Costs associated with maintaining computer software and research expenditure are recognised 
in profit or loss as it is incurred.  

Amortisation   
Development costs 10 to 15 years 
Software  5 years 

The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with 
the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.  

Derecognition 
Intangible assets are derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from 
use or disposal of the assets. Gains or losses arising from derecognition are measured as the difference 
between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit/loss when the 
asset is derecognised. 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets 
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of and conditions surrounding its property, 
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication 
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount 
of the asset is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). The recoverable amount is 
the higher of fair value less cost of disposal and value in use. Where the asset does not generate cash 
flows that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash -
generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be 
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are 
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation 
basis can be identified. Refer to Note 24 for additional disclosure on the impact of Covid-19. 
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Provisions 
General provisions 
Provisions are recognised in payables when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, it is probable (more likely than not) that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. The expense relating to a provision is presented in the statement of profit or loss 
net of any reimbursement. 

Provisions are measured at management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the 
obligation at the end of the reporting year, considering the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current 
pre-tax rate that reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the 
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 

Assurance-type warranties 
A provision for maintenance warranties was recognised for expected warranty claims on products sold 
prior to January 1, 2018, based on experience of the level of repairs and returns. Assumptions used to 
calculate the provision for warranties were based on current sales levels and current information available 
about returns based on the warranty period for all products sold. All warranties covering the warranty cost 
for Hydrogen Generation Systems sold have expired during the year ended December 31, 2018. As a 
result of the fact that the warranty is expired the provision was released as at December 31, 2018.  

Contract balances  
Contract assets 
A contract asset is initially recognised for revenue earned from installation services because the receipt of 
consideration is conditional on successful completion of the installation. Upon completion of the installation  
and acceptance by the customer, the amount recognised as contract assets is reclassified to trade 
receivables. Contract assets are subject to impairment assessment, refer to the accounting policy on 
financial instruments.  
 
Contract liabilities 
A contract liability is recognised if a payment is received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from  
a customer before the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as  
revenue when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or 
services to the customer). A net position of contract asset or contract liability is determined for each 
contract. The cash flows in respect of advances and progress billings, are classified as cash flows from 
operating activities. 
 
Financial Instruments  
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s statement of financial position when 
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  

Classification 
Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as hedging instruments, are classified into the 
following categories: 

− Amortized cost 
− Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 
− Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 

The classification is determined by both, the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets  and 
the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. In the periods presented, the Group does 
not have any financial assets categorized as FVTPL or FVOCI. 
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Financial assets are measured at amortized cost if the asset meet the following conditions and are not 
designated as FVTPL: 

− They are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect 
its contractual cash flows 

− The contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

The Group’s financial assets classified as amortized cost include cash and cash equivalents, receivables , 
other current financial asset, and finance lease receivables.  

After initial recognition at fair value adjusted for transaction costs, they are measured at amortized costs 
using the effective interest method. Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. All 
income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognized in income or loss are presented 
within finance costs or finance income, except for impairment of trade receivables and finance lease 
receivables which is presented within other operating expenses. 

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value and where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs 
unless the Group designated a financial liability at fair-value through profit or loss. Subsequently, financial 
liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. All interest-related charges 
and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair value that are reported in income or loss are included 
within finance costs or finance income. 

The Group’s financial liabilities classified at amortized cost include trade, other payables, long-term debt 
and leases liabilities. 

Offsetting of financial instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement 
of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is 
an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 
 
Impairment of financial instruments 
On initial recognition and at each reporting date, the Group estimates expected credit losses for financial 
assets classified at amortized cost. These expected credit losses are measured using a historical credit 
loss experience matrix and are adjusted to reflect receivable-specific factors, general economic conditions, 
and an assessment of both the current and projected direction of economic conditions at the reporting 
date, including the time value of money, if applicable. The net change in expected credit losses on financial 
assets classified at amortized cost is recognized in profit or loss.  

In addition, an allowance for expected credit losses has been recognised on the finance lease receivables. 
The amount of expect credit loss for finance lease receivables is measured at the contract level as the 
probability weighted present value of all cash shortfalls over the expected life of the financial asset 
multiplied by the expected lifetime probability of default. The cash shortfall is the difference between all 
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group and all the cash flows that the group expects to receive. 
 
Income Taxes 
Income tax represents the sum of the current income tax and deferred tax. 

Current income tax  
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax 
as reported in profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible 
in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. Current income tax assets 
and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are  enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date in the countries where the Group operates and generates 
taxable income.  
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Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the 
statement of profit or loss. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with 
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes 
provisions where appropriate. 

Deferred tax  
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the 
computation of taxable profit. 

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.   

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:  
− When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability 

in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss  

− In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates 
and interests in joint arrangements, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences 
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future  

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused 
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry 
forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:  

− When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the 
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss  

− In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint arrangements, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the 
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and 
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised  

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred 
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are 
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will al low the deferred tax 
asset to be recovered.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.  

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred 
tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or d irectly in equity.  

The Group offsets deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable 
right to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax 
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or 
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to 
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant 
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.  
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Post-employment benefit costs 
Defined contribution retirement benefit 
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when employees 
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions. 
 
Defined benefit retirement benefit plans 
For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, the cost of providing benef its is determined using the 
Projected Unit Credit Method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at the end of each annual 
reporting period. For the allocation of the defined benefit obligation to service years, service years are 
taken into account from the start of the service of the employee with the Group. Remeasurements 
comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling (if applicable) and the return on plan 
assets (excluding interest) are recognised immediately in the statement of financial position with a charge 
or credit to other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Remeasurements recognised in 
other comprehensive income are not reclassified. Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss when the 
plan amendment or curtailment occurs, or when the Group recognises related restructuring costs, if earlier. 
Gains or losses on settlement of a defined benefit plan are recognised when the settlement occurs. Net 
interest is calculated by applying a discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. Defined benefit 
costs are split into three categories:  

• service costs, which includes current service cost, past service cost and gains and losses on 
curtailments and settlements; 

• net interest expense or income; and 
• remeasurements. 

The Group recognises service costs and net interest expense or income in profit or loss. The retirement 
benefit obligation recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position represents the deficit or 
surplus in the Group’s defined benefit plans. Any surplus resulting from this calculation is limited to the 
present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plans or reductions in 
future contributions to the plans. 
 
Share capital 
Share capital represents the amount received on the issue of shares, less issuance costs, net of any 
underlying income tax benefit from these issuance costs. If shares are issued when options and warrants 
are exercised, the share capital account also comprises the compensation costs previously recorded as 
other components of equity.  

Cash dividend 
The Group recognises a liability to pay a dividend when the distribution is authorised and the distribution is no 
longer at the discretion of the Group. A distribution is authorised when it is approved by the shareholders. A 
corresponding amount is recognised directly in equity. 
 
Revenue from contract with customers 
The Group is in the business of providing gasses to customers, developing and manufacturing of on-site gasses 
generators and installation, maintenance and support services. Revenue from contract with customers is 
recognised when control of the goods or services are transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The following 
revenue streams are applicable to the normal business activities of the Group: 

− Gas-as-a-Service (GaaS) revenue; 
− Product revenue; 
− Gasses generators and installation; and 
− Service and maintenance revenue. 

 
Gas-as-a-Service (GaaS) Revenue is addressed in lease section 

 
Product revenue comprises of the delivery of gasses to customers via traditional road transportation. The 
revenue from such transactions is recognised at a point of time when control transfers from the Group to 
the customer. Transaction prices are determined based on agreed upon fixed prices per volume ordered by 
customers. 
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Gasses generators and installation revenue comprises of the sale of assets which are manufactured based 
on customer specific needs and requirements. The Group consider these contracts as one performance 
obligation. The Group manufactures an asset which would have no alternative use in its completed state 
and the Group is entitled to receive consideration during the manufacturing period. Consideration received 
is not refundable to customers for as far as costs have been incurred during the manufacturing process. 
The Group recognises revenue over the time of the manufacturing process. Revenue is measured using 
the input method whereby revenue is recognised based on the pro rata cost incurred in relation to the total 
estimated cost to manufacture. The manufacturing process for an asset is estimated to be less than 12 
months based on experience. The Group therefore applies the practical expedient in IFRS 15.63 whereby 
an entity does not adjust the consideration to be received for the effects of a significant financing 
component. 

Service and maintenance revenue comprise of the after-sale maintenance and servicing of the asset which 
was transferred to the customer on an annual subscription contract. The service and maintenance revenue 
are a distinct stand ready performance obligation to provide an undefined quantity of services over the 
duration of the contract period. A portion of the transaction price is therefore allocated to the service and 
maintenance based on the stand-alone selling price of those services. Discounts are not considered as 
they are only given in rare circumstances and are never material. Revenue is recognised over-time over 
the duration of the contract period. 

Government grants 
Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received 
and all attached conditions will be complied with. The Group’s grants are related to expenses item, it is 
recognised as income on a systematic basis over the period that the related costs, for which it is intended 
to compensate, are expensed. Government grants as a compensation of expenses are deducted from the 
respective expense lines and government grants related to exploitation of R&D projects are presented as part of 
government grants under total income. 

Share-based payments 
Employees (including senior executives) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based 
payments, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments. The Group assesses 
whether share payment arrangements qualify as equity settled or cash settled. The cost of equity-settled 
transactions is determined by the fair value at the date when the grant is made using an appropriate valuation 
model, further details of which are given in Note 17. That cost is recognised in Salaries, wages and temporary 
workers, together with a corresponding increase in equity (other reserves ordinary), over the period in which the 
service and, where applicable, the performance conditions are fulfilled (the vesting period). The cumulative 
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the 
extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity 
instruments that will ultimately vest. The expense or credit in the statement of profit or loss for a period 
represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period. No 
expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/or service 
conditions have not been met. The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution 
in the computation of diluted earnings per share (further details are given in Note 21). 
 
Exchange differences 
The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in euros, which is also the parent company’s 
functional currency. For each entity, the Group determines the functional currency and items included in the 
financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.  
 
Transactions and balances  
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group’s entities at their respective functional 
currency spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition.  
 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency 
spot rates of exchange at the reporting date. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary 
items are recognised in profit or loss. 
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Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using 
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. 
 
In determining the spot exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income 
(or part of it) on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to advance 
consideration, the date of the transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non -
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there are multiple 
payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of 
advance consideration.  
 
Group companies  
On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into euros at the rate of 
exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their statements of profit or loss are translated at exchange 
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The exchange differences arising on translation for 
consolidation are recognised in Other Comprehensive Income (OCI). On disposal of a foreign operation, the 
component of OCI relating to that particular foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss.  
 
Borrowing costs 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily 
takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost 
of the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they occur. Borrowing costs 
consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.  
 
Value-added tax (VAT) 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of VAT, except: 

• where VAT incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority, in which case, VAT is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part 
of the expense item, as applicable; 

• receivables and payables are stated with the amount of VAT included. 
 
The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of 
receivables or payables in the statement of financial position. 

Current versus non-current classification  
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on current/non-current 
classification.  
 
An asset is current when it is:  

• expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle;  
• held primarily for the purpose of trading;  
• expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period;  

or  
• cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at 

least twelve months after the reporting period.   
 
All other assets are classified as non-current.   
 
A liability is current when:  

• it is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle;  
• it is held primarily for the purpose of trading;  
• it is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period;  

or  
• there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after 

the reporting period.  
 
The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as 
non-current assets and liabilities. 
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Future accounting changes 
The following amendments to standards have been issued and are applicable to the Group for its annual 
periods beginning on January 1, 2020 and thereafter, with an earlier application permitted (there are other 
new/amended standards that are not expected to have an impact on the Group):  
 
IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements and to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors Definition of Material  
Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial statements, [“IAS 1”] and to IAS 8, Accounting Policies, 
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors [“IAS 8”] are intended to make the definition of material in 
IAS 1 easier to understand and is not intended to alter the underlying concept of materiality in IFRS 
Standards. The concept of “obscuring” material information with immaterial information has been included 
as part of the new definition. The threshold for materiality influencing users has been changed from “could 
influence” to “could reasonably be expected to influence”. The definition of material in IAS 8 has been 
replaced by a reference to the definition of material in IAS 1. There is no anticipated impact of these 
amendments on its consolidated financial statements. 
 
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions Amendment to IFRS 16 
In May 2020, the IASB issued Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions (Amendment to IFRS 16) that provides 
practical relief to lessees in accounting for rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of COVID-
19, by introducing a practical expedient to IFRS 16. The practical expedient permits a lessee to elect not to 
assess whether a COVID-19-related rent concession is a lease modification. A lessee that makes this 
election shall account for any change in lease payments resulting from the COVID-19-related rent 
concession the same way it would account for the change applying IFRS 16 if the change were not a lease 
modification. 
The practical expedient applies only to rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of COVID-19 
and only if all of the following conditions are met: 

a) The change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially 
the same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change; 
b) Any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021 
(a rent concession meets this condition if it results in reduced lease payments on or before 30 June 
2021 and increased lease payments that extend beyond 30 June 2021); and 
c) There is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.  

The amendment applies to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2020. There is no anticipated 
impact of these amendments on its consolidated financial statements. 
 
IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements  
In January 2020, the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) amended IAS 1 Presentation of 
Financial Statements in order to establish a more general approach to the classification of liabilities based 
on an analysis of the existing contracts at the reporting date. The amendments apply to fiscal years 
beginning on or after January 1, 2023. The Group is currently assessing the estimated impact of these 
amendments on its consolidated financial statements. 
 
IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment 
In May 2020, the IASB amended IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment to modify the accounting treatment 
of the net proceeds from the sale of items produced up until the time the property, plant and equipment is 
in the condition necessary to be operated in the manner intended by management. These proceeds will be 
accounted for in accordance with the other applicable standards instead of reducing the cost  of the 
property, plant and equipment. The amendments apply to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 
2022. The Group is currently assessing the estimated impact of these amendments on its consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
Interest rate benchmark reform 
In August 2020, as part of the interest rate benchmark reform project, the IASB amended the following 
standards: IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and 
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts and IFRS 16 Leases. These 
amendments concern the impacts of the transition to new benchmark rates. They include simplification 
measures and additional disclosures. The amendments apply to fiscal years beginning on or after January 
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1, 2021. The Group is currently assessing the estimated impact of these amendments on its consolidated 
financial statements. 
 

4. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions  
 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting 
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year, are described below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates 
on parameters available at the end of the period. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future 
developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the 
control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur. 
 
Percentage of completion on construction-type contracts  
Revenues recognized on construction-type contracts reflect management’s best assessment by taking into 
consideration all information available at the reporting date and the result on each ongoing contract and its 
estimated costs. The management assesses the profitability of the contract by applying important judgments 
regarding milestones marked, actual work performed and estimated costs to complete. Actual results could 
differ because of these unforeseen changes in the ongoing contracts’ models.  
 
Share-based payments 
Estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions requires determination of the most appropriate 
valuation model, which depends on the terms and conditions of the grant. This estimate also requires 
determination of the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the share 
option or appreciation right, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them. For the 
measurement of the fair value of equity settled transactions with employees at the grant date, the Group uses 
Black Scholes. The assumptions and models used for estimating fair value for share-based payment 
transactions are disclosed in Note 17. In addition, some share-based payment transactions vest on the 
occurrence of a liquidity event, the likelihood of occurrence of such event is reviewed periodically and was 
assumed not probable as at December 31, 2019. 
 
Leases – Estimating the incremental borrowing rate 
The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental 
borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have to 
pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar 
value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group 
‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries 
that do not enter into financing transactions) or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and 
conditions of the lease. The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) 
when available and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates. 
 
Leases – Lease term 
In determining the lease term, the Group considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic 
incentive to exercise an extension option, or not to exercise a termination option. The assessment is reviewed if 
a significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs within the Group’s control. 
 
Leases as lessor – Classification and measurement  
At the commencement date of a lease arrangements where the Group acts as a lessor, the Group classifies 
each lease as an operating lease or a finance lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset. Otherwise a lease is 
classified as an operating lease. Such classification requires management to make assumptions related to the 
economic life and the fair value of the leased asset. In addition, at the commencement date of finance leases, 
the measurement of selling profit requires assumptions, such as the determination of the unguaranteed residual 
value, the fair value of the leased asset and the rate implicit in the lease. Those assumptions are based on 
management’s best estimate by considering all information available at the reporting date, including profit 
margins by reference to transactions involving assets of a similar nature, market funding rates, economic life of 
assets of a similar nature and the expected value of the asset at the end of the lease term.     
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Inventories 
The Group records a write-down to reflect management’s best estimate of the net realizable value of inventory, 
which includes assumptions and estimates for future sell-through of units, selling prices as well as disposal 
costs, where appropriate, based on historical experience. Management continually reviews the carrying value of 
its inventory, to assess whether the write-down is adequate, based on current economic conditions and an 
assessment of sales trends.  
 
Discount rate used to determine the carrying amount of Net employee defined benefit liabilities 
The determination of the Group’s defined benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets depends on certain 
assumptions, which include selection of the discount rate. The discount rate is set by reference to market yields 
at the end of the reporting period on high quality corporate bonds. Significant assumptions are required to be 
made when setting the criteria for bonds to be included in the population from which the yield curve is derived. 
The most significant criteria considered for the selection of bonds include the issue size of the corporate bonds, 
quality of the bonds and the identification of outliers which are excluded. These assumptions are a key source 
of estimation uncertainty as relatively small changes in the assumptions used may have a significant effect on 
the Group’s financial statements within the next year. Further information on the carrying amounts of the 
Group’s defined benefit obligation and the sensitivity of those amounts to changes in discount rate are provided 
in Note 15. 
 

5. Group information 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group include:  
 

   % equity interest 

Name Principal activities Country of 
incorporation 

December 
31, 2019 

December 
31, 2018 

January 
1, 2018 

Green Vision Holding B.V. Holding company 
(parent company) 

Netherlands    

HyGear Technology & 
Services B.V. 

On-site gasses 
generators 

Netherlands 100% 100% 100% 

HyGear Fuel Cell Systems 
B.V. 

Development and 
manufacturing of fuel 
cell products 

Netherlands 100% 100% 100% 

HyGear B.V. On-site gasses 
generators 

Netherlands 100% 100% 100% 

HyGear Operations B.V. On-site gasses 
generators 

Netherlands 100% 100% 100% 

HyGear Hydrogen Plant 
B.V. 

Production and 
distribution of industrial 
gasses 

Netherlands 100% 100% 0% 

HyGear Asia PTE LTD On-site gasses 
generators 

Singapore 100% 100% 100% 

Buse HyGear PTE LTD Production and 
distribution of industrial 
gasses 

United 
Kingdom 

50% 0% 0% 

 
Green Vision Holding B.V. is our holding company in which patents and financial resources are managed. 
HyGear Technology and services is an intermediary company for administrative services, some product 
specific R&D and other services towards the operational units  
  
HyGear Operations B.V. is the entity that supplies our installations and maintenance and installation 
services. HyGear B.V. manages our supply contract (GaaS) and currently still a number of turnkey supply 
contracts as well as some product specific Engineering and product improvement. HyGear Fuel Cell 
Systems B.V. focuses on R&D. HyGear Hydrogen Plant B.V. is responsible for the operation of our 
hydrogen plant in The Netherlands as well as the trailer supply from that plant. HyGear Asia Pte Ltd is our 
office in Singapore responsible for sales, maintenance and installation and product development, all 
specific to the Asia-Pacific region. Finally, Buse-HyGear is our joint venture company established in 2019 
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in the UK to operate a Decentralised Production Hub for hydrogen near Birmingham that is currently under 
construction. The expectation is that this hub is operational by the end of 2020. During 2019 no activ ities 
had taken place within this joint venture. 
 

6. Cash and cash equivalents 

 December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 January 1, 2018 

 € € € 
Cash and cash equivalents    

Cash in banks and cash on hands 3,549,020 2,744,767 1,769,399 
Short-term deposits 42,657 456,531 238,216 

 3,591,677 3,201,298 2,007,615 

  
 
A credit facility is available at the Rabobank for an amount of € 1,500,000. For this credit facility 
guarantees are issued in the form of a pledge of all present and future equipment, inventories, receivables 
on third parties and transport equipment. Rabobank has issued bank guarantees for an amount of € 5,125 
against this facility. The remaining facility is not used by the Group per year end. The facility was also not 
used as at December 31, 2018 and January 1, 2018. A credit facility of € 3,000,000 is available to the 
Group pursuant to the subordinated loan issued by Oost NL on 25 October 2019. The terms and conditions 
of the subordinated loan is further detailed in Note 14. 

 

7. Receivables and contract assets  
 

Receivables 
 December 31, 

2019 
 December 31, 

2018 
 January 1, 2018 

 €  €  € 
      
Trade receivables 1,625,232  1,928,683  1,838,043 
Taxes and social security contributions 405,608  644,723  231,778 
Government grants 492,047  384,632  552,710 
 2,522,887  2,958,038  2,622,531 

 
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 30 to 90 days. As at December 
31, 2019 the trade receivables are net of an allowance for expected credit losses of €5,272 (December 31, 
2018: €9,168, January 1, 2018: €8,657). 
 
Contract assets 
As at December 31, 2019, the Group has contract assets of €2,611,234 (2018: €355,633, January 1, 2018: 
€77,141) which is net of an allowance for expected credit losses of €6,937 (2018: €945, January  1, 
2018: €205). Contract assets relate to revenue earned from ongoing manufacturing of gasses generator. 
As such, the balance of this account vary and depend on the number of ongoing manufacturing services at 
the end of the year. As at December 31, 2019, the remaining transaction price allocated to the remaining 
performance obligations partially unsatisfied is €3,662,347 (December 31, 2018: €1,130,629 and January 
1, 2018: €261,158) and is expected to be recognised within one year.   
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Set out below is the movement in the allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables  and 
contract assets:  
 
 December 31, 

2019 
December 31, 

2018 

 € € 
As at January 1 10,113 8,862 
Provision for expected credit losses  2,096 1,251 
As at December 31 12,209 10,113 

 
8. Leases 

The Group has lease contracts for two properties located in the Netherlands and Singapore. In addition, 
vehicles and equipment, such as trailers are also leased and used by the Group. The lease terms for the 
properties range between 2 and 10 years and there are renewal options available for periods varying 
between 2 and 5 years. For the vehicles and equipment, the lease terms range between 4 and 8 years and 
some have renewal options available for a fixed number of years, but most are to be negotiated at the  end 
of the current term.  

Set out below are the carrying amounts of the right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during 
the period: 

 
Properties 

Vehicles and 
equipment 

Total 

    
At 1 January 2018 1,983,999 229,858 2,213,857 
Amortisation expense 207,026 56,523 263,549 
At December 31, 2018 1,776,973 173,335 1,950,308 

Additions 189,744 513,179 702,923 
Amortisation expense 249,969 101,240 351,209 
At December 31, 2019 1,716,748 585,274 2,302,022 

    
 

Maturity analysis – contractual undiscounted cash flows: 

 December 31, 
2019 

 December 31, 
2018 

 January 1, 2018 

 €  €  € 
      
Less than one year 464,549  320,548  320,548 
One to five years 1,526,650  1,176,608  1,236,243 
More than five years 799,826  934,942  1,195,856 
Total undiscounted lease liabilities as 
at December 31 

2,791,025  2,432,098  2,752,647 

 

The lease liabilities current and non-current balances are as follows: 

Current lease liabilities 323,016  218,054  215,423 
Non-current lease liabilities 2,050,995  1,780,380 1,998,434 
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The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss related to lessee leases:  

 2019  2018 

 €  € 
Amortisation expense of right-of-use assets 351,209  263,549 
Interest expense on lease liabilities 113,134  105,125 
(Gain) / Loss on lease modification (27,017)  - 
Expenses relating to short-term leases 37,620  37,620 
Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets 5,258  5,083 
Total amount recognised in profit or loss 480,204  411,377 

 

Total cash outflow for leases was €414,011 in 2019 (€320,548 in 2018).  

The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. These options are 
negotiated by management to provide flexibility in managing the leased-asset portfolio and align with the 
Group’s business needs. Management exercises significant judgement in determining whether these 
extension and termination options are reasonably certain to be exercised. Generally, extension and 
termination options have not been included in the lease term for purposes of measuring the lease liabilities 
and related right-of-use assets. 
 
Group as a lessor 
 
Operating leases 
The Group has entered into operating leases on GaaS contracts consisting of gas generating systems. 
These leases have terms of between five and 10 years.  
 
Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 
 

 December 31, 
2019 

December 31, 
2018 

January 1, 
2018 

 € € € 
Within one year              204,036                  92,820             92,820   
Between 1-2 years              165,361                  92,820             92,820   
Between 2-3 years              111,216                  54,145             92,820   
Between 3-4 years              111,216                         -               54,145   
Between 4-5 years                92,680                         -                      -     
More than 5 years                       -                           -                      -     
 684,509 239,785 332,605 

 
 

The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss related to operating lessor leases:  

 2019  2018 

 €  € 
Income from operating leases 123,380  120,646 

 
 
Finance leases 
The Group has entered into finance leases on GaaS contracts consisting of gas generating systems. 
These leases have terms of 15 years, which represents substantially all of portion the economic life of the 
systems.  
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Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable finance leases are as follows: 
 

 December 31, 
2019 

December 31, 
2018 

January 1, 
2018 

 € € € 
Within one year 276,513 102,825 85,844 
Between 1-2 years 276,513 102,825 102,825 
Between 2-3 years 276,513 102,825 102,825 
Between 3-4 years 276,513 102,825 102,825 
Between 4-5 years 276,513 102,825 102,825 
More than 5 years 2,525,419 908,288 1,011,113 
 3,907,984 1,422,413 1,508,257 
Unguaranteed residual value (discounted) 700,045 457,281 457,281 
 4,608,029 1,879,694 1,965,538 
Unearned finance income (823,670) (139,693) (168,159) 
Finance lease receivables 3,784,359 1,740,001 1,797,379 

 
 
This is the composition of the finance lease receivable balance including the expected credit loss:  

Current finance lease receivable 155,645  75,463  57,378 
Non-current finance lease receivable 3,601,206  1,646,857  1,722,320 

 
 
Set out below is the movement in the allowance for expected credit losses of finance lease receivable : 
 

 December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 

 € € 
As at January 1 17,681 17,681 
Provision for expected credit losses 9,827 - 
Write-off - - 
As at December 31 27,508 17,681 

 
The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss related to finance lessor leases:  

 2019  2018 

 €  € 
Income from variable payments on finance leases 
not based on an index or a rate 

1,512  - 

Interest income on finance lease receivables 35,418  28,466 
Total amount recognised in profit or loss 36,930  28,466 

 
 

9. Inventories 

 

 December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 January 1, 2018 

 € € € 
Raw materials 257,084 149,243 298,409 
Assemble parts 541,658 - - 
 798,742 149,243 298,409 

 

During 2019, €143,843 (2018: €298,409) of inventories was recognised as an expense in direct material 
costs in the statement of profit or loss and €nil (2018: €nil) was recognised as an expense for inventories 
carried at net realisable value, in direct material costs in profit or loss. 
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10. Income Taxes 

At the reporting date, the Group has unused tax losses of €1,749,163 (December 31, 2018: €1,904,766 
and January 1, 2018: € 1,457,562) available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has 
been recognized on the unused tax losses in 2019 and 2018 as it is not considered probable that there will 
be future taxable profits available.  
 
No deferred tax liability is recognised on temporary differences of €391,632 (December 31, 2018: 
€175,036 and January 1, 2018: € 61,570) relating to the unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries as 
the Group is able to control the timings of the reversal of these temporary differences and it is probable 
that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Temporary differences arising in connection with 
interests in joint ventures are insignificant. 
 
Uncertain tax treatments 
The Group is currently in discussion with Dutch tax authorities, which could impact on the unrecognized 
loss carryforwards. The outcome of these discussions cannot be determined at this stage.  
 
Classification of current and deferred tax result 

  2019 2018 

  € € 
Current tax expense for       
The year   - - 
Adjustments for previous years   -              43,581  
Total current tax expense   -              43,581  

      
Deferred tax expense for       

Origination and reversal of temporary differences and tax losses               444,163  
                  

(65,856)  
(De)recognition of deferred tax assets   (268,216)   58,024 
Changes in tax rates                  (49,081)                   7,116 
Total deferred tax expense               126,866                   (716) 

Total               126,866               42,865  

 
 
The standard rate of corporation tax applied to reported profit is 25% (2018: 25%).  
Effective tax rate 

 2019 2018 

 % € % € 

Profit before tax          1 618,630               430,188 
Corporate tax rate of Group's domestic tax rate 25.0%          404,658  25.0%            107,548  
Effect of tax rates in other countries 0.0%                   -    0.0%                     -    
Weighted average statutory income tax rate 25.0%          404,658  25.0%            107,548  

Non-taxable foreign profits 0.5%              7,343  (8.8%) 
            

(37,914) 
Benefit from tax incentives 0.0%                   -    (34.0%)          (146,409) 
Non-deductible expenses 0.2%              3,296  0.7%                2,859  
(De)recognition of deferred tax assets  (16.6%)         (268,216) 13.5%              58,024  
Tax rate change (3.0%)           (49,081) 1.7%                7,116  
Under / over provided prior years 0.0%                   -    10.2%              43,581  
Other 1.8%            28,866  1.9%                8,061  
Effective tax rate 7.8%          126,866  10.0%              42,865  
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The effective tax rate differs from the applicable tax rate, mainly as a result of the application of the 
Innovation box and the Energy Investment Allowance (EIA) for the calculation of domestic income tax. 
Foreign taxable profits relate to the Singapore based subsidiary that is exempt from income taxes during a 
three-year period after establishment of the company, provided that certain thresholds are not exceeded, 
which they have not been. 
 
Unrecognized deferred tax assets 

 

December 31, 
2019 

December 31, 
2018 

January 1, 2018 

 € € € 

Tax losses and tax credits         1,749,164         1,904,766  1,457,562 
Deductible temporary differences (72,293)           995,491  707,668 
Total         1,676,871         2,900,257  2,165,230 

 
Expiration year of loss carry forwards (January 1, 2018) 
 

   2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 Later Unlimited Total 

  € € € € € € € € 

Total loss carryforwards    -  - -   - -   1,457,562 -  
       

1,457,562 
Loss carryforwards not 
recognized in deferred tax 
assets    - -   - -   - 

     
(1,457,562)   - 

         --- 
(1,457,562)   

Total   - - - - - 0  - 0   

 
 
Expiration year of loss carryforwards (December 31, 2018) 
 
   2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Later Unlimited Total 

  € € € € € € € € 

Total loss carryforwards   - -  -  -  282,917  1,621,849  -  1,904,766 
Loss carryforwards not 
recognized in deferred tax 
assets   -  -  -  -  (282,917)  

     
(1,621,849)  -  

         
(1,904,766)   

Total   - - - - -      -  -          -   

 
 
Expiration year of loss carryforwards (December 31, 2019) 
 
   2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Later Unlimited Total 

  € € € € € € € € 

Total loss carryforwards   -  -  -  282,917  703,193  763,053 -  1,749,163 
Loss carryforwards not 
recognized in deferred tax 
assets   -  -  -  (282,917)  (703,193)  

     
(763,053)  -  

         
(1,749,163)   

Total   - - - - -      -  -          -   
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities per balance sheet item 
 
 
  December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 January 1, 2018 

 

Net 
balance Assets Liabilities 

Net 
balance Assets Liabilities 

Net 
balance Assets Liabilities 

 € € € € € € € € € 

Intangible assets (39,390) - (39,390) (14,152) - (14,152) - - - 
Property, plant and 
equipment      605,062   642,751  

         
(37,689) 

         
253,223   

           
268,812  

            
(15,589) 268,061 268,061 - 

Right of use assets (512,696) -     (512,696)  (416,915)  - (416,915) (487,279) - (487,279) 
Operating lease 
liability 

         
524,678  

        
524,678                   -    

         
423,832   

           
423,832  - 483,153 483,153 - 

Finance lease 
receivables 

        
(830,299)                 -    

       
(830,299) 

        
(364,771)  - 

           
(364,771) (383,121) - (383,121) 

Other items and 
tax credits 

           
13,945           15,036  

           
(1,091) 

             
6,949   

               
6,949                      -    6,636 6,636 - 

Tax loss 
carryforwards 

                    
-                  -                     -    

                  
-     

                    
-                        -    - - - 

Deferred tax 
assets not 
recognized 

                    
-                  -    - 

                  
-     

                    
-    - - - - 

Tax 
assets/liabilities 

        
(238,700) 

     
1,182,465  

     
(1,421,165) 

         
(111,834) 

           
699,593  

           
(811,427) (112,550) 757,850 (870,400) 

 
Movement in deferred tax balances during the year / Deferred tax assets and liabilities  

 2019 2018 

 € € 
Deferred tax assets            699,593            757,850  
Deferred tax liabilities           (811,427)          (870,400) 
Balance at January 1           (111,834)          (112,550) 

      
Movement in deferred tax:     
Recognized in income           (126,866)                 716  
Recognized in Equity/Other comprehensive income                        -  
Other                       -                       -  
Balance at December 31           (238,700)          (111,834) 

Deferred tax assets          1,182,465            699,593  
Deferred tax liabilities         (1,421,165)          (811,427) 
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Movement in deferred tax balances during the year 

 

Balance January 1, 
2018 Recognized in income 

Balance December 
31, 2018 

Intangible assets                      -          (14,152)        (14,152) 
Property, plant and 
equipment           268,061          (14,838)       253,223  

Right of use assets          (487,279)          70,364       (416,915) 

Operating lease liability           483,153          (59,321)       423,832  

Finance lease receivables          (383,121)          18,350       (364,771) 

Other items and tax credits               6,636                313           6,949  
Net deferred tax asset / 
(liability)          (112,550)               716       (111,834) 

 

Movement in deferred tax balances during the year 

 

 

Balance January 1, 
2019 Recognized in income 

Balance December 
31, 2019 

Intangible assets            (14,152)         (25,238)        (39,390) 

Property, plant and equipment           253,223          351,839        605,062  

Right of use assets          (416,915)         (95,781)      (512,696) 

Operating lease liability           423,832          100,846        524,678  

Finance lease receivables          (364,771)        (465,528)      (830,299) 

Other items and tax credits               6,949             6,996          13,945  
Net deferred tax asset / 
(liability)          (111,834)        (126,866)      (238,700) 
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11. Property, plant and equipment 

 Machinery 
& 

Equipment 

Lease 
equipment 

Production 
equipment 

Furniture 
& fixtures 

Transport 
equipment 

Assets 
under 

construction 

Total 

Cost        
At January 1, 
2018 

1,123,024 1,654,355 1,654,700 346,822 113,681 3,147,028 8,039,610 

Additions - - - 145,543 57,661 4,029,051 4,232,255 
Transfers - - 619,025 468,803 - (1,087,828) - 
At December 
31, 2018 

1,123,024 1,654,355 2,273,725 961,168 171,342 6,088,251 12,271,865 

Additions - - - 100,431 489,880 4,520,790 5,111,101 
Transfers - 1,484,176 2,441,712 - - (4,319,127) (393,239) 
Disposals - - - - - (1,454,120) (1,454,120) 
Exchange 
differences 

- - - 618 1,588 - 2,206 

At December 
31, 2019 

1,123,024 3,138,531 4,715,437 1,062,217 662,810 4,835,794 15,537,813 

        
Amortisation & 
impairment 

       

At January 1, 
2018 

778,891 125,696 18,367 263,673 45,799 - 1,232,426 

Additions 139,983 109,820 147,994 70,826 24,431 - 493,054 
At December 
31, 2018 

918,874 235,516 166,361 334,499 70,230 - 1,725,480 

Additions 121,301 56,301 209,112 94,083 62,683 - 543,480 
At December 
31, 2019 

1,040,175 291,817 375,473 428,582 132,913 - 2,268,960 

        
Net book value        
January 1, 
2018 

344,133 1,528,659 1,636,333 83,149 67,882 3,147,028 6,807,184 

December 31, 
2018 

204,150 1,418,839 2,107,364 626,669 101,112 6,088,251 10,546,385 

December 31, 
2019 

82,849 2,846,714 4,339,964 633,635 529,897 4,835,794 13,268,853 

 

Assets under construction 
Included in assets under construction at December 31, 2019 was an amount of €4,520,790 (2018: € 
4,029,051) relating to expenditure for production equipment in the course of construction.  

 

Capitalised borrowing costs - Lease Equipment  
The Group constructs hydrogen solutions for clients as part of its "Gas-as-a-service" offering. Depending 
on the complexity of the asset, the time required to complete the construction ranges between 12 - 32 
months. The carrying amount of lease equipment under construction as at December 31, 2019 was € 
4,429,947 (2018: €3,317,942, January 1, 2018: € Nil). The construction of the hydrogen solutions is 
financed from a pool of general third-party borrowings. The amount of borrowing costs capitalised during 
the year ended December 31, 2019 was €168,402 (2018: €75,600). The borrowing costs eligible for 
capitalisation were determined by applying a capitalization rate of 6.85% during the year ended December 
31, 2019 (2018: 6.16%) to the expenditures on these assets. 
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12. Intangible assets 

 Development costs Software Total 

 € € € 
At January 1, 2018 - 51,537 51,537 
Additions 562,831 37,534 600,365 
At December 31, 2018 562,831 89,071 651,902 

Additions 1,087,918 27,242 1,115,160 
At December 31, 2019 1,650,749 116,313 1,767,062 

    
Amortisation & impairment    

At January 1, 2018 - 42,210 42,210 
Additions - 5,979 5,979 
At December 31, 2018 - 48,189 48,189 

Additions - 14,251 14,251 
At December 31, 2019 - 62,440 62,440 

    
Net book value    
January 1, 2018 - 9,327 9,327 
December 31, 2018 562,831 40,882 603,713 
December 31, 2019 1,650,749 53,873 1,704,622 

 

Research and development costs 
The Group’s research and development concentrates on the development of gasses generator. Research and 
development costs that are not eligible for capitalisation have been expensed in the period incurred (in 2019, 
this was € 311,652  (2018: € 403,980)), and they are recognized in other operating expenses. 
 
Capitalised borrowing costs - Development Costs 
The Group engages in research and development activities to improve and develop designs and processes 
for hydrogen solutions. The time required for a developed process and/or design to be completed and 
available for its intended use as intended by management, ranges between 24 - 36 months. The Group 
commenced with the aforementioned research and development activities in 2018 and as at December 31, 
2019, no developed processes and/or designs were finalised. The first developed process and/or design is 
expected to be completed and available for its intended use as intended by management during 2021. The 
carrying amount of capitalised development costs as at December 31, 2019 was €1,650,749 (2018: 
€562,831, January 1, 2018: € Nil). The research and development expenditures are financed from a 
combination of specifically borrowed funds as well a pool of general third party borrowings. The amount of 
borrowing costs capitalised during the year ended December 31, 2019 was €112,490 (2018: €69,032). The 
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation for expenditures financed from the pool of general borrowings, 
were determined by applying a capitalisation rate of 6.85% during the year ended December 31, 2019 
(2018: 6.16%) to the expenditures on these assets. The effective interest rate of borrowing costs 
capitalised from specifically borrowed funds, were 7% during the year ended December 31, 2019 (2018: 
7%). 
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13. Trade and other payables 
 
 December 

31, 2019 
December 

31, 2018 
January 1, 

2018 

 € € € 
Payable to shareholders 17,560 17,560 517,558 
Trade payables 1,131,437 897,202 416,257 
Payroll tax 55,661 96,826 37,036 
Accruals 339,111 342,176 291,313 
 1,543,769 1,353,764 1,262,164 

 
Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities:  
• Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 60-day terms 
• Payroll tax is normally settled on 30-day terms  
• For terms and conditions with shareholders refer to Note 23. 
• For explanation on the Group’s liquidity risk management processes, refer to Note 22.  
 

14. Long-term debt 
 
 December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 January 1, 2018 

 € € € 
Bridge loan DRL Resource 285,765 285,765 285,765 
Bridge loan Oost NL 250,000 250,000 250,000 
Dividend loan DRL Resource 182,837 182,837 182,837 
Dividend loan Oost NL 159,940 159,940 159,940 
Dividend loan DRL Resource 214,340 214,340 - 
Dividend loan Oost NL 187,332 187,332 - 
Loan FHBG HHP 764,888 287,174 - 
Loan DLL H2 Car 12,009 20,501 28,575 
Loan DBS Car 34,657 38,578 - 
Loan H2 Trailers 426,908 - - 
Loan Heftruck 38,194 - - 
Loan A Rabobank 151,095 206,043 238,096 
Loan B Rabobank 472,431 568,135 626,771 
Loan C Rabobank 95,238 95,238 95,238 
Innovation loan HYREC 1,461,380 1,175,957 713,403 
Loan Oost NL 1,916,995 -  
NPEX Bonds 2017-2023 2,450,614 2,439,993 2,425,831 
NPEX Bonds 2018-2024 4,889,674 4,865,379 - 
NPEX Bonds 2019-2025 4,675,059 - - 
Long-term debt 18,669,356 10,977,212 5,006,456 

    
Current portion (322,118) (179,162) (104,941) 
    
Long-term debt 18,347,238 10,798,050 4,901,515 

 
Non-current liabilities falling due after 5 years amount to € 7,246,386 The remaining part of € 10,778,734 
must be repaid between 1 and 5 years. 
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Subordinated loans shareholders 
On May 19, 2017 subordinated bridge loans were issued by DRL Resource Management B.V. and Oost NL 
for an amount of € 285,765 and € 250,000. These loans bear 7% interest on an annual basis. Interest is 
paid quarterly. The loans are repayable per June 2023. The loans are subordinated to the NPEX bonds 
2017-2023. 
On June 19, 2017 subordinated dividend loans were issued by DRL Resource Management B.V. and Oost 
NL for an amount of € 159,940 and € 182,837. These loans bear 7% interest on an annual basis. Interest is 
paid quarterly. The loans are repayable six months after redemption of the 2017-2023 NPEX bonds. The 
loan is subordinated to the NPEX bonds 2017-2023. 
 
On July 1, 2018 subordinated dividend loans were issued by DRL Resource Management B.V. and Oost  
NL for an amount of € 214,340 and  187,332. The DRL loan bears 7.5% interest on an annual basis and 
the Oost NL loan bears 7.8% interest on an annual basis. Interest is paid quarterly. The loans are 
repayable per July 2024. The loan is subordinated on the NPEX bonds 2018-2024.  
 

Loan FHBG HPP 
On August 2, 2018 a subordinated loan was issued by Fonds Herstructurering Bedrijventerreinen 
Gelderland (FHBG), part of Oost NL, for a total amount of € 800,000. This loan is specifically provided to 
HyGear Hydrogen Plant B.V. The loan was issued in three tranches. The first tranche, amounting to € 
300,000, was received in 2018. The second and third tranche, totaling € 500,000, were received in 2019.  
Under the terms of the loan 

• The loan is subordinated to all current and future trade payables to creditors of Hygear Hydrogen 
Plant BV. Hygear Technology and Services BV and Green Vision Holding BV are jointly and 
severally liable for all loan obligations of Hygear Hydrogen Plant B.V.  

• Payables to SDI Technology Ventures BV and Oost NL NV are subordinated to this loan. 
• Hygear Hydrogen Plant BV can’t make capital disbursements and shares in the Group can’t be 

transferred by its shareholders without approval of the lender during the term of the loan. 
This loan bears 6.32% interest on an annual basis, fixed for a period of five years. Interest is paid 
quarterly. The loan is repayable in 32 quarterly instalments, with the first instalment due in December 2019 
and the last instalment due in September 2027.  

 
Loan DLL H2 Car 

The loan issued by DLL on May 2, 2017 for an amount of €33,878 for a H2 car is repayable over 5 years 
via monthly instalments. 
 
 Loan DBS Car 
The loan issued by DBS on September 21, 2018 for an amount of SGD 62,930 for a car is repayable over 
7 years via monthly instalments. 
 
 Loan Rabobank H2 Trailers 
The loan issued by Rabobank on May 2, 2019 for an amount of €450,750 for two H2 trailers is repayable 
over 10 years via monthly instalments. In the agreements the trailers are included as collateral for the 
lease issued by Rabobank. 
 

Loan Toyota forklift truck 
The loan issued by Toyota on November 1, 2019 for an amount of €39,130 for a forklift truck is repayable 
over 7 years via monthly instalments. 
 

Loan A Rabobank 
Loan A was issued by the Rabobank on November 16, 2017 for an amount of €238,096. The loan carries a 
fixed 4.5% interest rate and is redeemable via monthly instalments of €4,579, starting in May 2018 and 
ending in February 2023. Early redemption is possible. This loan is secured by the Group as per general 
terms and conditions of Rabobank Nederland. 
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 Loan B Rabobank 
Loan B was issued by the Rabobank on November 16, 2017 for a nominal amount of €666,666. The loan 
carries a fixed 2.4% interest rate and is redeemable via monthly instalments of €9,259, starting in May 
2018 and ending in November 2024. Early redemption is possible. This loan is secured by the Group as 
per general terms and conditions of Rabobank Nederland. 
 
 Loan C Rabobank 
Loan C was issued by the Rabobank on November 16, 2017 for an amount of €95,238. The loan carries a 
fixed 4.65% interest rate and is redeemable via a 100% instalment of €95,238, in November 2024. Early 
redemption is possible. This loan is secured by the Group as per general terms and conditions of 
Rabobank Nederland. 
 

Subordinated loan Oost NL 

On October 25, 2019 a subordinated loan was issued by shareholder Oost NL for a maximum amount of € 
5,000,000. A first instalment of €2,000,000 was received on the issue date. The loan bears 8% interest on 
an annual basis. Interest is paid quarterly. The Group pays a 2% fee over the non-utilised loan amount. 
The loan is repayable per October 2025. Early redemption is possible after three years. All Green Vision 
Holding B.V. group companies (see group structure in Note 5) are jointly and severally liable for interest 
payments and redemptions. As part of the loan agreement the Group agreed to grant Oost NL up to 
199,960 detachable warrants with an exercise price of €19.50 per share certificate and an expiration date 
2 years from the date of issuance. Each tranche of €25,005 of loan has 1 detachable warrant that gives the 
holder the right to acquire 1 ordinary share from Green Vision holding B.V. per warrant at an exercise price 
of €19.50 per share certificate. In total, the Group issued 79,984 warrants to the holder. The proceed of the 
emission have been allocated between both instruments (loan and warrants). These warrants are classified 
as equity instruments in other reserve ordinary of the statement of change in equity. The initial fair value of 
the warrants was €1.06 per unit. The fair value of the warrants is estimated at the grant date using a Black 
Scholes model, considering the terms and conditions on which the warrants were granted and a liquidity 
discount. The principal inputs to the model are the expected volatil ity, the risk-free interest rate and the 
liquidity discount. Nil have been exercised as at December 31, 2019.  
 
The loan is subordinated to all loans with the exception of loans which are issued by indirect or direct 
shareholders of the Group. 
 

Innovation loan HYREC (Innovatiekrediet)  
This loan was issued by RVO on December 16, 2016 for a maximum amount of €1,777,410. The loan can 
only be used to fund the development of a HY.REC. The loan can be broken down as follows:  
                           € 

Advance payments plus accrued interest per December 31, 
2018 

1,175,957 

Advance payment received February 25, 2019 96,602 
Advance payment received April 15, 2019        48,301 
Advance payment received July 17, 2019 48,301 
Accrued interest over 2019 92,219 
 Advance payments plus accrued interest per December 31, 
2019 

1,461,380 

  
The repayment of the loan is due in the period 2020 – 2023.  RVO issued the loan against security of all 
assets produced under this development project. This loan bears 7% interest on an annual basis. 
 

NPEX Bonds 2017-2023 
On March 1, 2017 HyGear Technology & Services BV concluded a nominal €2,499,000 public bond 
placement via NPEX. The bonds are included at amortised cost, being the amount received taking account 
of any premium or discount, less transaction costs. Any difference between the proceeds (net of 
transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised as interest in the income statement over the 
period of the bonds using the effective interest method.  
The bonds, having a nominal value of €1.000 each, carry a 7% annualised interest rate and a six year 
duration. Interest is paid monthly and the bonds are redeemable on February 28, 2023. Early redemption is 
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possible after three years. All Green Vision Holding B.V. group companies (refer to Note 5) are jointly and 
severally liable for interest payments and redemptions. 
Under the terms of the bond placement the shareholders of Green Vision Holding BV have signed a non -
withdrawal statement. This stipulates that shareholders will refrain from dividend payments, capital 
repayments or any other cash pay-outs for the whole bond duration that would result in Green Vision 
Holding BV’s solvency ratio declining below 35%. 
  

NPEX Bonds 2018-2024 
On July1, 2018 HyGear Technology & Services BV concluded a nominal €4,999,000 public bond 
placement via NPEX. The bonds are included at amortised cost, being the amount received taking account 
of any premium or discount, less transaction costs. Any difference between the proceeds (net of 
transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised as interest in the income statement over the 
period of the bonds using the effective interest method.  
The bonds, having a nominal value of €1.000 each, carry a 7.5% annualised interest rate and a six-year 
duration. Interest is paid monthly, and the bonds are redeemable on June 16, 2024. Early redemption is 
possible after three years. All Green Vision Holding B.V. group companies (refer to Note 5) are jointly and 
severally liable for interest payments and redemptions. 
Under the terms of the bond placement the shareholders of Green Vision Holding BV have signed a non -
withdrawal statement. This stipulates that shareholders will refrain from dividend payments, capital 
repayments or any other cash pay-outs for the whole bond duration that would result in Green Vision 
Holding BV’s solvency ratio declining below 35%. The bonds are subordinated to the loans from the 
Coöperatieve Rabobank U.A., a loan from the Ministry of Economic Affairs and future bank loans. 
 
 NPEX Bonds cum Warrants 2019-2025 
On June 24, 2019 HyGear Technology & Services BV concluded a nominal €4,999,000 public bond 
placement via NPEX. The bonds are included at amortised cost, being the amount received tak ing account 
of any premium or discount, less transaction costs. Any difference between the proceeds (net of 
transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised as interest in the income statement over the 
period of the bonds using the effective interest method. 
The bonds, having a nominal value of €1,000 each, carry a 8% annualised  interest rate and a six year 
duration. Interest is paid monthly and the bonds are redeemable on June 24, 2025. Early redemption is 
possible after three years. All Green Vision Holding B.V. group companies (refer to Note 5) are jointly and 
severally liable for interest payments and redemptions. The bonds are subordinated to the loans from the 
Coöperatieve Rabobank U.A., a loan from the Ministry of Economic Affairs, a loan from De Lage Landen 
Financial Services B.V., a loan from the DBS bank and future loans. 
Each bond has 40 detachable warrants that give the bondholder the right until December 1, 2021 to 
acquire 1 share certificate of Stak Hygear per warrant at an exercise price of €19.50 per share certificate. 
In total, the Group issued 199,960 warrants to the bond investors. The proceed of the emission have been 
allocated between both instruments (loan and warrants). These warrants are classified as equity 
instruments in other reserve ordinary of the statement of change in equity. The initial fair value of the 
warrants was €0.91 per unit. The fair value of the warrants is estimated at the grant date using a Black 
Scholes model, taking into account the terms and conditions on which the warrants were granted and a 
liquidity discount. The principal inputs to the model are the expected volatility, the risk -free interest rate 
and the liquidity discount. Nil have been exercised as at December 31, 2019. Nil have been exercised as 
at December 31, 2019. 
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15. Post-employment benefit costs 
 
Defined contribution retirement benefit 
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans for the year is €386,580 (2018: €250,544).  
 
Defined benefit retirement benefit plans 
The Group sponsored as of January 1, 2017 a defined benefit plan for qualifying employees of its 
subsidiaries in the Netherlands. The defined benefit plan has during 2019 retroactively been replaced by a 
defined contribution plan as of January 1, 2019. The defined benefit plan is administered by and insured at 
Delta Lloyd Levensverzekering N.V. (‘Delta Lloyd’) that is legally separated from the entity.  
The defined benefit plan is an average pay pension plan with an accrual rate of 1% of the pensionable 
base per annum for old-age pension. The pensionable base equals the pensionable salary with a 
maximum of €105,075 minus the social security offset of €13,344. The standard retirement age is 68 
years. 
The defined benefit plan requires contributions from employees. Contributions are based on a fixed 
percentage of the total premiums paid. The plan typically exposes the entity to actuarial risks such as: 
interest rate risk, longevity risk and salary risk. The risk relating to benefits to be paid to the dependents of 
plan members is reinsured by the external insurance company. 
 

Interest risk A decrease in the high-quality corporate bond interest rate will increase the 
plan liability but this will be partially offset by an increase on the plan 
assets. 

Longevity risk The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by 
reference to the best estimate of the expected future mortality rates of plan 
participants both during and after their employment. An increase in the life 
expectancy of the plan participants will increase the plan’s liability. 

Salary risk The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by 
reference to the future salaries of plan participants. As such, an increase in 
the salary of the plan participants will increase the plan’s liability. 

 
No other post-retirement benefits are provided to these employees. 
The most recent actuarial valuations of the plan assets and the present value of the defined benefit liability 
were carried out at December 31, 2019. The present value of the defined benefit liability, and the related 
current service cost and past service cost, were measured using the projected unit credit method. The 
replacement of the pension plan retroactively during 2019 is treated as a plan amendment as at March 31, 
2019 and accounted for as a past service credit of €895,139. 
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The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations were as follows:  
  

  

  

  

December 31, 

2019 

December 31, 

2018 

January 1, 

2018 

Financial assumptions 
   

 

Discount rate 
 

0.90% 1.90% 2.00% 

Discount rate as at 31-3-2019 
 

1.40% - - 

Wage inflation 
 

2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 

Price inflation 
 

2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 
    

 

Individual salary increase rate 18-34 yrs 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 
 

35-39 yrs 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 
 

40-49 yrs 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 
 

50-64 yrs 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 
 

65-66 yrs 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 

Demographic assumptions 
   

 
  

Male/female Male/female Male/female 

Individual turnover rates 18-29 yrs 10.00% 10.00% 10.00% 
 

30-39 yrs 8.00% 8.00% 8.00% 
 

40-49 yrs 6.00% 6.00% 6.00% 
 

50-54 yrs 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 
 

55-59 yrs 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 
 

60-66 yrs 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 
    

 
  

Male/female Male/female Male/female 

Disability rates 18-24 yrs 0.06% 0.06% 0.06% 

(recovery chances are not 25-29 yrs 0.12% 0.12% 0.12% 

taken into account)  30-34 yrs 0.17% 0.17% 0.17% 
 

35-39 yrs 0.22% 0.22% 0.22% 
 

40-44 yrs 0.28% 0.28% 0.28% 
 

45-49 yrs 0.35% 0.35% 0.35% 
 

50-54 yrs 0.45% 0.45% 0.45% 
 

55-59 yrs 0.57% 0.57% 0.57% 
 

60-64 yrs 0.72% 0.72% 0.72% 
 

65-66 yrs 0.72% 0.72% 0.72% 
    

 

 Other (actuarial) assumptions  Mortality table AG 2018 AG 2018 AG 2016 
 

Age corrections 
  

 

 
    - men 

-1 before / -1 

after 

-1 before / -1 

after 

-1 before / -1 

after 

 
    - women 

-1 before / -1 

after 

-1 before / -1 

after 

-1 before / -1 

after 

 Age difference 

M/F 
+ 3 + 3 + 3 

Expected retirement age   
Following state 

pension 

Following state 

pension 

Following state 

pension 
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Amounts recognised in profit or loss in respect of the defined benefit plan are as follows:  

2019 2018 
 

€ € 
Defined benefit cost for current fiscal year 

  
   

Net Service cost    
   Current service cost                  -             194,408  
   Past service cost         (895,139)                  -    
   Contributions by plan participants                  -            (121,269)  
       (895,139)            73,139  
Net interest on the net defined benefit liability / (asset)   
   Interest income            (6,801)            (3,674)  
   Interest expense 9,934            23,682  
 3,133 20,008 

   
Administration costs                   -               15,691  
Defined benefit cost recorded in profit or loss for current fiscal year         (892,006)           108,838     
Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability / (asset)   
   Return on plan assets (excluding interest income)         (151,855)             77,583  
   Actuarial (gains) / losses          282,225           (30,758)  
Defined benefit cost recorded in OCI for current fiscal year          130,370             46,825  

Total defined benefit cost for current fiscal year       (761,636)          155,663  

 
The expense (gain) for the year, (€892,006) (2018: €108,838) is included in profit or loss. The 
remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability for the year, €130,370 (2018: €46,825) is included in 
other comprehensive income. The amount included in the consolidated statement of financial position 
arising from the Group’s obligations in respect of its defined benefit retirement benefit plan is as follows:   

2019 2018  
€ € 

Changes in the balance sheet 
  

   
Net defined benefit liability / (asset) as at beginning of year          761,636           790,316  
Defined benefit cost for current fiscal year         (761,636)           155,663  
   Defined benefit cost recorded in profit or loss         (892,006)          108,838  
   Defined benefit cost recorded in OCI          130,370             46,825  
Contributions by the employer in current fiscal year                   -            (184,343)  
Net defined benefit liability / (asset) as at end of year                   -             761,636  

 
 
Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations in the year were as follows:   

    

 
 2019 2018 
Change in present value of the defined benefit obligation € € 
Present value of the defined benefit obligation as at beginning of year        1,177,032           989,700  
Service cost   
   Current service cost                  -             194,408  
   Past service cost         (895,139)                   -    
Interest expense              9,934             23,682  
Remeasurement (gains) / losses          282,225            (30,758)  
Present value of the defined benefit obligation as at end of year          574,052         1,177,032  
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Movements in the fair value of plan assets in the year were as follows:  
2019 2018 

 
€ € 

Change in fair value of plan assets 
  

   
Fair value of plan assets as at beginning of year          415,396           199,384  
Interest income              6,801               3,674  
Remeasurement gains / (losses)          151,855            (77,583)  
Contributions by the employer                   -             184,344  
Contributions by plan participants                   -             121,269  
Benefits paid                   -                      -    
Administration costs                   -              (15,692)  
Fair value of plan assets as at end of year          574,052           415,396  

 
 
The pension plan assets are administrated by the insurer Delta Lloyd. No separate investment account is 
held for the Group at the insurer. Therefore, the plan assets are determined based on the present value of 
the accrued pension rights using actuarial rates. As a consequence, the category of the plan assets is 
qualified insurance policies. 

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined benefit obligation are discount rate, 
expected salary increases and mortality rates. The sensitivity analysis below is determined based on 
reasonably possible changes of the respective assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period, 
while holding all other assumptions constant.  

If the discount rate is 50 basis points higher, the defined benefit obligation would decrease to €490,999 
(2018: €1,007,703).  

If the discount rate is 50 basis points lower, the defined benefit obligation would increase to €674,571 
(2018: €1,380,898).  

If the expected salary growth increases by 0.5 per cent, the defined benefit obligation would increase to 
€574,052 (2018: €1,232,512).  

If the expected salary growth decreases by 0.5 per cent, the defined benefit obligation would decrease to 
€574,052 (2018: €1,124,860).  

If the life expectancy increases by one year for both men and women, the defined benefit obligation would 
increase to €600,761 (2018: €1,228,086).  

If the life expectancy decreases by one year for both men and women, the defined benefit obligation would 
decrease to €547,363 (2018: €1,125,588).  

 

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual change in the defined 
benefit obligation as it is unlikely that the changes in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another 
as some of the assumptions may be correlated.  

In presenting the above sensitivity analysis, the present value of the defined benefit obligation has been 
calculated using the projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period, which is the same as 
that applied in calculating the defined benefit obligation liability recognised in the statement of financial 
position.  

The Group’s subsidiaries funded the cost of the entitlements accrued on a yearly basis. Employees paid a 
fixed percentage of the total premium. Apart from paying the costs of the entitlements the Group is not 
liable to pay additional contributions in case the plan does not hold sufficient assets. The Group is liable to 
make additional payments in case of an individual legal value transfer by former employees. The average 
duration of the benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period is 31.7 years (December 31, 2018: 
31.44 years and January 1, 2018: 32.18 years). 
 
 



 

40 
 

16. Share capital 
 
Ordinary share 
The authorised ordinary share capital of Green Vision Holding B.V. amounts to €  21,843, divided into          
4,368,600 ordinary shares of € 0.005 each. All ordinary shares are issued and as at December 31, 2019 
66,881 (December 31, 2018: 70,059 and January 1, 2018: 74,850) share certificates where held by the 
Group. For the year ended December 31, 2019, no dividends where distributed. For the year ended 
December 31, 2018 a dividend of € 454,674 was distributed of which € 413,597 was paid in cash and 
€41,077 was paid in share certificates. 
 
Cumulative preferred share 
The authorized cumulative preferred share capital of Green Vision Holding B.V. amounts to € 10, divided 
into 10 cumulative preferred shares of € 1 each that were issued on June 21, 2017 to Oost NL raising total 
proceeds of € 360,810 for the Group. The cumulative preference shares carry a cumulative dividend of 5% 
per annum. For the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, no dividends where distributed. The 
cumulative preference shares dividend ad at December 31, 2019 is € 36,080 (December 31, 2018: € 
18,040 and January 1, 2018: € nil).  
 

17. Shares-based payments  
 

Share-based employment benefit plan 
The Group has an equity settled share-based employment benefit plan that is intended to provide an 
additional incentive to full-time directors, managers and selected persons employed by and/or working for 
the Group to remain in the Group or to pursue their contribution and increase their efforts with a view to the 
Group’s success. Each share-based option either gives a right to purchase or a right to convert into a 
depositary receipts for ordinary shares in the Group own capital. The Group has (or will) acquire depositary 
receipts for ordinary shares in its own capital that are (or will be) issued by Stichting Administratiekantoor 
Green Vision Holding (referred to as “STAK HyGear”) and are registered with Stichting NPEX 
Bewaarbedrijf (referred to as “NPEX”). Under no circumstances the Group is required to settle the option in 
cash.  
 
The number of options granted is calculated in accordance with the performance-based formula and is 
subject to approval by the remuneration committee. Options are granted at different exercise prices, may 
be exercised at any time from the date of vesting and require continuous employment until date of vesting 
from the date of grant in order to vest.  
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The table below presents the other vesting conditions for each options series. 
 

Options series 1 Options will vest at the first of the two following events:  
A. Sale of 80% of the Group's outstanding shares to a third party, not related to the existing 
shareholders of Green Vision Holding B.V.; or  
B. 6 (six) months after publicly listing (IPO) of more than 50% of the outstanding shares of the Group 
on a platform other than NPEX (unless the lock-up period for existing shareholders is longer than 6 
(six) months, in that case the options will vest at the ending of the existing shareholders lock -up 
period). 

Options series 2 Options will vest at the first of the two following events: 
A. Sale of 100% of the Group's outstanding shares to a third party, not related to the existing 
shareholders of Green Vision Holding B.V.; or 
B. 6 (six) months after publicly listing (IPO) more than 50% of the outstanding shares of the company 
on a platform other than NPEX. 

Options series 3, 
4, 9 and10 

Options will vest over 3 (three) years, 25% immediately on grant date and 25% at the end of the 
following 3 (three) years. 

Options series 5 
and 6 

Options will vest over 4 (four) years, 25% after one year of grant date and 25% at the end of the 
following 3 (three) years. 

Options series 7 Options will vest at the first of the two following events:  
A. Sale of 100% of the Group's outstanding shares to a third party, not related to the existi ng 
shareholders of Green Vision Holding B.V.; or  
B. 6 (six) months after publicly listing (IPO) more than 50% of the outstanding shares of the company 
on a platform other than NPEX (unless the lock-up period for existing shareholders is longer than 6 
(six) months, in that case the options will vest at the ending of the existing shareholders lock -up 
period). 

Options series 8 Options will vest at the first of the two following events:  
A. Sale of 80% of the Group's outstanding shares to a third party, not related to the existing 
shareholders of Green Vision Holding B.V.;or  
B. 6 (six) months after publicly listing (IPO) of more than 50% of the outstanding shares of the Group 
on a platform other than NPEX (provided that such events does not impose conditions preventing 
options to vest). 

 
The following share-based option were issued and outstanding during the current and prior year: 
 

 Grant date Number  Exercise price Fair value at grant date 
   € € 
Options series 1 2017-12-22 30,000 5.75 2.51 
Options series 2 2017-12-22 5,000 5.75 2.51 
Options series 3 2017-12-31 4,614 0.00 6.68 
Options series 4 2018-12-31 2,999 0.00 14.08 
Options series 5 2019-05-14 1,500 14.08 5.31 
Options series 6 2019-09-01 1,500 14.08 5.88 
Options series 7 2019-11-01 5,000 10.50 7.56 
Options series 8 2019-11-01 7,500 10.50 7.56 
Options series 9 2019-12-31 2,873 16.56 5.58 
Options series 10 2019-12-31 981 0.00 16.91 

 
Share-based option activity for the year ended December 31, is presented below: 
 

 2019 2018 

 Number of 
options 

Weighted average 
exercise price 

€ 

Number of 
options 

Weighted average 
exercise price 

€ 
Outstanding – Beginning of the year 49,276 4.08 50,000 4.03 
Granted 19,683 11.23 6,240 0.00 
Exercised (6,478) 0.00 (585) 0.00 
Cancelled (514) 0.00 (6,379) 0.00 
Outstanding – End of year 61,967 6.82 49,276 4.08 
Exercisable – End of year 718  -  
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Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Group’s share price over the 
previous 3 years. The expected life used in the determination of the fair value has been adjusted, based on 
management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability and exercise restrictions. 
 
Input to the model  

 2019 2018 
Options series 10 9 8 7 6 5 4 
Grant date 2019-12-31 2019-12-31 2019-11-01 2019-11-01 2019-09-01 2019-05-14 2018-12-31 
Grant date share price (€) 16.91 16.91 16.46 16.46 16.28 15.20 14.08 
Exercise price (€) 0.00 16.56 10.50 10.50 14.08 14.08 0.00 
Expected volatility 41.95% 41.95% 41.95% 41.95% 41.95% 41.95% 41.95% 
Option life (years) 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 
Dividend yield 0.00% 1.09% 1.09% 1.09% 1.09% 1.09% 0.00% 
Risk-free interest rate -0.11% -0.11% -0.25% -0.25% -0.53% 0.07% 0.20% 

 
 

18. Revenue from contracts with customers 
 2019 2018 

 € € 
Gas-as-a-Service (GaaS) Revenue – operating lease 123,382 120,645 
Gas-as-a-Service (GaaS) Revenue – finance lease  1,939,206 47,914 
Product Revenue 40,218 90,151 
Gasses generators and installation 6,494,686 3,516,608 
Service and maintenance revenue 420,845 156,254 
Total Revenue from contracts with customers 9,018,337 3,931,572 

 
The service and maintenance revenue consist of approximately 48% (2018: 66%) of revenues recognized 
at a point in time. 
 

19. Other operating expenses 

 2019 2018 

 € € 
Personnel expenses 162,932 131,046 
Premises and utilities expenses 189,021 188,690 
Transport expenses 29,805 28,884 
Selling and marketing expenses 494,193 331,120 
Assurance-type warranties - (380,129) 
General and administrative expenses 433,370 412,421 
Total other operating expenses 1,309,321 712,032 

 

20. Finance costs 
 
 2019 2018 

 € € 
Interest on bank loans 59,576 36,895 
Interest on other long-term debt 789,524 389,664 
Interest on lease liabilities 113,134 105,125 
Net interest on the net defined liability 3,133 20,008 
Total finance costs 
 

965,367 551,692 
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21. Earnings per shares (EPS) 

 
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the 
parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is 
calculated by dividing the profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into 
ordinary shares. 
 
The following table reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted EPS calculations:  

   
 2019 2018 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic EPS 4,300,130 4,296,146 
Effects of dilution from:   
   Share-based payment 14,419 15,000 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the 
effect of dilution 

4,314,549 4,311,146 

 
22. Financial instruments 

 
a. Measurement categories and fair values, including valuation methods and assumptions 

The following table shows the carrying values and fair values of the long-term debt as of:  
 

Financial liabilities December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 January 1, 2018 

 Amortized cost Amortized cost Amortized cost 
 Carrying 

amount 
€ 

Fair  
value 

€ 

Carrying 
amount 

€ 

Fair  
value 

€ 

Carrying 
amount 

€ 

Fair  
value 

€ 
       
Long-term debt 18,669,356 19,402,975 10,977,212 11,377,290 5,006,456 5,157,094 

 
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, other current financial asset, finance lease 
receivable, trade and other payables, approximate their fair value due to their short-term maturities. The 
methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of other financial assets and financial 
liabilities are as follows: 
 

• Long-term debt (classified in level 2 of the fair value hierarchy): The Group’s long-term debt carry 
fixed interest rates. The fair value of the Group’s debt obligations has been calculated by 
discounting the future cash flows of the long-term debt at the interest rate of similar debt 
instruments. 

• Cash and cash equivalent, receivables, finance lease receivables, trade and other payables 
(classified in level 2 of the fair value hierarchy): The fair values are approximately equal to their 
carrying values due to their short-term maturities; 

• The Group’s financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value 
and financial instruments measured at amortized cost for which the fair value is disclosed are 
grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable:  

Level 1 — Fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) 
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
Level 2 — Fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted 
prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 
Level 3 — Fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that 
include inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs). 
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b. Credit risk 

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 
financial loss to the Group. The exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis at local entity and 
at group level. In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with 
creditworthy counterparties. As part of risk control, the credit quality of each counterparty is assessed, 
taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors.  
 
Trade receivables consist of a small number of large industrial companies. For trade receivables and 
contract assets, the Group has applied the simplified approach in IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at 
lifetime ECL. The Group determines the expected credit losses on trade receivables and contract assets 
by using a provision matrix, estimated based on historical credit loss experience and the profile of 
payments within the trade receivables (based on invoice date), adjusted as appropriate to reflect current  
conditions and estimates of future economic conditions. Additionally, at reporting date the receivables and 
contacts assets are reviewed for collectability on an individual basis. Notes 7 include further details on the 
loss allowance for the trade receivables and contract assets.   
 
In addition, the Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to finance lease receivables. The Group has 
applied the simplified approach in IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL.  Note 8 include 
further details on the loss allowance for financial lease receivables.  
 
The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited because the counterparties are financial institutions 
with high credit-ratings, of at least A, assigned by international credit-rating agencies. 
 
Details of trade receivable, contracts assets, finance lease receivables and expected credit loss were as 
follows:   
December 31, 2019   Trade receivable 

 
Finance 

lease 
receivables 

Contract 
assets 1-30 days 31-60 days 61-90 days Over 91 

days Total 

 € € € € € € € 
Expected credit loss 
rate 0.724% 0.265% 0.265% 0.265% 0.455% 0.709%  

Estimated total gross 
carrying amount at 
default 

   3,800,117    2,618,171    1,170,719         26,121       114,603       319,061    1,630,504  

Expected credit loss        27,508           6,937           3,102               69              521           2,263           5,955  
 
 
December 31, 2018   Trade receivable 

 
Finance 

lease 
receivables 

Contract 
assets 1-30 days 31-60 days 61-90 days Over 91 

days Total 

 € € € € € € € 
Expected credit loss 
rate 1.021% 0.265% 0.265% 0.265% 0.455% 0.709%  

Estimated total gross 
carrying amount at 
default 

1,748,561      356,578    1,027,612         16,598           2,354       891,286    1,937,850  

Expected credit loss        17,861              945           2,723               44               11           6,322           9,100  
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January 1, 2018   Trade receivable 

 
Finance 

lease 
receivables 

Contract 
assets 1-30 days 31-60 days 61-90 days Over 91 

days Total 

 € € € € € € € 
Expected credit loss 
rate 0.993% 0.265% 0.265% 0.265% 0.455% 0.709%  

Estimated total gross 
carrying amount at 
default 

1,798,608        77,346       766,377       228,529           6,969       844,825    1,846,700  

Expected credit loss        17,861              205           2,031              606               32           5,993           8,662  
 
The aging of the receivables as presented in the table above is based on the invoice date. The payment 
terms for invoices are either 30 days or 60 days, depending on the contract type of the customer. The 
average credit period of sales is 68 days. No interest is charged on outstanding trade receivables. From 
the invoicing date, a 90 days overdue payment for trade debtors does not per definition demonstrate that a 
default occurs, which is supported by the historical low credit losses. Therefore, the definition of default 
that the Group considers includes both quantitative and qualitative indicators.  
 
The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed 
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or when the trade receivables are over two 
years past due, whichever occurs earlier. None of the trade receivables that have been written off i s 
subject to enforcement activities. The table details the risk profile of trade receivables based on the 
Group’s provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not show significantly 
different loss patterns for different customer segments, the provision for loss allowance based on past due 
status is not further distinguished between the Group’s different customer segments.  
 
c. Market risk 

i. Currency risk 
The Group bears no currency risk as all contracts are negotiated in EURO. The entity in Singapore does 
some purchases within SGD. This currency risk is mitigated by the fact that they have their own SGD 
accounts. Besides this the risk is limited because this are only the expenses which are made within 
HyGear Asia. 
 

ii. Interest rate risk 
The Group incurs interest rate risk on interest-bearing receivables and on interest-bearing non-current and 
current liabilities (including borrowings). 
 
In addition, the Group incurs low risks on fixed-interest loans payables and receivables with respect to the 
fair value due to changes in the market rate of interest. No financial derivatives for interest rate risk are 
contracted regarding the receivables. 
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d. Liquidity risk 

The Group is responsible for the liabilities towards credit providers such as banks and holders of bonds. 
The liabilities are extinguished through repayment of the principal amount included the accrued interest. 
The repayments are financed from cash flow generated during the operations of the Group. The same 
cash flows are utilised to finance the day to day activities of the Group. Management consistently monitors 
the cash flow in order to ensure that the Group has sufficiently levels of cash to meet obligations.  
 

 Carrying 
amount 

Less than 3 
months 

3 to 12 
months 

1 to 5 years More than 
5 years 

Total 

January 1, 2018 € € € €  € 
Long-term debt  5,006,456 13,160 112,120 1,896,816 3,097,424 5,119,520 
Trade and other payables 416,257 416,257 - - - 416,257 
Other liabilities 808,871 808,871 - - - 808,871 

 

 Carrying 
amount 

Less than 3 
months 

3 to 12 
months 

1 to 5 years More than 
5 years 

Total 

December 31, 2018 € € € €  € 
Long-term debt 10,977,212 58,049 174,147 5,437,023 5,547,165 11,216,384 
Trade and other payables 897,202 897,202 - - - 897,202 
Other liabilities 359,736 359,736 - - - 359,736 

 

 Carrying 
amount 

Less than 3 
months 

3 to 12 
months 

1 to 5 years More than 
5 years 

Total 

December 31, 2019 € € € €  € 
Long-term debt 18,669,356 100,133 299,558 9,736,825 9,125,224 19,261,740 
Trade and other payables 1,131,437 1,131,437 - - - 1,131,437 
Other liabilities 356,671 356,671 - - - 356,671 

 

e. Capital management 

For the purpose of the Group’s capital management, capital includes issued capital, preference shares, 

share premium and all other equity reserves attributable to the equity holders of the parent.  
 

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic 
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The policy is designed to maintain a 
strong equity position, enabling the Group to grow the business and to assure the trust of investors, 
creditors and the markets and fulfil requirements ensuing from the loans. The management monitors the 
solvency ratio’s during the year due the fact that in the NPEX bonds a solvency ratio of at least 35% is 
included. 
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f. Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities 
 

 As at 
January 1, 

2018 

Cash flows New 
leases 

Foreign 
exchange 
movement 

Other As at 
December 
31, 2018 

 € € € € € € 
Long term debt 5,006,456 5,970,756 - - - 10,977,212 
Current and Non-
current portion of 
lease liabilities 

2,213,857 (215,423) - - - 1,998,434 

Total liabilities 
from financing 
activities 

7,220,313 5,755,333 - - - 12,975,646 

 
 As at 

December 
31, 2018 

Cash flows New 
leases 

Foreign 
exchange 
movement 

Other As at 
December 
31, 2019 

 € € € € € € 
Long term debt 10,977,212 7,778,195 - - (86,051) 18,669,356 
Current and Non-
current portion of 
lease liabilities 

1,998,434 (300,877) 675,906 548 - 2,374,011 

Total liabilities 
from financing 
activities 

12,975,646 7,477,318 675,906 548 (86,051) 21,043,367 

The ‘Other’ column includes the effect of capitalization of borrowings costs. 
 
 

23. Related party transactions 
 
Note 5 provides information about the Group’s structure, including details of the subsidiaries and the holding 
company. The following table provides the total amount of transactions that have been entered into with related 
parties for the relevant financial year. 
 

  Purchases from 
related parties 

Amounts owed to 
related parties* 

  € € 
Entity with significant influence 
over the Group 

   

Oost NL December 31, 2019 - 93,132 
 December 31, 2018 - 33,070 
 January 1, 2018 - 524,732 
    
DRL Resource Management BV 
(including SDI) 

December 31, 2019 251,247 - 

 December 31, 2018 189,586 - 
    
Key management personnel of 
the Group: 

   

Other director’s interests December 31, 2019 178,890 - 
 December 31, 2018 116,217 - 

*The amounts are classified as Trade payables, respectively. 
 
The amount which are included in the overview above relates to the following transactions: 
Oost NL 
These amount owed to Oost NL relates to a dividend payable and the payables to shareholders regarding the 
purchase of certificates of ordinary shares. 
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DRL: 
These amounts consist of management fees which are paid. 
 
 

  Interest paid Amounts owed to 
related parties 

  € € 
Loan from related parties*    
Oost NL December 31, 2019 70,419 2,597,272 
 December 31, 2018 48,878 597,252 
 January 1, 2018  409,940 
    
DRL Resource Management BV 
(including SDI) 

December 31, 2019 48,878 682,942 

 December 31, 2018 42,704 682,942 
 January 1, 2018  468,602 
    

*Refer to Note 14 for loan details 
 
Term and conditions of transactions with related parties 
The sales to and purchases from related parties are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s 
length transactions. Amounts owed classified as trade payables are normally settled on 30-days terms. 
Outstanding balances at the year-end are unsecured and interest free and settlement occurs in cash. There 
have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or payables.  
 
Compensation of key management personnel  

 2019 2018 

 € € 
Wages 266,522 314,124  
Post-employment pension and medical benefits 17,093 11,755 
Reimbursement of expenses 43,021 10,228 
Share-based payment 15,995 12,750 
Total compensation of key management personnel  342,631 348,857 

 

24. Subsequent events 
 

Impact of the Corona virus 
In March 2020, the global outbreak of the Corona virus (Covid-19) started to impact many businesses 
worldwide. As the Covid-19 outbreak became apparent after 31 December 2019 this should be seen as a event 
after balance sheet date. At HyGear, different parts of our business are affected as well in 2020 and this 
paragraph describes the major aspects and our analysis of business continuity in that respect.  
 
Immediate effects; government policies on travel restrictions 
Travel restrictions influence three parts of our business negatively.  

− The first is that we can’t commission newly delivered installations in countries with travel restrictions. 
This currently mainly concerns new installations in Bangladesh, as European travel is still allowed. In 
the specific case in Bangladesh, our customer faces the same issues of delay as our equipment is part 
of a larger plant and we don’t expect too much long term effects, assuming that the situation improves 
towards years end. This situation is still ongoing although we see travel restrictions being lifted for 
many countries and we managed to establish procedures including regular testing to mitigate these 
restrictions. 

− Secondly, we have ongoing maintenance contracts with existing customers. Until now we have not 
been restricted to perform these maintenance activities because of special permits, for example in 
Spain and Belgium. In locations where travel is more difficult, we have been able to perform these 
activities remotely. We expect this not to cause too much problems, assuming the situation improves 
towards years end.  
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− Thirdly, our sales force has not been able to follow up on leads as effectively because site visits, 
conferences and trade shows have proven to be strong instruments to identify new customers and 
build relations. Until now we have seen the sales funnel grow, but the actual number of booked orders 
stays behind target. As all negotiations that were started pre-Covid are still ongoing, we currently see 
this as a temporary slowdown, waiting for customers to take purchase decisions again. And since our 
order book was filled appropriately in the beginning of the year, we do not expect long term negative 
effects. We also observed that the world is learning to live with Covid and believe that sales levels will 
return to normal or increase in 2021. 

 
Impact on revenue 
As we have percentage of completion accounting applicable, sending off temporary staff will lead to delays in 
product delivery. We have initially calculated that if the Covid situation remains for the rest of the year. This 
could lead to a reduction of revenues of between 40 and 60% depending on the distribution of activities for Gas 
as a Service projects and turn-key and provided we can keep all GaaS projects operational, which is the case 
until now.  
 
As we were planning for growth in 2020, we anticipated this to be the most negative scenario. After analysis of 
our progress in the 2020, we were glad to conclude that the actual impact is less than initially anticipated. Until 
Q3 2020 we have calculated the impact to be a reduction of 30% against our original plan. We also expect Q4 
to be relatively busy, near the original levels which would allow us to believe we can further reduce this loss of 
revenue over the entire year 2020. 
 
Impact on results 
Although our revenue is under pressure for the year 2020, there will be two positive effects to offset the deficit in 
related. 

− The Dutch government issued measures to compensate companies for loss in revenue. We have 
applied for and been granted subsidy under the NOW1 and NOW2 programs and applied for the NOW 
3 program as well (not granted yet) 

− The assembly works that we continue to perform with our own staff is less expensive than the works 
performed by third party staff and will increase our expected margins (on projects basis) 

 
At this time it is difficult to gauge the impact exactly but with the busy quarter ahead we believe a significant part 
of the gross margin losses will be offset by these effects. Still, in our analysis over the first three quarters of 
2020 we see a negative overall result, worse than our first three quarters results over 2019. This is partially due 
to a shift in activities for GaaS contracts, as these activities don’t yield immediate margins, and partially due to 
the above mentioned effects. We also concluded that the loss in revenue in the second quarter was worse than 
the revenue loss in the third quarter, which leads us to believe that the situation is improving. Based on our 
current order portfolio, we believe this trend to continue into the fourth quarter and possibly contribute to a 
slightly better result at years end.  
 
Impacts on financing and cash flow  
In 2020, we secured € 5M additional financing from one of our shareholders. We are confident that we will be 
able to attract further financing if needed. 
 
Meanwhile, we have approached a set of investors, ranging from private equity, family offices, strategic 
investors, institutional investors, banks and infrastructure financiers. The responses we received were very 
positive and we have entered discussions with some of them. 
 
As the opportunities were many, we decided to engage Investment Banks to assist us in this process. Early 
October, we narrowed the selection down to two Banks that both pitched their offering to our Supervisory Board 
and shareholders. At the same time, one strategic investor expressed interest in the possible integration of our 
Group into their business. As this would potentially be a fast track to further growth, we have decided to 
postpone the engagement of the Investment Bank until early January. 
 
Impacts on employee wellbeing and morale 
At the start of the outbreak in The Netherlands, we followed government advice to work from home if possible. 
This means all people with administrative, scientific or engineering jobs worked remotely, to create space for 
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people who needed to work at the Group’s premises. So far this works well. In fact, surprisingly, we noticed 
some tasks were performed more efficiently than usual. 
 
We also noticed a potentially negative effect that people don’t use their holidays as much as they normally 
would in the first six months. In order to make sure we don’t get confronted with people going on holiday all at 
the same time when Covid cleared, we agreed with our Workers Counsel that people have to use 14 mandatory 
holidays before mid-July and 7 days around Christmas.  
Overall, morale is still good. In fact there is a general feeling to get through this difficult period together and 
speed up again as soon as the situation improves.  
 
Other business drivers related to tangible and intangible assets 
We operate several GaaS assets in long term contracts at customers sites. In all cases, we have calculated that 
the carrying amounts of these assets on our balance sheet is less than the fair value of the underlying contracts, 
with the exception of the contracts with a potential termination before the technical end of life of the assets. For 
these we assume that we can redeploy these assets for their full technical rest of life, if such contract would be 
terminated. We feel this is a fair and true statement concerning GaaS assets as they are characterised by a 
high level of standardization and operating these GaaS assets is our core business.  
 
Related to Covid, it could happen that our customers will not be able to sustain their business (at the current 
level) and therefore the need for Hydrogen could reduce. As these are usually large companies, and our 
contracts have termination clauses that would trigger indemnifications, we consider these risks to be very low. 
As we assume that Covid will disappear at some point in the foreseeable future, we don’t think any impairments 
are necessary. 
 
We also studied our intangible assets, HyDEV and HyREC. As the expected business volume in the near future 
(HyREC) and the current business volume (HyDEV) is such, that the return these intangible assets is already 
relatively short, and we expect Covid to disappear somewhere in the near future, we also see no reason for 
impairments.  
 
Uncertainty remains 
It must be emphasized that a lot of uncertainty remains in relation to the duration of the Corona crisis and the 
government measures taken. It is uncertain what the long term impact on the global economy, our client base 
and therefore our Group will be. We need capital, both debt and equity, if we want to maintain our current 
growth model. Given the envisioned development of a hydrogen economy, there is still a lot of interest in our 
Group and our technological capabilities. We are confident that we have enough liquidity, consisting of cash and 
committed facilities, for the 12 months following the date of these financial statements.  
Thereafter we will need capital inflow, or otherwise we will need to dramatically change our business model and 
possibly miss the growing opportunity that is emerging in hydrogen as energy carrier. 
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25. Commitments  
 

Leases  
The Group has a lease contract that has not yet commenced as at December 31, 2019. The future lease 
payments for the non-cancellable lease contract are €27,313 within one year and €63,729 within five 
years. 
 
Bank guarantees 
The following bank guarantees are issued: 
 
 December 31, 2019 December 1, 2018 January 1, 2018 

 € € € 
Service guarantee LHPU unit  5,125 5,125 5,125 
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26. Segment information  
 
Information reported to the Group’s Chief Executive Officer (the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM)) 
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance is focused on the overall 
operations of HyGear which is the development and production of hydrogen technology solutions. As such, 
the Group has one reportable segment under IFRS 8. 
 

Reportable segment 
 

Products and services 

Development and production of hydrogen 
technology solutions 

“Turnkey” solutions, Gas-as-a-service (“GAAS”) 
solutions, service and maintenance on the 
installed base of Turnkey solutions and hydrogen 
sales.  

 
Revenues from major products and services 
The Group’s revenues from its major products and services are disclosed in Note 18. 
 
Geographical information 
The Group’s revenue from external customers and information about its segment assets (non-current 
assets excluding financial instruments, deferred tax assets and other financial assets) by geographical 
location are detailed below: 
 

 December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 January 1, 2018 
 Revenue 

from external 
customers 

Non-current 
assets 

Revenue 
from external 

customers 

Non-current 
assets 

Non-current 
assets 

 € € € € € 
Netherlands        1,546,862          17,252,205            941,037          13,077,020     9,007,594 
Singapore                    -                  23,292            897,782                 23,386     13,447 
China        1,021,661                       -              587,145                        -       - 
France           933,830                       -              510,491                        -       - 
UK           998,161                       -                       -                          -       - 
Belgium        1,764,196            2,013,357                     -                          -       - 
Spain                    -              1,587,849                     -              1,646,857     1,731,647 
Bangladesh        1,629,732                       -              947,217                        -       - 
Other        1,123,895                       -                47,900                        -       - 
Total  9,018,337      20,876,703         3,931,572          14,747,263     10,752,688 

 
Information about major customers 
Included in revenues arising from the development and production of hydrogen technology solutions are 
revenues of approximately € (1,397,276) (2018: € (1,367,596) which arose from sales to the Group’s 
largest customer. No other single customers contributed 10 per cent or more to the Group’s revenue in 
either 2019 or 2018. 
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27. First time adoption of IFRS 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). These are the Group’s first consolidated financial statements 
prepared in accordance with IFRSs and IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting 
Standards has been applied. These consolidated financial statements do not purport to be the statutory 
financial statements of the Group. 
 
Accordingly, the Group has prepared financial statements that comply with IFRS applicable as at December 
31, 2019, together with the comparative period data for the year ended December 31, 2018. In preparing the 
financial statements, the Group’s opening statement of financial position was prepared as at January  1, 
2018, the Group’s date of transition to IFRS.  
 
This section explains the principal adjustments made by the Group in restating i ts Dutch GAAP financial 
statements, including the statement of financial position as at January 1, 2018 and the financial statements 
for the year ended December 31, 2018. 
 
Exemptions applied 
IFRS 1 allows first-time adopters certain exemptions from the retrospective application of certain 
requirements under IFRS. 
The Group has applied the following exemptions: 
 

Share-based payments 
IFRS 2 Share-based Payment has not been applied to equity instruments in share-based payment 
transactions that were granted on or before 7 November 2002, nor has it been applied to equity instruments 
granted after 7 November 2002 that vested before 1 January 2018. For cash-settled share-based payment 
transactions, the Group has not applied IFRS 2 to liabilities that were settled before 1 January 2018. 

Leases 
The Group assessed all contracts existing at 1 January 2018 to determine whether a contract contains a lease 
based upon the conditions in place as at 1 January 2018. 
 
Lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the 
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at 1 January 2018. Right-of-use assets were measured at the amount equal 
to the lease liabilities, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease 
recognised in the statement of financial position immediately before 1 January 2018 and apply IAS 36 to right-
of-use assets at the date of transition to IFRSs.   
 
The lease payments associated with leases for which the lease term ends within 12 months of the date of 
transition to IFRS and leases for which the underlying asset is of low value have been recognised as an expense 
on either a straight-line basis over the lease term or another systematic basis.The Group also used hindsight in 
determining the lease term if contracts contain option to extend or terminate.  

Borrowing cost 
The Group has applied the transitional provisions in IAS 23 Borrowing Costs and capitalizes borrowing costs 
relating to all qualifying assets after the date of transition. Similarly, the Group has not restated for borrowing 
costs capitalised under Local GAAP on qualifying assets prior to the date of transition to IFRS. 
 

Revenue 
The Group has applied the transitional provisions in IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers : 

- No restating contracts that were completed before January 1, 2018.  
- No retrospective adjustments were made for contract modifications which occurred prior to January 

1, 2018. 
- The Group did not disclose the amount of the transaction price allocated to the remaining 

performance obligations and did not disclose an explanation of when the entity expects to recognise 
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that amount as revenue for all reporting periods presented before January 1, 2018 which is the date 
of the first IFRS reporting period. 

Cumulative translation differences 
The Group has elected to use the cumulative translation differences exemption. Hence, the cumulative 
translation differences for all foreign operations are deemed to be zero at the date of transition to IFRS and 
the gain or loss on a subsequent disposal of any foreign operation shall exclude translation differences that 
arose before the date of transition to IFRS’s and shall include later translation differences. 
 

Estimates 
The estimates at January 1, 2018 and at December 31, 2018 and 2019 are consistent with those made for 
the same dates in accordance with Dutch GAAP (after adjustments to reflect any differences in accounting 
policies) apart from the following items where application of Dutch GAAP did not require estimation:  

• share-based payments; 
• expected credit loss 
• leases. 

The estimates used by the Group to present these amounts in accordance with IFRS reflect conditions at 
January 1, 2018, the date of transition to IFRS and as at December 31, 2018 and 2019.  
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Group reconciliation of equity  

 
  December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 January 1, 2018 
  Dutch GAAP Reclassifications 

and 
Remeasurements 

IFRS Dutch GAAP Reclassifications 
and 

Remeasurements 

IFRS Dutch GAAP Reclassifications 
and 

Remeasurements 

IFRS 

 Notes € € € € € € € € € 

Assets           
           
Current assets           
Cash and cash equivalents  P  3,591,677 - 3,591,677 3,201,298 - 3,201,298 2,007,615 - 2,007,615 
Prepayments A - 564,117 564,117 - 865,343 865,343 - 205,543 205,543 
Contract assets B,C - 2,611,234 2,611,234 - 355,633 355,633 - 77,141 77,141 
Construction contracts B,D 3,110,218 (3,110,218) - 741,210 (741,210) - 630,056 (630,056) - 
Receivables A,C,D 2,069,282 453,605 2,522,887 2,661,731 296,307 2,958,038 2,163,150 459,381 2,622,531 
Current portion of finance lease receivables  E - 155,645 155,645 - 75,463 75,463 - 57,378 57,378 
Inventories A, G 1,324,660 (525,918) 798,742 935,429 (786,186) 149,243 419,280 (120,871) 298,409 
Other current financial assets E - 6,894 6,894 - 8,874 8,874 - 1,497 1,497 
Total current assets  10,095,837 155,359 10,251,196 7,539,668 74,224 7,613,892 5,220,101 50,013 5,270,114 

           
Non-current assets           
Non-current portion of finance lease receivables C,E - 3,601,206 3,601,206 - 1,646,857 1,646,857 - 1,722,320 1,722,320 
Right-of-use assets F - 2,302,022 2,302,022 - 1,950,308 1,950,308 - 2,213,857 2,213,857 
Property, plant and equipment E,G 15,960,581 (2,691,728) 13,268,853 11,986,641 (1,440,256) 10,546,385 8,432,887 (1,625,703) 6,807,184 
Intangible assets G 1,523,100 181,522 1,704,622 534,681 69,032 603,713 9,327 - 9,327 
Total non-current assets  17,483,681 3,393,022 20,876,703 12,521,322 2,225,941 14,747,263 8,442,214 2,310,474 10,752,688 

           
Total assets  27,579,518 3,548,381 31,127,899 20,060,990 2,300,165 22,361,155 13,662,315 2,360,487 16,022,802 

           
Liabilities           
           
Current liabilities           
Trade and other payables H - 1,543,769 1,543,769 - 1,353,764 1,353,764 - 1,262,164 1,262,164 
Contract liabilities B - 542,893 542,893 - 969,898 969,898 - 217,807 217,807 
Current portion of long-term debt H - 322,118 322,118 - 179,162 179,162 - 104,941 104,941 
Current portion of lease liabilities F - 323,016 323,016 - 218,054 218,054 - 215,423 215,423 
Government grants H - 1,494,364 1,494,364 - 1,584,632 1,584,632 - 1,445,240 1,445,240 
Total current liabilities H 3,903,144 323,016 4,226,160 4,087,456 218,054 4,305,510 3,030,152 215,423 3,245,575 

           
Non-current liabilities           
Long-term debt I, J - 18,347,238 18,347,238 - 10,798,050 10,798,050 - 4,901,515 4,901,515 
Non-current portion of lease liabilities F - 2,050,995 2,050,995 - 1,780,380 1,780,380 - 1,998,434 1,998,434 
Provision I - - - - - - - 380,129 380,129 
Net employee defined benefit liabilities  Q  - - - - 761,636 761,636 - 790,316 790,316 
Deferred tax liabilities  S  - 238,700 238,700 - 111,834 111,834 - 112,550 112,550 
Total non-current liabilities I 18,593,179 2,043,754 20,636,933 10,798,050 2,653,850 13,451,900 5,281,644 2,901,300 8,182,944 

           
Total liabilities  22,496,323 2,366,770 24,863,093 14,885,506 2,871,904 17,757,410 8,311,796 3,116,723 11,428,519 

           
Equity           
Share capital  - 21,853 21,853 - 21,853 21,853 - 21,853 21,853 
Other component of equity J, K, 

O - 4,602,790 4,602,790 - 4,313,497 4,313,497 - 4,648,027 4,648,027 

Cumulative translation adjustment N - 13,868 13,868 - 3,494 3,494 - - - 
Retained earnings E, K, 

N, O, 
Q 

- 1626,295 1,626,295 - 264,901 264,901 - (75,597) (75,597) 

Total equity  5,083,195 1,181,611 6,264,806 5,175,484 (571,739) 4,603,745 5,350,519 (756,236) 4,594,283 

           

Total equity and liabilities  27,579,518 3,548,381 31127899 20,060,990 2,300,165 22,361,155 13,662,315 2,360,487 16,022,802 
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Group reconciliation of total comprehensive income  

 
  December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 
  Dutch GAAP Reclassifications 

and 
Remeasurements 

IFRS Dutch GAAP Reclassifications 
and 

Remeasurements 

IFRS 

 Notes € € € € € € 

Revenue from contracts with customers  E, I  - 9,018,337 9,018,337 - 3,931,572 3,931,572 
Government grants  L  - 2,366,694 2,366,694 - 1,802,857 1,802,857 

Total income  9,620,835 1,764,196 11,385,031 5,812,896 (78,467) 5,734,429 

        
Direct material costs E 4,370,397 1,273,592 5,643,989 1,821,322 - 1,821,322 
Subcontracting and other external costs   170,087 - 170,087 164,841 - 164,841 
Salaries, wages and temporary workers K 1,690,957 (78,985) 1,611,972 1,325,295 79,067 1,404,362 
Social security contribution  608,838 - 608,838 580,679 - 580,679 
Post employment benefit costs Q 250,544 (895,139) (644,595) 202,237 (111,204) 91,033 
Amortisation and depreciation E,F 666,972 241,968 908,940 608,880 153,702 762,582 
Other operating expenses C,F,Q 995,761 313,560 1,309,321 273,165 438,867 712,032 
Capitalised expenses R - (742,117) (742,117) - (742,473) (742,473) 
Total expenses  8,753,556 112,879 8,866,435 4,976,419 (182,041) 4794,378 

Operating profit  867,279 1,651,317 2,518,596 836,477 103,574 940,051 

        
Finance costs F,G,M,Q - (965,367) (965,367) - (551,692) (551,692) 
Finance income E,M - 65,401 65,401 - 41,829 41,829 
Finance income and costs M (1,071,853) 1,071,853 - (557,828) 557,828 - 
Profit before tax   (204,574) 1,823,204 1,618,630 278,649 151,539 430,188 

Income tax expense  S  - (126,866) (126,866) (43,581) 716 (42,865) 
        
Profit for the year attributable to equity holder   (204,574) 1,696,338 1,491,764 235,068 152,255 387,323 

        
Other comprehensive income        
Other comprehensive income that may be 
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:         

Exchange differences on translation of foreign 
operations, net of tax  - 10,374 10,374 - 3,494 3,494 

Net other comprehensive income that may be 
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent 
periods 

 - 10,374 10,374 - 3,494 3,494 

Other comprehensive income that will not be 
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:  

       

Return on plan assets (excluding interest income)  Q - 151,855 151,855 - (77,583) (77,583) 
Actuarial (gains) / losses Q - (282,225) (282,225) - 30,758 30,758 
Net other comprehensive income that will not 
be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent 
periods 

 - (130,370) (130,370) - (46,825) (46,825) 
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Explanatory notes 

The effects of the transition to IFRS on the line items in the preceding tables can be classified into two categories: those that have a recognition, measurement, 
presentation and/or disclosure effects for the Group, or those that only have presentation and/or disclosure effects for the Group.  

 

Notes Topic 
Recognition, 
measurement 

Presentation 
and/or 
disclosure Comments 

A Prepayments  X Amounts related to prepayments were previously included under Inventories and Receivables.  
As at January 1, 2018, €120,871 reduced Inventories, €84,672 reduced Receivables and €205,543 
increased Prepayments.  
As at December 31, 2018, €786,186 reduced Inventories, €79,157 reduced Receivables and €865,343 
increased Prepayments. 
As at December 31, 2019, €530,947 reduced Inventories, €33,170 reduced Receivables and €564,117 
increased Prepayments. 

B Revenue  X Under Dutch GAAP, the Group recognised Construction contracts, even if the receipt of the total 
consideration was conditional on successful completion of installation services. Under IFRS, any 
earned consideration that is conditional should be recognised as a contract asset rather than a 
Construction contract. Therefore, the Group reclassified €77,141 on January 1, 2018, €355,578 on 
December 31, 2018 and €2,618,171 on December 31, 2019 from construction contracts to contract 
assets. 
 
Under Dutch GAAP, the Group recognised current liability for an obligation to transfer goods or services 
to a customer for which the entity has received consideration or the amount is due from the customer. 
Under IFRS, the obligation should be recognised as a contract liability rather than a current liability. 
Therefore, the Group reclassified €217,807 on January 1, 2018, €969,898 on December 31, 2018 and € 
542,893 on December 31, 2019 from current liabilities to contract liabilities.  
 

C IFRS 9 – 
expected credit 
loss 

X X The adoption of IFRS has fundamentally changed the Group’s accounting for impairment losses for 
financial assets by replacing incurred loss approach under Dutch GAAP with a forward-looking 
expected credit loss (ECL) approach. IFRS requires the Group to recognise an allowance for ECLs for 
all financial instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss and contract assets. At the date of 
transition to IFRS, the Group recognised additional impairment on its Contract assets, Receivables and 
Finance lease receivable of €205, €8,657 and €17,681 respectively as of January 1, 2018, €740, €511 
and €nil respectively as of December 31, 2018 and €5,992, €(3,896) and €9,827 respectively as of 
December 31, 2019, which resulted in an increase in Other operating expenses by the same amounts.   

D Construction 
contracts 

 X Amounts related to Receivables were previously included under Construction contracts.  
As at January 1, 2018, €552,710 reduced Construction contracts and increased Receivables.  
As at December 31, 2018, €384,632 reduced Construction contracts and increased Receivables.  
As a December 31, 2019, €492,047 reduced Construction contracts and increased Receivables.  

E Leases where 
the Group is a 
lessor 

X X The application of IFRS 16 to leases where the Group is a lessor resulted in the reclassification of 
certain GaaS contracts from operating to finance leases.  As such, this resulted in the recognition of 
finance lease receivables, the de-recognition of the property plant and equipment previously capitalized 
for these GaaS contracts on the balance sheet as well as its related amortisation expense and interest 
income on the finance lease receivables, direct material costs, and a revenue on the upfront recogni tion 
of the lease income. Previously recognized GaaS revenue associated these reclassified finance leases 
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and where the lease payments are fixed and relate to the lease component in the contract were 
reversed in the income statement.  
Payments related to service components of the GaaS contracts recognized as finance were also 
recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, which resulted in a variation in rental 
income and increase in deferred rent income due to the timing difference between revenue recognition 
and cash receipts.  
As at January 1, 2018, this resulted in a Finance lease receivable of 1,797,379, a Deferred revenue of 
€1,497, a decrease of Property, plant and equipment of €1,625,703, and an increase in Retained 
earnings of €173,173. 
As at December 31, 2018, this resulted in a Finance lease receivable of 1,740,001, a Deferred revenue 
of €8,874, a decrease of Property, plant and equipment of €1,515,856, and an increase in Retained 
earnings of €233,019. 
As at December 31, 2019, this resulted in a Finance lease receivable of 8,784,359, a Deferred revenue 
of €6,894, a decrease of Property, plant and equipment of €2,860,130, and an increase in Retained 
earnings of €931,123.  
For the 12-month period ended December 31, 2018, this resulted in a decrease in Amortisation 
expense of €109,847, a decrease in Revenue of €78,467 and an increase in interest income of 
€28,466. 
For the 12-month period ended December 31, 2019, this resulted in a decrease in Amortisation 
expense of €109,847, an increase in Revenue of €1,764,196, an increase in Direct material cost of 
€1,211,357 and an interest income of €35,418. 

F Leases where 
the Group is a 
lessee 

X 
 
 

X The application of IFRS 16 to leases where the Group is a lessee and previously classified as operating 
leases (other than short-term or low value leases) under Dutch GAAP resulted in the recognition of 
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet and the corresponding amortization 
expense and interest expense in the income statement.  
 
Previously recognized rental expense associated with these leases where the lease payments are fixed 
and relate to the lease component in the contract were reversed in the income statement.   
 
As at January 1, 2018, this resulted in a recognition of a Right-of-use asset and a Lease liability of 
€2,213,857.  
As at December 31, 2018, this resulted in a Right-of-use asset of €1,950,308, a lease liability of 
€1,998,434, interest expense of €105,125, amortisation expense of €263,549 and a reduction in Other 
operating expenses of €320,548. 
As at December 31, 2019, this resulted in a Right-of-use asset of €2,302,022, a lease liability of 
€2,374,011, interest expense of €113,134, amortisation expense of €351,209 and a reduction in Other 
operating expenses of €440,480. 

G Capitalization of 
borrowing cost 

X X Under IFRS, borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset 
that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised 
as part of the cost of the asset. At the date of transition to IFRS, the Group increased inventory, property 
plant and equipment and intangible assets by €5,029, €92,802 and €112,490 respectively (December 31, 
2018: €nil, €75,600 and €69,032 respectively), decreased interest expenses by €273,162 (December 31, 
2018: €144,632), increased direct material costs by €62,235 (2018: €nil) and increased amortisation and 
depreciation of €606 (2018:€nil) 

H Current liabilities  X Amounts related to the different categories of current liabilities have been reclassified to the right line 
items under IFRS.  
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As at January 1, 2018, €2,812,345 reduced current liabilities and €1,262,164, €104,941 and €1,445,240 
increased Trade and other payables, Current portion of long-term debt and Government grants 
respectively 
As at December 31, 2018, €3,117,558 reduced current liabilities and €1,353,764, €179,162 and 
€1,584,632 increased Trade and other payables, Current portion of long-term debt and Government 
grants respectively. 
As at December 31, 2019, €3,360,251 reduced current liabilities and €1,543,769, €322,188 and 
€1,494,264 increased Trade and other payables, Current portion of long-term debt and Government 
grants respectively. 

I Non-Current 
liabilities 

 X Amounts related to the different categories of non-current liabilities have been reclassified to the right 
line items under IFRS.  
As at January 1, 2018, €5,281,644 reduced the Non-current liabilities and €4,901,515 and €380,129 
increased Long-term debt and Provisions respectively.  
As at December 31, 2018, €10,798,050 reduced the Non-current liabilities and increased the Long-term 
debt.  
As at December 31, 2019, €18,593,179 reduced the Non-current liabilities and increased the Long-term 
debt 

J Equity 
instrument 

X X Under IFRS, the Group has initially recorded the equity instrument at fair value in the equity. As at 
December 31, 2019, the €266,367 difference between the IFRS and Dutch GAAP carrying amount has 
been recognised as Other reserves Ordinary in equity and reduce the debt. This remeasurement also 
increased the interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2019 on the long-term debt calculated 
with the effective interest method of €20,426. 

K Share-based 
payments 

X X Under IFRS, the share-based compensation cannot be recognized on a straight-line basis over the 
vesting period. Accordingly, the share-based compensation has been adjusted to reflect the recognition 
over the vesting period to treat each instalment as a separate share option grant because each 
instalment has a different vesting period (graded vesting). 
As at January 1, 2018, €15,608 reduced the retained earnings and increased the Other reserves 
Ordinary in equity. 
As at December 31, 2018, €15,608 reduce the retained earnings, €79,067 increased the Salaries, 
wages and temporary workers expense and €94,675 increased the Other reserves Ordinary in equity.  
As at December 31, 2019, €94,675 reduce the retained earnings, €78,895 decreased the Salaries, 
wages and temporary workers expense and €15,690 increased the Other reserves Ordinary in equity.  

L Government 
grant 

 X As at December 31, 2019, €2,366,694 of government grants were previously presented within Revenue 
under Dutch GAAP and have been reclassified to Government grants under IFRS (December 31, 2018: 
€1,802,857)   

M Finance income 
and costs 

 X As at December 31, 2019, €1,071,853 of finance income and cost were presented within one line item 
under Dutch GAAP and have been reclassified to Finance income for an amount of €29,983 and 
Finance expense for an amount of €1,101,836. For 2018, €557,828 of Finance income and costs was 
reclassified to Finance income and Finance expense for €13,363 and €571,191 respectively. 

N Exchange 
difference foreign 
entity 

X  Refer to exemptions applied on transition date.  
As at January 1, 2018, an amount of €3,276 reduced the opening retained earnings to eliminate the 
opening amount of exchange difference foreign entity. 

O Legal reserves 
ordinary  

 X Under IFRS, there is no legal reserves ordinary, this arise from a Dutch GAAP law regulation. Therefore, as 
at December 31, 2019, €975,428 was reclassified to other reserves ordinary (December 31, 2018: €493,799). 

P Statement of 
cash flows 

X  Under Dutch GAAP, a lessee lease is classified as a finance lease or an operating lease. Cash flows arising 
from operating lease payments are classified as operating activities. Under IFRS, a lessee generally applies a 
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single recognition and measurement approach for all leases and recognises lease liabilities. Cash flows 
arising from payments of principal portion of lease liabilities are classified as financing activities. Therefore, 
cash outflows from operating activities decreased by €141,202 (€443,833 in  2018) and cash outflows from 
financing activities increased by the same amount. Under Dutch GAAP, all lessor leases were classified as 
operating leases and the cash flow related to those leases were classified as operating activities. Under 
IFRS, some of these leases are now classified as Finance and therefore, the cash outflows from operating 
activities increased by €81,292 (€57,378 in 2018) and the cash outflows from investing activities increased by 
the same amount 

Q Net employee 
defined benefit 
liabilities 

X  Under Dutch GAAP, the Group recognised costs related to its pension plan on a cash basis. Under IFRS, 
defined benefit plan obligations are recognised and are measured using the projected unit credit method. The 
pension 
liability has been recognised in full against retained earnings.  
As at January 1, 2018, an amount of €790,316 increased the Net defined benefit liability and decreased the 
retained earnings by the same amount.  
As at December 31, 2018, an amount of €nil (2018: €761,636) increased the Net defined benefit liability and 
decreased the retained earnings by the same amount. An amount of €895,139 (2018: €111,204) decreased 
the post-employment benefit costs, €nil (2018: €15,691) decreased the Other operating expenses, €3,133 
(2018: 20,008) increased the finance costs, €151,855 (2018: €77,783) increased the return on plan assets 
and €282,225 (2018: €30,758) decreased the Actuarial (gains) / losses.  

R Capitalised 
expenses 

 X Under Dutch GAAP, the capitalised expenses were included in the Other operating expenses. Under IFRS, 
the capitalised expenses have been separated. An amount of €742,117 (2018: €742,473) have been put in 
Capitalised expenses and is increasing the other operating expenses 

S Deferred tax 
liabilities 

X X The various transitional adjustments resulted in various temporary differences. According to the accounting 
policies, the Group has to recognise the tax effects of such differences. Deferred tax adjustments of €112,550 
are recognised in retained earnings as at January 1, 2018 with the same amount increasing the Deferred tax 
liabilities. The deferred tax liabilities decreased by €716 in 2018, with the same amount affecting the related 
period's income taxes. The deferred tax l iabilities increased by €126,866 in 2019, with the same amount 
affecting the related period's income taxes. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REVIEW REPORT 

To: The shareholders and supervisory board of Green Vision Holding B.V. 

Report on the review of the condensed interim consolidated financial statements for the nine-
month period ended 30 September 2020  

Introduction 
We have reviewed the accompanying condensed interim consolidated financial statements for the nine-
month period ended 30 September 2020 of Green Vision Holding B.V. based in Arnhem. 

The condensed interim consolidated financial statements comprises:  
1. the condensed consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 September 2020;  
2. the following statements for the period from 1 January 2020 to 30 September 2020: the condensed 

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the condensed 
consolidated statement of changes in equity, and the condensed consolidated statement of cash 
flows; and  

3. the notes, comprising a summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.   
 

Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of this interim financial information in 
accordance with IAS 34, 'Interim Financial Reporting'. Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on this 
condensed interim consolidated financial information based on our review.  
  
Scope 
We conducted our review in accordance with Dutch law including ISRE 2410 ‘Review of interim financial 
information performed by the independent auditor of the entity’. A review of interim financial information 
consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, and 
applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit 
conducted in accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing and consequently does not enable us to 
obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in an 
audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.  
 
Emphasis of matter on impact COVID-19  
The Coronavirus also impacts Green Vision Holding B.V. In the ‘Impact of COVID-19’ (note 5 to the 
condensed interim consolidated financial statements) management describes the impact of the Corona 
virus and the measures to deal with the events and circumstances. Furthermore management notes that it 
is difficult to assess the current impact of the Corona virus on the company and the financial position of 
the company, and uncertainty remains. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

Conclusion 
Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the condensed 
interim consolidated financial information for the period from 1 January 2020 to 30 September 2020, is not 
prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with IAS 34, 'Interim Financial Reporting’.  

Arnhem, December 5, 2020 
Flynth Audit B.V.  

signed on the original 

drs. J.W.M. Verhagen RA CISA 
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Condensed Interim Consolidated statement of financial 
position 
(unaudited) 
As at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 
Expressed in Euro  

  September 30, 
2020 

 December 31, 
2019 

 

 Notes €  €  
Assets      
      
Current assets      
Cash and cash equivalents 6 1,251,926  3,591,677  
Prepayments  496,004  564,117  
Contract assets 7 858,811  2,611,234  
Receivables  2,094,146  2,522,887  
Current portion of finance lease receivables  159,334  155,645  
Inventories  1,535,165  798,742  
Other current financial assets  6,422  6,894  
Total current assets  6,401,808  10,251,196  
      
Non-current assets      
Non-current portion of finance lease receivables  3,503,068  3,601,206  
Right-of-use assets  2,096,418  2,302,022  
Property, plant and equipment  15,618,547  13,268,853  
Intangible assets 8 2,409,146  1,704,622  
Total non-current assets  23,627,179  20,876,703  
      
Total assets  30,028,987  31,127,899  
      
Liabilities      
      
Current liabilities      
Trade and other payables  1,297,511  1,543,769  
Contract liabilities  537,557  542,893  
Current portion of long-term debt  394,660  322,118  
Current portion of lease liabilities  372,418  323,016  
Government grants  1,443,357  1,494,364  
Total current liabilities  4,045,503  4,226,160  
      
Non-current liabilities      
Long-term debt  18,770,045  18,347,238  
Non-current portion of lease liabilities  1,793,321  2,050,995  
Deferred tax liabilities  231,898  238,700  

Total non-current liabilities  20,795,264  20,636,933  

      
Total liabilities  24,840,767  24,863,093  
      
Equity      
Share capital 9 21,853  21,853  
Other components of equity  4,623,035  4,602,790  
Cumulative translation adjustment  13,868  13,868  
Retained earnings  529,464  1,626,295  
Total equity  5,188,220  6,264,806  
      
      
Total equity and liabilities  30,028,987  31,127,899  

 

 



 

 

Condensed Interim Consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income 
(unaudited) 
For the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 
Expressed in Euro 
 

     
  2020  2019 
 Notes €  € 

Revenue from contracts with customers 11 2,345,525  6,339,573 
Government grants  1,917,621  1,736,041 
Total income  4,263,146  8,075,614 

     
Direct material costs  1,358,467  4,200,674 
Subcontracting and other external costs  171,726  118,060 
Salaries, wages and temporary workers  695,584  1,566,670 
Social security contribution  545,428  448,561 
Post-employment benefit costs  194,831  (691,627) 
Amortisation and depreciation  960,954  667,414 
Other operating expenses 12 934,267  651,276 
Capitalised expense  (651,667)  (587,686) 
Total expenses  4,209,590  6,373,342 

     
Operating profit  53,556  1,702,272 

     
Finance costs 13 (1,248,296)  (724,797) 
Finance income  91,107  49,356 
Profit before tax   (1,103,633)  1,026,831 

Income tax expense  6,802  (221,204) 
     
Profit for the period attributable to equity holders  (1,096,831)  805,627 

     
Other comprehensive income     
Other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified to 
profit or loss in subsequent periods: 

    

Return on plan assets (excluding interest income)  -  151,855 
Actuarial (gains) / losses  -  (282,225) 
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the period, net 
of tax 

 -  (130,370) 

Total other comprehensive income for the period, net of 
tax attributable to equity holders 

 (1,096,831)  675,257 

     
Earnings per share 14    

Basic earnings per share  (€0,25)  €0,19 
Diluted earnings per share  (€0,25)  €0,19 

     
     

 
 
 
 
  



 

 

Condensed interim Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
(unaudited) 
As at September 30, 2020 and as at December 31, 2019 
Expressed in Euro  
 

     

 Issued 
ordinary 

share 

Issued 
cumulative 
preferred 

share 

Share 
premium 
ordinary 

Share 
premium Cum 

Pref 

Exchange 
difference 

foreign 
entities 

Other 
reserves 
Ordinary 

Retained 
earnings 

Total 
equity 

 € € € € €  € € 
As at January 1, 2019 21,843 10 2,780,331 360,800 3,494 1,172,366 264,901 4,603,745 

Profit for the period - - - - - - 805,627 805,627 
Other comprehensive income - - - - - - (130,370) (130,370) 

Total comprehensive income - - - - - - 675,257 675,257 

Share-based payments - - - - - 17,195 - 17,195 

Issue of warrant - - - - - 181,359 - 181,359 
As at September 30, 2019 21,843 10 2,780,331 360,800 3,494 1,370,920 940,158 5,477,556 

         
     

 Issued 
ordinary 
share 

Issued 
cumulative 
preferred 
share 

Share 
premium 
ordinary 

Share 
premium Cum 
Pref 

Exchange 
difference 
foreign 
entities 

Other 
reserves 
Ordinary 

Retained 
earnings 

Total 
equity 

 € € € € €  € € 
As at December 31, 2019 21,843 10 2,780,331 360,800 13,868 1,461,659 1,626,295 6,264,806 

Profit for the period - - - - - - (1,096,831) (1,096,831) 
Other comprehensive income - - - - - - - - 

Total comprehensive income - - - - - - (1,096,831) (1,096,831) 

Share-based payments - - - - - 20,245 - 20,245 

As at September 30, 2020 21,843 10 2,780,331 360,800 13,868 1,481,904 529,464 5,188,220 

         
 

 



 

 

Condensed Interim Consolidated statement of cash flows 
(unaudited) 
For the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 
Expressed in Euro  

     
  2020  2019 
 Notes €  € 
Operating activities     
     
Profit before tax for the period  (1,103,633)  1,026,831 
Items not affecting cash     
     Amortisation and impairment of property, plant   
     and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets 

 960,950  667,414 

     Share-based payment 10 39,728  17,195 
     Movements in net employee defined benefit liabilities  -  (895,139) 
     Gain on lease modification  -  (27,017) 
     Net foreign exchange differences  5,750  810 
     Finance costs 13 1,248,296    724,797 
     Finance income  (91,107)    (49,356) 
Working capital adjustments  1,205,696  (2,028,090) 
  2,265,680  (562,555) 

     
Interest received  91,107  49,356 
Interest paid  (1,214,486)  (875,823) 
Net cash flows from operating activities  1,142,301  (1,389,022)) 

     
Investing activities     
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (2,932,562)  (3,375,305) 
Acquisition of intangible assets 12 (622,111)  (361,422) 
Proceeds from finance lease principal portion  94,449  56,483 
Net cash flows used in investing activities  (3,460,224)  (3,680,244) 

     
Financing activities     
Repayment of long-term debt  (24,564)  (109,559) 
Proceeds from long-term debt  345,390  6,033,839 
Purchase of certificates of ordinary shares  (19,483)  - 
Stock dividend via placement of repurchased certificates of 
ordinary shares 

 -  41,388 

Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities  (323,171)  (225,041) 
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities  (21,828)  5,740,627 

     
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  (2,339,751)  671,361 
Cash and cash equivalents at January 1  3,591,677  3,201,298 
Cash and cash equivalents at September 30  1,251,926  3,872,659 

 



 

Notes to the Condensed Interim Consolidated financial statements  

1. Nature of business 

 
The operations of Green Vision Holding B.V., registered with the Chamber of Commerce under number 

810587798, with its statutory seat in Arnhem and its group companies (“the Group”) located at 

Westervoortsedijk 73 6827 AV in Arnhem, The Netherlands, are mainly comprised of:  
- Piloting for third parties; Fast cycle from development, design of modules, construction of pilot 

plant to commissioning and testing. 
- Development and manufacturing of on-site hydrogen generators based on steam reforming 

technology. 
- Development and manufacturing of fuel cell products. 
 
Sales are made in both the domestic and foreign markets. 
 

2. Statement of compliance 

 
The Group’s condensed interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance 
with IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting and using the same accounting policies as those described in 
the Group’s annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019. The 
Group’s annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 were 
prepared in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  
 
These condensed interim consolidated financial statements do not include all of the information 
required under IFRS for complete financial statements and they should therefore be read in 
conjunction with the Group’s annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 
31, 2019. 
 
The condensed interim consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of 
Directors on December 5, 2020.  
 

3. Adoption of new standards  

 
The following amendments to standards have been adopted by the Group for its annual periods 
beginning on January 1, 2020: 
 
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors Definition of Material  
Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial statements, [“IAS 1”] and to IAS 8, Accounting 
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors [“IAS 8”] is intended to make the definition of 
material in IAS 1 easier to understand and is not intended to alter the underlying concept of 
materiality in IFRS Standards. The concept of “obscuring” material information with immaterial 
information has been included as part of the new definition. The threshold for materiality influencing 
users has been changed from “could influence” to “could reasonably be expected to influence”. The 
definition of material in IAS 8 has been replaced by a reference to the definition of material in IAS 1.  
There is no anticipated impact of these amendments on its consolidated financial statements.  
 
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions Amendment to IFRS 16 

In May 2020, the IASB issued Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions (Amendment to IFRS 16) that 
provides practical relief to lessees in accounting for rent concessions occurring as a direct 
consequence of COVID-19, by introducing a practical expedient to IFRS 16. The practical expedient 
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permits a lessee to elect not to assess whether a COVID-19-related rent concession is a lease 
modification. A lessee that makes this election shall account for any change in lease payments 
resulting from the COVID-19-related rent concession the same way it would account for the change 
applying IFRS 16 if the change were not a lease modification.  
 
 
The practical expedient applies only to rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of 
COVID-19 and only if all of the following conditions are met: 

a) The change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is 
substantially the same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding 
the change; 
b) Any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 
2021 (a rent concession meets this condition if it results in reduced lease payments on or 
before 30 June 2021 and increased lease payments that extend beyond 30 June 2021); and  
c) There is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease. 

The amendment applies to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2020.  There is no impact of 
these amendments on its consolidated financial statements. 
  

4. Change in accounting estimates 

 
During 2020, there was a change in estimate regarding the valuation of the inventory. Before 2020 
the inventory regarding the Gas-as-a-Service (GaaS) revenue was not valued. This was caused by 
the fact that the number of GaaS installations was limited. Over the years the number of GaaS 
installations increased, including some contracts with a contract term of 15 years. Due the increased 
number of installations the inventory is valued per January 1, 2020. In addition to this the GaaS 
contracts are an important part of the business plans. The total impact of the change in estimate is € 
276,594 which is corrected for an amount of € 110,638 as a deduction of the intangible assets and 
for € 165,956 is corrected within the cost of goods sold. This is caused by the fact that inventory has 
increased during the years a result of purchases for the sales of gasses generators and installations 
and for the GaaS installations. There are no other changes in accounting estimates during the 
period.  
 

5. Impact of COVID-19  

In March 2020, the global outbreak of the Corona virus started to impact many businesses 

worldwide. At HyGear, different parts of our business are affected as well and this paragraph 

describes the major aspects and our analysis of business continuity in that respect. 
 

Immediate effects; government policies on travel restrictions 

Travel restrictions influence three parts of our business negatively.  
- The first is that we can’t commission newly delivered installations in countries with travel 

restrictions. This currently mainly concerns new installations in Bangladesh, as European 

travel is still allowed. In the specific case in Bangladesh, our customer faces the same issues 

of delay as our equipment is part of a larger plant and we don’t expec t too much long term 

effects, assuming that the situation improves towards years end. This situation is still ongoing 

although we see travel restrictions being lifted for many countries and we managed to 

establish procedures including regular testing to mitigate these restrictions. 
- Secondly, we have ongoing maintenance contracts with existing customers. Until now we 

have not been restricted to perform these maintenance activities because of special permits, 

for example in Spain and Belgium. In locations where travel is more difficult, we have been 

able to perform these activities remotely. We expect this not to cause too much problems, 

assuming the situation improves towards years end.  
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- Thirdly, our sales force has not been able to follow up on leads as effectively because site 

visits, conferences and trade shows have proven to be strong instruments to identify new 

customers and build relations. Until now we have seen the sales funnel grow, but the actual 

number of booked orders stays behind target. As all negotiations that were started pre-Covid 

are still ongoing, we currently see this as a temporary slowdown, waiting for customers to 

take purchase decisions again. And since our order book was filled appropriately in the 

beginning of the year, we do not expect long term negative effects. We also observed that  

The world is learning to live with Covid and believe that sales levels will return to normal or increase 

in 2021. 

Impact on revenue 
As we have percentage of completion accounting, sending off temporary staff will lead to delays in 
product delivery revenue. We have initially calculated that if the Covid situation remains for the rest 
of the year. This could lead to a reduction of revenues of between 40 and 60% depending on the 
distribution of activities for Gas as a Service projects and turn-key and provided we can keep all 
GaaS projects operational, which is the case until now.  
 
As we were planning for growth in 2020, we anticipated this to be the most negative scenario. After 
analysis of our progress in the current year, we were glad to conclude that the actual impact is less 
than initially anticipated. Until Q3 2020 we have calculated the impact to be a reduction of 30% 
against our original plan. We also expect Q4 to be relatively busy, near the original levels which 
would allow us to believe we can further reduce this loss of revenue over the entire year 2020.  
 
As part of our Q3 review, we did an analysis on our sales funnel and conc luded that our outlook is 
strong.  
 
Impact on results 
Although our revenue is under pressure for the year 2020, there will be two positive effects to offset 
the deficit in related. 

- The Dutch government issued measures to compensate companies for loss in revenue. We 
have applied for and been granted subsidy under the NOW1 and NOW2 programs and 
applied for the NOW 3 program as well (not granted yet). For the 9 month period ended 
September 30, 2020 € 859,045 have been recognised as a reduction of expense in Salaries, 
wages and temporary workers. 

- The assembly works that we continue to perform with our own staff is less expensive than the 
works performed by third party staff and will increase our expected margins (on projects 
basis) 

At this time it is difficult to gauge the impact exactly but with the busy quarter ahead we believe a 
significant part of the gross margin losses will be offset by these effects. Still, in our analysis over the 
first three quarters of 2020 we see a negative overall result, worse than our first three quarters 
results over 2019. This is partially due to a shift in activities for GaaS contracts, as these activities 
don’t yield immediate margins, and partially due to the above mentioned effects. We also concluded 
that the loss in revenue in the second quarter was worse than the revenue loss in the third quarter, 
which leads us to believe that the situation is improving. Based on our current order portfolio, we 
believe this trend to continue into the fourth quarter and possibly contribute to a slightly better result 
at years end. 
 
Impacts on financing and cash flow  
In 2020, we secured € 5M additional financing from one of our shareholders. We are confident that 
we will be able to attract further financing if needed. 
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The slow down due to Covid had a positive effect on our cash requirements, because we invested 
less in GaaS projects and therefore less need for cash. As part of our Q3 review, we have modelled 
our cash flow 12 months into the future. Our conclusion is that (with the Oost Bond Loan), we will 
have sufficient cash available to continue the business at its current levels.  
 
Meanwhile, we have approached a set of investors, ranging from private equity, family offices, 
strategic investors, institutional investors, banks and infrastructure financiers. The responses we 
received were very positive and we have entered discussions with some of them.  
 
As the opportunities were many, we decided to engage Investment Banks to assist us in this process. 
Early October, we narrowed the selection down to two Banks that both pitched their offering to our 
Supervisory Board and shareholders. At the same time, one strategic investor expressed interest in 
the possible integration of our Group into their business. As this would potentially be a fast track to 
further growth, we have decided to postpone the engagement of the Investment Bank until early 
January 
 
Other business drivers related to tangible and intangible assets 
We operate several GaaS assets in long term contracts at customers sites. In all cases, we have 
calculated that the carrying amounts of these assets on our balance sheet is less than the fair value 
of the underlying contracts, with the exception of the contracts with a potential termination before the 
technical end of life of the assets. For these we assume that we can redeploy these assets for their 
full technical rest of life, if such contract would be terminated. We feel this is a fair and true statement  
concerning GaaS assets as they are characterised by a high level of standardization and operating 
these GaaS assets is our core business.  
 
Related to Covid, it could happen that our customers will not be able to sustain their business (at the 
current level) and therefore the need for Hydrogen could reduce. As these are usually large 
companies, and our contracts have termination clauses that would trigger indemnifications, we 
consider these risks to be very low. As we assume that Covid will disappear at some point in the 
foreseeable future, we don’t think any impairments are necessary.  
 
We also studied our intangible assets, HyDEV and HyREC. As the expected business volume in the 
near future (HyREC) and the current business volume (HyDEV) is such, that the return on these 
intangible assets is already relatively short, and we expect Covid to disappear somewhere in the 
near future, we also see no reason for impairments.  
 
As part of our Q3 review we have made a full assessment of the actual income on the tangible and 
intangible assets. Our conclusion is that the GaaS income was more or less according to 
expectations. On intangible asset HyDEV we signed the largest order for HyGear with GTP and 
OSRAM. For HyREC we received a verbal mandate to deliver a system next year to a non-disclosed 
Glass Company. This supports us in our opinion that these intangible assets do not need an 
impairment.   
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Uncertainty remains 
It must be emphasized that a lot of uncertainty remains in relation to the duration of the Corona crisis 
and the government measures taken. It is uncertain what the long term impact on the global 
economy, our client base and therefore our Group will be. We need capital, both debt and equity, if 
we want to maintain our current growth model. Given the envisioned development of a hydrogen 
economy, there is still a lot of interest in our Group and our technological capabilities. We are 
confident that we have enough liquidity, consisting of cash and committed facilities, for the 12 months 
following the publication of our annual statements.  
 
Thereafter we will need capital inflow, or otherwise we will need to dramatically change our business 
model and possibly miss the growing opportunity that is emerging in hydrogen as energy carrier.  
 
 

6. Cash and cash equivalents 

 September 30, 

2020 

December 31, 

2019 

 € € 
Cash and cash equivalents   

Cash in banks and cash on hands 1,209,997 3,549,020 
Short-term deposits 41,929 42,657 

 1,251,926 3,591,677 

  
A credit facility is available at the Rabobank for an amount of € 1,500,000. For this credit facility 

guarantees are issued in the form of a pledge of all present and future equipment, inventories, 

receivables and third parties and transport equipment. Rabobank has issued bank guarantees for an 

amount of € 5,125 against this facility. A credit facility of € 3,000,000 is available to the Group 

pursuant to the subordinated loan issued by Oost NL on 25 October 2019.  

 

7. Contract assets  

 September 30, 

2020 

December 31, 

2019 

 € € 
Contract asset 858,811 2,611,234 

  
The decrease in relation to the contract assets is caused by the completion of projects and due 

timing as a result of invoicing.  
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8. Intangible assets  

  
 Development costs Software Total 

 € € € 
At January 1, 2019 562,831 89,071 651,902 
Additions 1,087,918 27,242 1,115,160 
At December 31, 2019 1,650,749 116,313 1,767,062 
Additions 708,611 8,024 716,635 
At September 30, 2020 2,359,360 124,337 2,483,697 

    
Amortisation & impairment    

At January 1, 2019 - 48,189 48,189 
Additions - 14,251 14,251 
At December 31, 2019 - 62,440 62,440 

Additions - 12,111 12,111 
At September 30, 2020 - 74,551 74,551 

    
Net book value    
January 1, 2019 562,831 40,882 603,713 
December 31, 2019 1,650,749 53,873 1,704,622 
September 30, 2020 2,359,360 49,786 2,409,146 

 

 
9. Share capital 

 
Ordinary share 
The authorised ordinary share capital of Green Vision Holding B.V. amounts to €  21,843, divided into          
4,368,600 ordinary shares of € 0.005 each. All ordinary shares are issued and as at September 30, 2020 
63,275 (December 31, 2019: 66,881) ordinary share where held by the Group.  
 
Cumulative preferred share 
The authorized cumulative preferred share capital of Green Vision Holding B.V. amounts to € 10, divided 
into 10 cumulative preferred shares of € 1 each that were issued on June 21, 2017 to Oost NL raising total 
proceeds of € 360,810 for the Group. The cumulative preference shares carry a cumulative dividend of 5% 
per annum. For the 9 months period ended September 30, 2020 and the year ended December 31, 2019 
no dividends where distributed. The cumulative preference shares dividend at September 30, 2020 is € 
49,610 (December 31, 2019: € 36,080).  
 

10. Share-based payments 
 
Share-based employment benefit plan 
The Group has an equity settled stock based employment benefit plan that is intended to provide an 
additional incentive to full-time directors, managers and selected persons employed by and/or working for 
the Group to remain in the Group or to pursue their contribution and increase their efforts with a view to 
the Group’s success. Each stock option either gives a right to purchase or a right to convert into a 
depositary receipts for ordinary shares in the Group own capital. The Group has (or will) acquire 
depositary receipts for ordinary shares in its own capital that are (or will be) issued by Stichting 
Administratiekantoor Green Vision Holding (referred to as “STAK HyGear”) and are registered with 
Stichting NPEX Bewaarbedrijf (referred to as “NPEX”). Under no circumstances the Group is required to 
settle the option in cash.  
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The number of options granted is calculated in accordance with the performance-based formula and is 
subject to approval by the remuneration committee. Options are granted at different exercise prices, may 
be exercised at any time from the date of vesting and require continuous employment until date of vesting 
from the date of grant in order to vest.  
 
The table below presents the other vesting conditions for each options series.  
 

Options series 1 Options will vest at the first of the two following events:  
A. Sale of 80% of the Group's outstanding shares to a third party, not related to the existing 
shareholders of Green Vision Holding B.V.; or  
B. 6 (six) months after publicly listing (IPO) of more than 50% of the outstanding shares of the Group 
on a platform other than NPEX (unless the lock-up period for existing shareholders is longer than 6 
(six) months, in that case the options will vest at the ending of the existing shareholders lock-up 
period). 

Options series 2 Options will vest at the first of the two following events:  
A. Sale of 100% of the Group's outstanding shares to a third party, not related to the existing 
shareholders of Green Vision Holding B.V.; or 
B. 6 (six) months after publicly listing (IPO) more than 50% of the outstanding shares of the company 
on a platform other than NPEX. 

Options series 3, 
4, 9 and10 

Options will vest over 3 (three) years, 25% immediately on grant date and 25% at the end of the 
following 3 (three) years. 

Options series 5, 
6, 12, 14 and 15 

Options will vest over 4 (four) years, 25% after one year of grant date and 25% at the end of the 
following 3 (three) years. 

Options series 7 Options will vest at the first of the two following events: 
A. Sale of 100% of the Group's outstanding shares to a third party, not related to the existing 
shareholders of Green Vision Holding B.V.; or  
B. 6 (six) months after publicly listing (IPO) more than 50% of the outstanding shares of the company 
on a platform other than NPEX (unless the lock-up period for existing shareholders is longer than 6 
(six) months, in that case the options will vest at the ending of the existing shareholders lock -up 
period). 

Options series 8 
and 13 

Options will vest at the first of the two following events: 
A. Sale of 80% of the Group's outstanding shares to a third party, not related to the existing 
shareholders of Green Vision Holding B.V.;or  
B. 6 (six) months after publicly listing (IPO) of more than 50% of the outstanding shares of the Group 
on a platform other than NPEX (provided that such events does not impose conditions preventing 
options to vest). 

Options series 11 Options will vest at the fisrt of the two following events:  
A. Sale of 80% of the Group's outstanding shares to a third party, not related ot the existing 
shareholders of Green Vision Holding b.v. and after 3 (three) years of employment by the company at 
May 1st 2023; or 
B. 6 (six) months after pblicly listing (IPO) more than 50% of the outstanding shares of the company 
on a platform other than NPEX (provided that such events does not impose conditions preventing 
options to vest). 

 
The following stock option were issued and outstanding during the current and prior year: 

 Grant date Number  Exercise price Fair value at grant 

date 

   € € 
Options series 1 2017-12-22 30,000 5.75 2.51 
Options series 2 2017-12-22 5,000 5.75 2.51 
Options series 3 2017-12-31 4,614 0.00 6.68 
Options series 4 2018-12-31 2,999 0.00 14.08 
Options series 5 2019-05-14 1,500 14.08 5.31 
Options series 6 2019-09-01 1,500 14.08 5.88 
Options series 7 2019-11-01 5,000 10.50 7.56 
Options series 8 2019-11-01 7,500 10.50 7.56 
Options series 9 2019-12-31 2,873 16.56 5.58 
Options series 10 2019-12-31 981 0.00 16.91 
Options series 11 2020-05-01 500 10.50 5.71 
Options series 12 2020-05-01 500 14.00 4.48 
Options series 13 2020-06-01 5,000 10.50 5.51 
Options series 14 2020-06-02 500 13.30 4.85 
Options series 15 2020-08-01 500 15.00 4.95 
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Stock option activity for the 9 months period ending September 30, 2019 and the year ended December 31 
2019, is presented below: 
 

 2020 2019 

 Number of 
options 

Weighted average 
exercise price 

€ 

Number of 
options 

Weighted average 
exercise price 

€ 
Outstanding – Beginning of the year 61,967 6.82 49,276 4.08 
Granted 7,000 11.27 19,683 11.23 
Exercised - - (6,478) 0.00 
Cancelled (395) 0.00 (514) 0.00 
Outstanding – End of year 68,572 7.31 61,967 6.82 
Exercisable – End of year 718  718  

     
 
 
Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Group’s share price over 
the previous 3 years. The expected life used in the determination of the fair value has been adjusted, 
based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability and exercise restrictions. 
 
 
Input to the model  

 
For the 9 months period ending September 30, 

2020 
For the year ended December 31, 2019 

Options 
series 

15 14 13 12 11 10 9 8 7 6 5 

Grant 
date 

2020-08-
01 

2020-06-
02 

2020-06-
01 

2020-05-
01 

2020-05-
01 

2019-12-
31 

2019-12-
31 

2019-11-
01 

2019-11-
01 

2019-09-
01 

2019-05-
14 

Grant 
date 
share 
price (€) 

15.25 14.21 13.69 14.00 14.00 16.91 16.91 16.46 16.46 16.28 15.20 

Exercise 
price (€) 

15 13.30 10.50 14.00 10.50 0.00 16.56 10.50 10.50 14.08 14.08 

Expected 
volatility 

41.95% 41.95% 41.95% 41.95% 41.95% 41.95% 41.95% 41.95% 41.95% 41.95% 41.95% 

Option 
life 
(years) 

5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 

Dividend 
yield 

1.09% 1.09% 1.09% 1.09% 1.09% 0.00% 1.09% 1.09% 1.09% 1.09% 1.09% 

Risk-free 
interest 
rate 

-0.40% -0.27% -0.28% -0.34% -0.34% -0.11% -0.11% -0.25% -0.25% -0.53% 0.07% 

 
 

11. Revenue from contracts with customers 

 September 30, 

2020 

September 30, 

2019 

 € € 
Gas-as-a-Service (GaaS) Revenue – operating lease 276,155 90,016 
Gas-as-a-Service (GaaS) Revenue – finance lease  97,999 35,935 
Product Revenue 93,338 13,592 
Gasses generators and installation 1,694,924 5,828,394 
Service and maintenance revenue 183,109 371,636 
Total Revenue from contracts with customers 2,345,525 6,339,573 

The service and maintenance revenue consist of approximately 56% (2019: 54%) of revenues recognized 
at a point in time. 
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12. Other operating expenses 

 September 30, 

2020 

September 30, 

2019 

 € € 
Personnel expenses 124,820 113,328 
Premises and utilities expenses 156,926 49,876 
Selling and marketing expenses 195,627 301,910 
Transport expenses 34,352 6,668 
General and administrative expenses 422,542 179,494 
Total other operating expenses 934,267 651,276 

 

13. Finance costs 
 
 
 September 

30, 2020 
September 

30, 2019 

 € € 
Interest on bank loans 27,045 60,433 
Interest on other long-term debt 1,115,456 572,199 
Interest on lease liabilities 105,795 89,032 
Net interest on the net defined benefit liability - 3,133 
Total finance costs  1,248,296 724,797 

 
 

14. Earnings per shares 
 
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the 
parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is 
calculated by dividing the profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into 
ordinary shares. 
 
The following table reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted EPS calculations  for 
the 9 months period ended September 30: 

   
 2020 2019 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic EPS 4,303,522 4,301,719 
Effects of dilution from:   
   Shares based payment 9,025 14,350 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the effect of dilution 4,312,547 4,316,069 
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15. Financial instruments 

 

Measurement categories and fair values, including valuation methods and assumptions  

The following table shows the carrying values and fair values of the long-term debt as of:  
 

Financial liabilities September 30, 2020 December 31, 2019 

 Amortized cost Amortized cost 
 Carrying amount 

€ 
Fair  

value 
€ 

Carrying 

amount 
€ 

Fair  
value 

€ 

     
Long-term debt 19,164,705 19,620,087 18,669,356 19,402,975 

 
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, finance lease receivable, trade and other 

payables, approximate their fair value due to their short-term maturities. The methods and assumptions 

used in estimating the fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities are as follows:  
• Long-term debt (classified in level 2 of the fair value hierarchy): The Group’s long-term debt carry 

fixed interest rates. The fair value of the Group’s debt obligations has been calculated by 

discounting the future cash flows of the long-term debt at the interest rate of similar debt 

instruments. 
• Cash and cash equivalent, receivables, finance lease receivables, trade and other payables 

(classified in level 2 of the fair value hierarchy): The fair values are approximately equal to their 

carrying values due to their short-term maturities; 
• The Group’s financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value 

and financial instruments measured at amortized cost for which the fair value is disclosed are 

grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable:  
Level 1 — Fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) 

in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
Level 2 — Fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted 

prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 
Level 3 — Fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that 

include inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 

(unobservable inputs). 
 

16. Commitments  
 

Bank guarantees 

The following bank guarantees are issued: 
 
 As at September 30, 2020 As at December 31, 2019 

 € € 

   
Service guarantee LHPU unit  5,125 5,125 
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17. Segment information 

Information reported to the Group’s Chief Executive Officer (the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM)) 
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance is focused on the overall 
operations of HyGear which is the development and production of hydrogen technology solutions. As 
such, the Group has one reportable segment under IFRS 8. 
 

Reportable segment 
 

Products and services 

Development and production of hydrogen 
technology solutions 

“Turnkey” solutions, Gas-as-a-service (“GAAS”) 
solutions, service and maintenance on the 
installed base of Turnkey solutions and hydrogen 
sales.  

 
Revenues from major products and services 
The Group’s revenues from its major products and services are disclosed in Note 11. 
 
Information about major customers 

For the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, included in revenues arising from 
the development and production of hydrogen technology solutions are revenues of approximately 

€ 409,416 (2019: € 1,621,622) which arose from sales to the Group’s largest customer. No other single 
customers contributed 10 per cent or more to the Group’s revenue in either 2020 or 2019.  
 
 

18. Subsequent evens 

There are no other subsequent events than those disclosed in Note 5: ‘Impact of COVID-19’. 
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XEBEC ADSORPTION INC.
PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT SEPTEMBER 30, 2020
UNAUDITED Xebec Green Vision Pro Forma Pro Forma

(Expressed in $CDN) Adsorption Holding B.V. Notes Adjustments Consolidated
Note 6a

Assets
Current assets

Cash 51,642,192   1,956,886                [3a] (65,226,000)    157,549,605  
[3d] 169,176,527   

Restricted cash 1,233,666     -                               1,233,666      
T rade and other receivables 38,810,030   3,273,360                42,083,390    
Contract assets -                    1,342,407                1,342,407      
Current portion of finance lease receivable 249,055                   249,055         
Inventories 13,224,748   2,399,616                15,624,364    
Investment tax credit receivable 15,943          -                               15,943           
Prepaid expenses 447,842        775,304                   1,223,146      
Other current financial assets -                10,038                     10,038           

105,374,421 10,006,666              103,950,527   219,331,614  

Property, plant and equipment 4,457,087     27,690,262              32,147,349    
Intangible assets 2,164,187     3,765,736                5,929,923      
Non-current portion of finance lease receivable -                    5,475,646                5,475,646      
Goodwill 11,419,510   -                               [3c] 119,236,294   130,655,804  

123,415,205 46,938,310              223,186,821   393,540,336  

Liabilities
Current liabilit ies

Trade, other payables and accrued liabilit ies 15,133,558   4,284,250                [4a] 800,000          20,217,808    
Contract liabilit ies 3,193,306     840,255                   4,033,561      
Current portion of long-term debt 4,853,743     1,199,020                6,052,763      
Current portion of government royalty program obligation 170,446        -                               170,446         
Current portion of provisions 274,931        -                               274,931         
Current portion of obligation arising from shares issued  by a subsidiary 392,600        -                               392,600         
Income tax payable 20,878          -                               20,878           

24,039,462   6,323,525                800,000          31,162,987    

Long-term debt 8,798,996     32,142,599              40,941,595    
Government royalty program obligation 223,228        -                               223,228         
Obligation arising from shares issued by a subsidiary 4,240,094     -                               4,240,094      
Provisions 60,807          -                               60,807           
Deferred tax liabilit ies 179,647        362,480                   542,127         

37,542,234   38,828,604              800,000          77,170,838    

Shareholders' Equity
Share Capital 110,246,019 34,158                     [3b] (34,158)           341,542,546  

[3a] 62,120,000     
[3d] 169,176,527   

Contributed surplus 7,653,601     7,226,266                [3b] (7,226,266)      7,653,601      
Accumulated other comprehensive income (484,463)       21,677                     [3b] (21,677)           (484,463)       
Retained Earnings/(Deficit) (31,542,186)  827,605                   [3b] (827,605)         (32,342,186)  

[4a] (800,000)         

Total Equity 85,872,971   8,109,706                222,386,821   316,369,498  

Total liabilities and equity 123,415,205 46,938,310              223,186,821   393,540,336  



 

 
 
 

XEBEC ADSORPTION INC.
PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME (LOSS)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019
UNAUDITED
(Expressed in $CDN)

Xebec Green Vision Pro Forma Pro Forma
Adsorption Holding B.V. Notes Adjustments Consolidated

Note 6b

Revenue 49,317,880              16,913,602     66,231,482               
Cost of goods sold 33,829,894                 12,329,338       46,159,232                 

Gross Margin 15,487,986              4,584,264       -               -                                 20,072,250               

Research and development expenses 71,503                        462,990            534,493                      
Selling and administrative expenses 11,297,432                 379,648            [4a] 800,000                     12,477,080                 
Foreign exchange (gain) loss 383,693                      -                        383,693                      
Loss (gain) on conversion of shares issued by a subsidiary (256,516)                    -                        (256,516)                     

11,496,112                 842,638            800,000                     13,138,750                 

Operating income (loss) 3,991,874                3,741,626       (800,000)                  6,933,500                 

Other Charges (income)
Finance income (32,246)                      (97,160)             (129,406)                     
Finance expenses 1,647,141                   1,434,149         3,081,290                   

1,614,895                   1,336,989         -               -                                 2,951,884                   

Income (loss) before income taxes 2,376,979                2,404,637       -               (800,000)                  3,981,616                 

Income taxes 356,916                      188,472            -                                 545,388                      

Net income (loss) for the year 2,020,063                2,216,165       -               (800,000)                  3,436,228                 

Earnings per share, basic
Basic net income (loss) per share 0.03                            0.03                            

64,319,442                 [5] 41,336,583                105,656,025               
Earnings per share, diluted

Basic net income (loss) per share 0.03                            0.03                            
68,600,371                 [5] 41,336,583                109,936,954               

 Weighted average number of outstanding common shares 

 Weighted average number of outstanding common shares 



 

XEBEC ADSORPTION INC.
PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME (LOSS)
FOR THE NINE-MONTH ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2020
UNAUDITED
(Expressed in $CDN except share amounts)

Xebec Green Vision Pro Forma Pro Forma
Adsorption Holding B.V. Notes Adjustments Consolidated

Note 6c

Revenue 50,170,121                                 6,488,508       56,658,629            
Cost of goods sold 38,463,738                                    5,976,879         44,440,617               
Gross Margin 11,706,383                                 511,629          -                            12,218,012            

Research and development expenses 94,022                                           182,978            277,000                    
Selling and administrative expenses 14,303,577                                    247,139            14,550,716               
Foreign exchange (gain) loss (555,747)                                        -                        (555,747)                   
Loss (gain) on conversion of shares issued by a subsidiary 223,958                                         -                        223,958                    

14,065,810                                    430,117            -                            14,495,927               

Operating income (loss) (2,359,427)                                  81,512             -                            (2,277,915)             

Other Charges (income)
Finance income (343,427)                                        (138,665)           (482,092)                   
Finance expenses 1,691,323                                      1,899,907         3,591,230                 

1,347,896                                      1,761,242         -                            3,109,138                 
Income (loss) before income taxes (3,707,323)                                  (1,679,730)      -                            (5,387,053)             

Income taxes (14,110)                                          (10,353)             (24,463)                     
Net income (loss) for the year (3,693,213)                                  (1,669,377)      -                            (5,362,590)             

Earnings per share, basic and diluted
Net income (loss) per share (0.04)                                              (0.04)                         

92,928,420                                    [5] 41,336,583            134,265,003             
 Weighted average number of outstanding common shares 



 

Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Amounts expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 
The unaudited pro forma condensed interim consolidated statement of financial position as at September 30, 2020, the 
unaudited pro forma condensed interim consolidated statement of income (loss) for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 
and the unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated statement of income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2019 of 
Xebec Adsorption Inc. (“Xebec”) were prepared for illustrative purposes only in compliance with National Instrument 51-102 
– Continuous Disclosure Obligations. 
 
The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated statement of financial position and the unaudited pro forma condensed 
consolidated statements of income (loss) of Xebec are comprised of information derived from: 
 

• the unaudited condensed interim consolidated statement of financial position of Xebec as at September 30, 2020; and 
• the unaudited condensed interim consolidated statement of financial position of Green Vision Holding B.V. as at 

September 30, 2020. 
• the audited consolidated statements of income (loss) of Xebec for the year ended December 31, 2019; and 
• the audited consolidated statement of profit or loss of Green Vision Holding B.V. for the year ended December 31, 

2019. 
• the unaudited condensed interim consolidated statements of income (loss) of Xebec for the nine months ended 

September 30, 2020; and 
• the unaudited condensed interim consolidated statement of profit or loss of Green Vision Holding B.V. for the nine 

months ended September 30, 2020. 
 
The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial statements have been compiled using accounting policies consistent 
with those adopted by Xebec in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), but do not include all 
of the disclosures required by IFRS, and should be read in conjunction with the Xebec financial statements listed above. 
 
The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial information gives effect to Xebec’s acquisition of Green Vision Holding B.V. 
(“Green Vision”) as if it had occurred as at September 30, 2020 for the purposes of the unaudited pro forma condensed interim 
consolidated statement of financial position.  
 
The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated statements of income (loss) have been prepared to give effect to the proposed 
acquisition of Green Vision for the year ended December 31, 2019 and for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, as if 
the transaction had occurred on January 1, 2019.  
 
The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial statements are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations 
that would have occurred had the acquisition of Green Vision been effected on the dates indicated, nor are the unaudited pro 
forma condensed consolidated financial statements indicative of the results of operation of future periods. Actual amounts 
recorded upon consummation of the proposed acquisition will differ from such unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated 
financial statements. Since the pro forma condensed consolidated financial statements have been developed to retroactively 
show the effect of the transaction, there are limitations inherent in the nature of such pro forma data. 
 
Purchase Consideration 
 
In arriving at the preliminary purchase consideration, the Green Vision shareholders are to receive for consideration €82 million 
(approximately $127.3 million). The shareholders will receive approximately CAD $65.2 million in cash and 10,301,824 Xebec 
common shares at a price of $6.03 per share. For purposes of the pro-forma financial information, it has been assumed that all 
Green Vision outstanding warrants and options have been cancelled prior to the closing of the acquisition. 
 
2. DESCRIPTION OF TRANSACTION 
 
Green Vision 
 
Xebec has entered into an agreement to acquire all of the issued and outstanding shares of Green Vision, the parent company 
of HyGear Technology and Services B.V. (“HyGear”) in the Netherlands for consideration of €82.0 million (approximately 
$127.3 million) and the assumption of €18.4 million (approximately $28.6 million) in net debt (the “Acquisition”). HyGear 
shareholders will receive approximately $65.2 million in cash and 10,301,824 Xebec common shares (“Common Shares”) at a 
price of $6.03 per share. The cash portion of the Acquisition will be funded by way of a $125 million bought deal public 



 

offering of subscription receipts (“Subscription Receipts”) and a concurrent private placement of $55 million for aggregate 
gross proceeds of approximately $180 million and aggregate net proceeds of approximately $169 million (the public offering 
and concurrent private placement being, collectively, the “Offering”), as further described below. More than 80% of the 
Common Shares received as consideration by HyGear shareholders will be subject to contractual lock-up restrictions, and all 
of the Common Shares received as consideration by HyGear shareholders will be subject to a statutory four-month hold period 
in accordance with Canadian securities law. 
 
To finance the payment of the cash consideration of the Acquisition, Xebec has entered into an agreement with a syndicate of 
underwriters co-led by Desjardins Capital Markets and TD Securities Inc. acting as joint bookrunners (collectively, the 
“Underwriters”) to sell, on a bought deal basis, 21,552,000 Subscription Receipts at a price of $5.80 per Subscription Receipt 
(the “Offering Price”) for gross proceeds of approximately $125,001,600 (the “Public Offering”). 
 
Xebec has granted the Underwriters of the Public Offering an over-allotment option to purchase up to an additional 3,232,800 
Subscription Receipts to cover over-allotments, if any, for a period of 30 days following the closing of the Public Offering. If 
the over-allotment option is exercised in full by the Underwriters, gross proceeds from the Public Offering will be up to 
$143,751,840. 
 
In addition, the Corporation has entered into a subscription agreement with CDPQ, pursuant to which Xebec and CDPQ have 
agreed that CDPQ will purchase on a “private placement” basis in Canada, Subscription Receipts at the Offering Price for gross 
proceeds to Xebec of approximately $55 million upon closing (the “Concurrent Private Placement”). Xebec has also granted 
CDPQ an option to purchase up to an additional 15% of Subscription Receipts in the event that the Underwriters exercise their 
over-allotment option under the Public Offering. If the additional subscription option is exercised in full by CDPQ, gross 
proceeds from the Concurrent Private Placement will be up to approximately $63.3 million. The Subscription Receipts sold 
pursuant to the Concurrent Private Placement (and the underlying Common Shares) will be subject to a statutory four-month 
hold period following the Closing of the Offering. Desjardins Capital Markets and TD Securities Inc. are acting as joint 
bookrunning agents on the Concurrent Private Placement. 
 
Each Subscription Receipt will entitle the holder thereof, for no additional consideration and without further action on the part 
of the holder, to receive one Common Share of Xebec, upon the completion of the Acquisition. The proceeds of the Public 
Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement will be held in escrow pending the completion of the Acquisition. If the 
Acquisition is completed on or prior to February 28, 2021, the net proceeds of the Public Offering and the Concurrent Private 
Placement will be released and the Subscription Receipts will be exchanged on a one-for-one basis for Common Shares for no 
additional consideration or further action. The Acquisition is subject to, among other things, customary closing conditions, 
which include the approval from the TSX Venture Exchange, and the availability of the financing required to pay the applicable 
cash portion of the purchase price relating to the Acquisition. Closing is also subject to a condition for the benefit of the 
Corporation that there has been no material adverse effect on HyGear and its subsidiaries. 
 
The net proceeds of the Offering will be used to fund the cash consideration payable pursuant to the Acquisition, to fund 
potential future acquisitions (including the LOI Acquisitions) and for general corporate purposes. The Acquisition is expected 
to close on or about December 30, 2020.  The Acquisition has been unanimously approved by the Board of Directors of Xebec 
and is subject to regulatory approval and other customary closing conditions, including those set forth above. 
 
  
3. PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION ASSUMPTIONS 
AND ADJUSTMENTS 
 
Green Vision 
 
The unaudited pro forma condensed interim consolidated statement of financial position of Xebec as at September 30, 2020 
has been adjusted to reflect the following transactions as if the acquisition of Green Vision had been completed on September 
30, 2020: 
 

(a) The Green Vision transaction is expected to be accounted for as a business combination under IFRS 3 Business 
Combinations. 

 
The aggregate consideration for this acquisition was estimated to be $127,346,000. The consideration was 
comprised of: 

• Cash payment of $65,226,000.  



 

• Equity issuance of 10,301,824 common shares of Xebec at a price of $6.03 per share, approximately 
$62,120,000.  
 

(b) The elimination of Green Vision equity accounts. 

 
(c) The net assets acquired and considered paid for ownership in Green Vision is preliminarily allocated as follows: 
 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,956,886 
Prepayments 775,304 
Contract assets 1,342,407 
Receivables 3,273,360 
Finance lease receivables 5,724,701 
Inventories 2,399,616 
Other current financial assets 10,038 
Right-of-use assets 3,276,911 
Property, plant and equipment 24,413,351 
Intangible assets 3,765,736 
Total Assets  $ 46,938,310 

Trade and other payables  $  2,028,139 
Contract liabilities 840,255 
Long-term debt 29,956,352 
Lease liabilities 3,385,267 
Government grants 2,256,111 
Deferred tax liability 362,480 
Total Liabilities $  38,828,604 

 
Net Assets Acquired $    8,109,706 

 
Total consideration (see 3(a) above) $ 127,346,000 

 

Goodwill $ 119,236,294 
 

The pro forma fair value adjustment of Xebec’s interest is subject to change based on finalization of valuation 
adjustments and completion of management’s assessment of the fair values of the assets and liabilities of Green 
Vision. Due to the timing of the announcement of the acquisition, Xebec has not yet obtained sufficient information 
to accurately determine the fair market value of Green Vision’s net assets by category and has therefore allocated the 
book values of the net assets acquired as a proxy of fair value as at September 30, 2020. Management has not 
recognized any deferred tax assets as part of the pro form fair value adjustment, however, they believe they will be 
able to utilize these deferred tax assets, though they have not fully assessed position at the current time. Goodwill 
represents the amount by which the fair value adjustment exceeds the book value, being a proxy of fair value of the 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The final calculation and allocation of the fair value adjustment will be based 
on the net assets purchased as of the closing date of the Green Vision transaction and other information available at 
that time; there may be material differences from this pro forma fair value allocation as a result of finalizing the 
valuation. Based on management’s preliminary estimates, goodwill may be allocated to other items such as: certain 
identified intangible assets, including licenses. 

 
If a portion of the goodwill is allocated to Xebec’s intangible assets, a pro forma adjustment related to depreciation 
expense would be required. For every $10,000 allocated to intangible assets in excess of book value, pro forma 
depreciation expense would increase on an annual basis by approximately $2,000 - $3,333 based on Xebec’s straight-
line depreciation periods of 3 – 5 years as disclosed in Xebec’s consolidated financial statements. The actual 
depreciation recorded will be subject to the determination of the useful lives and the allocated fair values and could 
materially differ from these estimates. Additionally, there may be an income tax impact associated with these 
differences, however this impact is dependent on the nature of the asset class and tax depreciation classes, and the 
assigned fair values, which are unable to be reliably estimated at this time. Due to the uncertainty of the amounts, no 
pro forma adjustments have been made in the pro forma financial statements for these items. 
 

(d) The subscription receipts offering through the bought deal equity financing and private placement offering. The net 



 

proceeds from the offerings will approximately be $169,176,527. For purposes of the pro-forma financial information, 
we have assumed the over-allotment option has not been exercised and all subscription receipts are converted 
immediately into common shares of Xebec. 

 
 
4. PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME (LOSS) AND ADJUSTMENTS 
 
Green Vision 
 
The unaudited pro forma condensed interim consolidated statement of income (loss) of Xebec for the nine months ended 
September 30, 2020 and the unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated statement of income (loss) of Xebec year ended 
December 31, 2019 have been adjusted to reflect the following transactions as if the acquisition of Green Vision had been 
completed on January 1, 2019: 

 
(a) Estimated acquisition related costs of approximately $800,000 (relating to investment banker, legal, regulatory and 

accounting fees) have been recorded to the opening deficit of the pro forma consolidated statement of financial position 
of Xebec as at September 30, 2020 and reflected in the pro forma consolidated statement of operations of Xebec for 
the year ended December 31, 2019 on the basis that these expenses are directly incremental to the Green Vision 
transaction. The pro forma financial statements do not reflect a deferred tax asset that would otherwise result from tax 
effecting the acquisition related costs due to Xebec’s history of losses. 
 
 

 
 
5. PRO FORMA NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE 
 
The basic and diluted pro forma net income (loss) per share for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and the year ended 
December 31, 2019 is as follows: 
 
FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2020   
          
Pro forma net (loss)      $(5,362,590)  
          

Weighted average shares outstanding     92,928,420   
Pro forma shares issued for acquisition of Green Vision     10,301,824   

      Pro forma shares issued as part of subscription receipts offering   31,034,759  
Pro forma weighted average shares outstanding     134,265,003   
          
Basic and diluted pro forma net loss per share     $(0.04)  
 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019   
          
Pro forma net income      $3,436,228  
          

Weighted average shares outstanding     64,319,442   
Pro forma shares issued for Green Vision acquisition     10,301,824   
Pro forma shares issued as part of subscription receipts offering   31,034,759  

Pro forma weighted average shares outstanding, basic     105,656,025   
          
Basic pro forma net income per share      $0.03  
     
      Weighted average diluted shares outstanding   68,600,371  
      Pro forma shares issued for Green Vision acquisition   10,301,824  
      Pro forma shares issued as part of subscription receipts offering   31,034,759  
Pro forma weight average diluted shares outstanding   109,936,954  
     
Diluted pro forma net income per share   $0.03  
 
  



 

Note 6: Foreign exchange translation 
 

(a) The assets and liabilities of Green Vision, which has a EUR reporting and functional currency, are translated at 
the exchange rate of $1.5631 which was in effect as at September 30, 2020.  

 
 

 

Presentation
Green Vision Green Vision conforming Green Vision

Holding B.V. (EUR) Holding B.V. (CAD) adjustments Holding B.V. Adjusted
Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 1,251,926                       1,956,886                       1,956,886                             
Prepayments 496,004                          775,304                          775,304                                
Contract assets 858,811                          1,342,407                       1,342,407                             
Receivables 2,094,146                       3,273,360                       3,273,360                             
Current portion of finance lease receivables 159,334                          249,055                          249,055                                
Inventories 1,535,165                       2,399,616                       2,399,616                             
Other current financial assets 6,422                              10,038                            10,038                                  

6,401,808                       10,006,666                     -                     10,006,666                           

Non-current portion of finance lease receivables 3,503,068                       5,475,646                       5,475,646                             
Right-of-use assets 2,096,418                       3,276,911                       (3,276,911)         -                                            
Property, plant and equipment 15,618,547                     24,413,351                     3,276,911          27,690,262                           
Intangible assets 2,409,146                       3,765,736                       3,765,736                             

30,028,987                     46,938,310                     -                     46,938,310                           

Liabilities
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 1,297,511                       2,028,139                       2,256,111          4,284,250                             
Contract liabilities 537,557                          840,255                          840,255                                
Current portion of long-term debt 394,660                          616,893                          582,127             1,199,020                             
Current portion of lease liabilities 372,418                          582,127                          (582,127)            -                                            
Government grants 1,443,357                       2,256,111                       (2,256,111)         -                                            

4,045,503                       6,323,525                       -                         6,323,525                             

Long-term debt 18,770,045                     29,339,459                     2,803,140          32,142,599                           
Non-current portion of  lease liabilities 1,793,321                       2,803,140                       (2,803,140)         -                                            
Deferred tax liability 231,898                          362,480                          362,480                                

24,840,767                     38,828,604                     -                     38,828,604                           

Shareholders' Equity
Share capital 21,853                            34,158                            34,158                                  
Contributed surplus -                                 -                                  7,226,266          7,226,266                             
Other component of equity 4,623,035                       7,226,266                       (7,226,266)         -                                            
Accumulated other comprehensive income -                                 -                                  21,677               21,677                                  
Cumulative translation adjustment 13,868                            21,677                            (21,677)              -                                            
Retained earnings 529,464                          827,605                          827,605                                

Total Equity 5,188,220                       8,109,706                       -                     8,109,706                             

Total liabilities and equity 30,028,987                     46,938,310                     -                     46,938,310                           

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
(unaudited)

As at September 30, 2020



 

(b) The revenues and expenses of Green Vision, which has a EUR reporting and functional currency, are translated to Canadian dollars at the average exchange rate 
of $1.4856 for the year ended December 31, 2019. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Presentation
Green Vision Green Vision conforming Green Vision

Holding B.V. (EUR) Holding B.V. (CAD) adjustments Holding B.V. Adjusted

Revenue 16,913,602                 16,913,602                           
Revenue from customers with contracts 9,018,337                      13,397,641                    (13,397,641)                -                                        
Government grants 2,366,694                      3,515,961                      (3,515,961)                  -                                        
Cost of goods sold -                                     12,329,338                 12,329,338                           
Gross Margin 11,385,031                    16,913,602                    (12,329,338)                4,584,264                             

Research and development expenses -                                     462,990                      462,990                                
Selling and administrative expenses -                                     379,648                      379,648                                
Direct material costs 5,643,989                      8,384,710                      (8,384,710)                  -                                        
Subcontracting and other external cost 170,087                         252,681                         (252,681)                     -                                        
Salaries and wages temporary workers 1,611,972                      2,394,746                      (2,394,746)                  -                                        
Social security contributions 608,838                         904,490                         (904,490)                     -                                        
Post employment benefit costs (644,595)                        (957,610)                        957,610                      -                                        
Amortization and depreciation 908,940                         1,350,321                      (1,350,321)                  -                                        
Other operating expenses 1,309,321                      1,945,127                      (1,945,127)                  -                                        
Capitalized expense (742,117)                        (1,102,489)                     1,102,489                   -                                        

8,866,435                      13,171,976                    (12,329,338)                842,638                                
Operating Profit 2,518,596                      3,741,626                      -                                  3,741,626                             

Other Charges (income)
Finance expense 965,367                         1,434,149                      1,434,149                             
Finance income (65,401)                          (97,160)                          (97,160)                                 

899,966                         1,336,989                      -                                  1,336,989                             
Profit before tax 1,618,630                      2,404,637                      -                                  2,404,637                             

Income tax expense (recovery) 126,866                         188,472                         188,472                                
Net income (loss) 1,491,764                      2,216,165                      -                                  2,216,165                             

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
(unaudited)

Year ended December 31, 2019



 

(c) The revenues and expenses of Green Vision, which has a EUR reporting and functional currency, are translated to Canadian dollars at the average exchange rate 
of $1.5220 for the nine months ended September 30, 2020. 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Presentation
Green Vision Green Vision conforming Green Vision

Holding B.V. (EUR) Holding B.V. (CAD) adjustments Holding B.V. Adjusted

Revenue 6,488,508               6,488,508                             
Revenue from customers with contracts 2,345,525                 3,569,889                       (3,569,889)              -                                        
Government grants 1,917,621                 2,918,619                       (2,918,619)              -                                        
Cost of goods sold 5,976,879               5,976,879                             
Gross Margin 4,263,146                 6,488,508                       (5,976,879)              511,629                                

Research and development expenses 182,978                  182,978                                
Selling and administrative expenses 247,139                  247,139                                
Direct material costs 1,358,467                 2,067,587                       (2,067,587)              -                                        
Subcontracting and other external cost 171,726                    261,367                          (261,367)                 -                                        
Salaries and wages temporary workers, less WBSO wage subsidy 695,584                    1,058,679                       (1,058,679)              -                                        
Social security contributions 545,428                    830,141                          (830,141)                 -                                        
Post employment benefit costs 194,831                    296,533                          (296,533)                 -                                        
Amortization and depreciation 960,954                    1,462,572                       (1,462,572)              -                                        
Other operating expenses 934,267                    1,421,954                       (1,421,954)              -                                        
Capitalized expense (651,667)                   (991,837)                         991,837                  -                                        

4,209,590                 6,406,996                       (5,976,879)              430,117                                
Operating income (loss) 53,556                      81,512                            -                              81,512                                  

Other Charges (income)
Finance expense 1,248,296                 1,899,907                       1,899,907                             
Finance income (91,107)                     (138,665)                         (138,665)                               

1,157,189                 1,761,242                       -                              1,761,242                             
Profit before tax (1,103,633)                (1,679,730)                      -                              (1,679,730)                            

Income tax expense (recovery) (6,802)                       (10,353)                           (10,353)                                 
Net income (loss) (1,096,831)                (1,669,377)                      -                              (1,669,377)                            

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
(unaudited)

Nine month period ended September 30, 2020
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